THE UNIVERSITY OF CHICAGO

THE ROLE OF TUMOR-ASSOCIATED LYMPHATICS IN MODULATING RESPONSIVENESS TO CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPIES IN TRIPLE-NEGATIVE BREAST CANCER

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE PRITZKER SCHOOL OF MOLECULAR ENGINEERING IN CANDIDACY FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

PEYMAN HOSSEINCHIGHAREHAGHAJ

CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

JUNE 2021

Copyright © by Peyman Hosseinchi

All rights reserved

I dedicate this dissertation to my family, who have supported me throughout my academic journey. Being away from home and not seeing you for the past 6 years was one of the most difficult experiences in my life and it would not have been bearable without your love.

I am forever indebted to you and I look forward to the bright days before us!

List of figuresviii
Acknowledgementsx
Abstract xii
Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1 Abstract2
1.2 Lymphatic vessels
1.3 Breast Cancer
1.4 Anti-tumor immunity6
1.4.1 Dendritic cells (DCs)7
1.4.2 Macrophages
1.4.3 Neutrophils9
1.4.4 T cells
1.5 Cancer immunotherapies12
1.5.1 Checkpoint inhibitors
1.5.2 Innate immunity agonists
1.5.3 Cancer vaccines
1.5.4 Adoptive T cell transfer therapies
1.6 Hypothesis and objectives18
1.6.1 To evaluate if tumor lymphangiogenesis in murine mammary tumors increases responsiveness to
immunotherapies
1.6.2 To identify if the expression of VEGF-C correlates with gene signatures of immune cells in human
breast cancer
1.7 References

TABLE OF CONTENTS

mammary tumors	
2.1 Abstract	
2.2 Introduction	
2.2.1 Lymphangiogenesis	
2.2.2 Cancer immunotherapies in TNBC	
2.2.3 Role of tumor-associated lymphatics in anti-tumor immunity	
2.2. Materials and Methods	41
2.2.1 Mice	41
2.2.2 Genotyping	41
2.2.3 Cell lines	41
2.2.4 Plasmid DNA amplification and purification	41
2.2.5 Production of lentiviral vectors	42
2.2.6 Transduction and selection of murine breast cancer cell lines	42
2.2.7 Tumor inoculation and measurements	
2.2.8 Immunotherapies	
2.2.9 Depletion and blocking antibodies	
2.2.10 Production and purification of A3-VEGF-C (A3-VC)	44
2.2.11 Characterization and administration of A3-VC	45
2.2.12 Tissue digestion	46
2.2.13 Flow cytometry	47
2.2.14 Intratumoral cytokine-producing T cells	
2.2.15 Antigen-specific re-stimulation	
2.2.16 Immunofluorescence staining	
2.2.17 Intratumoral cytokine/chemokine analysis	49
2.2.18 Quantification of metastatic nodules	
2.2.19 Statistical analysis	

Chapter 2: Effect of tumor lymphangiogenesis on cancer immunotherapies in murine

.3 Results	5
2.3.1 Tumor lymphangiogenesis increases immune infiltration into triple-negative mammary tumors	5
2.3.2 Lymphangiogenic triple-negative mammary tumors respond more favorably to cancer immunothera	ipies
2.3.3 Tumor lymphangiogenesis increases conv CD4 ⁺ T cell and cross-presenting dendritic cell infiltratio	5 on
into the tumor microenvironment after immunotherapy treatment	5
2.3.4 Treatment with immunotherapy repolarizes the TME in lymphangiogenic mammary tumors from a	n
immunosuppressive state into an immunogenic one	62
2.3.5 Treatment with immunotherapy leads to enrichment of IFN γ^+ CD8 ⁺ T cells in lymphangiogenic	
mammary tumors	64
2.3.6 Combination therapy synergizes with lymphangiogenic potentiation to induce a systemic antigen-	
specific response and overcome spontaneous lung metastasis	60
2.3.7 The improved efficacy of immunotherapies in lymphangiogenic tumors is mediated by CD4 ⁺ T cell	s and
macrophages	7(
2.3.8 STING agonist treatment does not synergize with TGF- β blocking in 4T1 triple-negative mammary	r
tumors	7
2.3.9 Over-expression of VEGF-C does not potentiate responsiveness to immunotherapies in a HER2 ⁺	
mammary carcinoma model	74
2.3.10 Tumor lymphangiogenesis renders E0771 triple-negative mammary tumors more immunogenic in	the
absence of immunotherapies in a leukocyte-dependent manner	70
4 Discussion	81
5 Appendix	87
.6 References	9(
inter 3. The relation between tumor lymphangiogenesis and immune gene signatures i	и
pier 5. The relation between tumor tymphangtogenesis and immane gene signatures t	10
1an breast cancer	.103
1 Abstract	104

3.2 Introduction
3.2.1 Biomarkers for patient stratification in breast cancer105
3.2.2 VEGF-C as a biomarker in cancer106
3.3 Materials and methods108
3.4 Results109
3.4.1 VEGF-C expression level in human TNBC tumors leads to distinctive gene expression profile among
patients
3.4.2 Expression of CD4 and macrophage-associated genes positively correlate with lymphatic score in TNBC
tumors
3.5 Discussion116
3.6 References
Chapter 4: Discussion
4.1 Summary and impact126
4.2 Future directions129
4.3 References

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Transport of macromolecules and leukocytes through lymphatic capillaries and
collecting vessels
Figure 1.2. The different stages of the cancer-immunity cycle
Figure 1.3. Different immunotherapeutic strategies to overcome immune evasion
Figure 2.1. Molecular overview of lymphangiogenesis
Figure 2.2. Tumor-associated lymphatics and their involvement in metastasis
Figure 2.3. Over-expression of VEGF-C in triple-negative mammary tumors induces tumor
lymphangiogenesis
Figure 2.4. Lymphangiogenic triple-negative mammary tumors are enriched with
immunosuppressive macrophages and CD4 ⁺ T cells
Figure 2.5. Lymphangiogenic triple-negative mammary tumors have higher percentages of
naïve T cells
Figure 2.6. Induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis improves responsiveness of triple-
negative mammary tumors to CPI and STING agonist treatment
Figure 2.7. Lymphangiogenic tumors have higher tumor infiltration of CD4 ⁺ T cells and
dendritic cells after STING agonist treatment
Figure 2.8. Lymphangiogenic tumors have higher tumor infiltration of CD4 ⁺ T cells and
cross-presenting CD103 ⁺ dendritic cells after CPI treatment
Figure 2.9. Induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis in triple-negative mammary tumors
alters the chemokine expression profile in the tumor microenvironment after
immunotherapy
Figure 2.10. Lymphangiogenic mammary tumors have higher percentage of IFNy-
expressing CD8 ⁺ T cells upon treatment with immunotherapy.
Figure 2.11. Tumor lymphangiogenesis synergizes with CPI and STING agonist
combination therapy, leading to prolonged survival and delayed spontaneous lung
metastasis
Figure 2.12 Treatment of lymphangiogenic mammary tumors with immunotherapy induces
a systemic antigen-specific immune response and increases immune infiltrates in the
metastatic lesions
Figure 2.13. Lymphangiogenic potentiation in triple-negative mammary tumors is
dependent on CD4 T cells and macrophages
Figure 2.14. Blocking of TGF-B does not improve the responsiveness of 4T1 mammary
tumors to STING agonist treatment.
Figure 2.15. Tumor Lymphangiogenesis does not improve the responsiveness of PvMT
mammary tumors to immunotheranies.
Figure 2.16. The complete remission of lymphangiogenic E0771 triple-negative mammary
tumors in the absence of treatment is abrogated in Rag1 KO mice. 77
Figure 2.17. Treatment with A3-VC does not render E0771 tumor-bearing mice more
responsive to CPI therapy compared to control-treated mice. 79
Figure 2.18. A3-VC treatment does not alter the tumor immune infiltrates in E0771 tumor-
bearing mice. 80
Figure 2.S1. Representative gating strategy for identifying myeloid cells in the 4T1 tumor
microenvironment. 87

Figure 2.S2. Representative gating strategy for identifying T cells in the 4T1 tumor microenvironment.	.88
Figure 2.S3. Assessment of circulating immune cells in the blood of 4T1 tumor-bearing mice after administration of depleting antibodies.	.89
Figure 3.1. Principal component analysis of human TNBC tumors based on VEGF-C expression reveals a distinct gene signature.	111
Figure 3.2. Expression of VEGF-C positively correlates with CD4 and macrophage gene expression in human TNBC tumors.	114
Figure 3.3. Correlations of intratumoral VEGF-C expression with the expression of T cel and macrophage genes amongst different breast cancer molecular subtypes	II 115
Figure 4.1. The effects of lymphangiogenesis on the immune infiltration in the tumor microenvironment and reduction of distant organ metastasis upon immunotherapy	
treatment	128

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to all the people who have helped me during my journey as a graduate student. Specifically, I would like to thank:

Melody Swartz: I still remember our first conversation over Skype over 6 years ago! I am grateful for your patience and mentorship during these past years. I know I haven't been the easiest graduate student you've ever supervised, but I want you to know that I appreciate your emotional support during the difficult periods (especially the political ones!), the freedom you gave me in pursuing the research I found most intriguing and allowing me to explore various career development opportunities.

Jeffrey Hubbell: Thank you for your comments on my research during these years and also for allowing me to collaborate on various research projects in your lab. The team spirit in these collaborative efforts definitely enriched my experience as a Ph.D. student.

Marisa Alegre: I learnt the fundamentals of the science needed to undertake this research by auditing your "Intro to Immunology" class and I am grateful to you for exposing me to the beautiful and complex world of immunology! I always found our conversations very insightful and I want to thank you for your feedback on my research and taking the time to read this dissertation.

Lambert Charles François Potin: Is it you?! Your dedication to your work is inspirational! I might not have been writing this thesis if it wasn't for your mentorship in the early years of my time in the lab. More importantly, I am grateful for our friendship and the memories we shared having coffee breaks, eating deep dish on sac days and going to Polsky happy hours, to name a few. Looking forward to celebrating together Rafa cementing his status as the GOAT.

Aslan Mansurov: Thank you for being such a delightful collaborator in the lab and a great friend outside! Working together for the past few years made it much easier to go through the tough times

in the lab. I will always cherish our memories working "for US", together with our time playing tennis and having late-night kababs.

Nick Mitrousis: It was so nice to have someone "too friendly" as our labmate. Thank you for being there whenever I needed a true friend. I will miss hanging out at Bonjour and swimming at The Point, but hope we can get a coffee soon!

Léa Maillat: Thank you for being a dependable friend and colleague I could count on from the day I joined the lab. See you in Switzerland!

Jun Ishihara: I am grateful for the opportunity of collaborating with you on so many different projects, and for being introduced to Japanese BBQ!

I also want to thank all my friends in the lab over all these years, in particular **Rachel**, **Shann**, **Julien**, **Arnaud**, **Elyse**, **Lucio and Luis**, who made the experience of graduate school more fun!

I also want to thank **Renata Mezyk-Kopec** and **Witek Kilarski**, who helped with my training when I started in the lab.

Last but not least, I am grateful to my dad **Hossein** and my brother **Parham** for their support all throughout my life, even when there was a physical distance between us. I would not able to be where I am today without your unconditional love. I cannot wait to see you again and embrace you in my arms! I also want to thank my partner, **Sofia**, whose support made writing this dissertation possible during a pandemic. You have brought so much joy to my life!

ABSTRACT

Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) has a higher relapse rate and fewer treatment options compared to other molecular subtypes of breast cancer. Cancer immunotherapies are currently being investigated as a new treatment modality in TNBC to improve survival rates. However, a significant subset of patients still does not respond to these therapies. A better understanding of the tumor microenvironment in breast cancer is needed to identify new biomarkers to stratify patients who would benefit from cancer immunotherapies. As a critical component of the immune system, the lymphatics have been shown to regulate anti-tumor immune responses in multiple tumor types, including in melanoma and glioblastoma. Here, I investigated the role of tumor lymphangiogenesis - the process of lymphatic vessel remodeling and expansion - in shaping antitumor immunity in breast cancer. In order to model tumor lymphangiogenesis in vivo, we transduced murine models of triple-negative mammary carcinoma to over-express the prolymphangiogenic vascular endothelial growth factor-C (VEGF-C). We show that tumor lymphangiogenesis increases recruitment of CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages into the tumor microenvironment. Upon treatment with cancer immunotherapies, namely checkpoint inhibitors (CPI) and an agonist of Stimulator of Interferon Genes (STING) pathway, lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors demonstrate improved responsiveness to the treatment and prolonged survival. The increase in the levels of various chemokines after immunotherapy treatment leads to recruitment of various immune cells, including cross-presenting dendritic cells (DCs) and interferon- γ (IFN γ) secreting CD8⁺ T cells. Furthermore, after treatment with a combination of CPI and STING agonist, the potent systemic anti-tumor immunity in the lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumor-bearing mice reduces the spontaneous lung metastasis in 4T1 tumor-bearing mice. The beneficial effect of tumor lymphangiogenesis is dependent on CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages, as their depletion abrogates

the observed phenotype. Consistent with the murine studies, expression of VEGF-C positively correlates with CD4 and macrophage gene expressions in human triple-negative breast tumors. These results reveal that tumor lymphangiogenesis improves responsiveness to cancer immunotherapies in mice and suggests that patients with increased tumor lymphatics may further benefit from these therapies.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Abstract

Cancer immunotherapies have revolutionized cancer treatment in the last two decades. Despite their success across multiple cancer types, they have had limited efficacy in certain nonimmunogenic cancers, including breast cancer. Lymphatic vessels connect peripheral tissues to lymph nodes and have been known to be crucial in shaping immune responses. However, their role in anti-tumor immunity has not been explored until recently. In this chapter, I give an overview of the lymphatic system and breast cancer together with the limitations of cancer immunotherapies, specifically in breast cancer patients.

1.2 Lymphatic vessels

The network of lymphatic vessels is mainly known to be responsible for draining the interstitial fluid and returning it to the bloodstream through the lymph nodes and thoracic duct, thus completing the circulation system [1]. Moreover, lymphatic vessels transport small molecules (such as proteins and exosomes) and immune cells to the lymph nodes where the adaptive immune response is mounted [2]. The initial lymphatics in the periphery, lined by lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs), drain the interstitial fluid and transport it to the lymph nodes after converging into collecting lymphatics [1, 2] (**Fig 1.1**). The unidirectional valves and smooth muscles in the walls of collecting lymphatics allow the drained fluid, termed lymph, to be pumped by afferent lymphatics into the lymph node. After the surveillance of the antigens in the lymph by the leukocytes, the lymph carrying the activated lymphocytes exits the lymph node through efferent lymphatics and joins the circulation where the cells enter peripheral tissues to patrol for their cognate antigens [2].



Figure 1.1. Transport of macromolecules and leukocytes through lymphatic capillaries and collecting vessels. The interstitial fluid is drained from the interstitial space by the lymphatic capillaries. The muscle layer around the collecting lymphatic vessels allows them to contract and unidirectionally drain the lymph to the lymph node. The lymph contains different macromolecules and cells including secreted proteins, CD4+ T cells and IgGs. Adapted from Randolph et al. [2].

1.3 Breast Cancer

Breast cancer is the second most common cancer among women in the US and will be diagnosed in 12% of all women in the US over their lifetime [3]. Physical examination, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), ultrasound and mammography of the breast and biopsy of the lymph nodes are the diagnostic techniques used for diagnosis and staging of breast enacer. At the time of diagnosis, more than 60% of breast cancers are confined to the breast, while about 30% have spread to the draining lymph nodes and the rest are metastatic [3]. Based on the histology diagnosis, most common breast cancers are invasive ductal carcinoma and invasive lobular carcinoma [4]. On the molecular level, there are three major breast cancer subtypes, namely hormone receptor positive (HR^+) (70%), human epidermal growth factor 2 positive (HER2⁺) (15%) and the triple-negative subtype (15%), which lacks the over-expression of the estrogen receptor (ER), progestrone receptor (PR) and HER2 [3]. Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) is more common in youger women and women of color, whereas HR⁺ breast cancer is more prevalent amongst older women [5]. The standard-of-care for non-metastatic breast cancer is surgical resection of the tumor and biopsy of sentinal lymph nodes with possible adjuvant radiotherapy [3]. However, local therapies in metastatic breast cancer are used mostly as a palliative strategy. The adjuvant or neoadjuvant systemic therapy in both metastatic and non-metastatic breast cancer depends on the molecular subtype, as described below.

Estrogen receptor is a steroid hormone receptor that upon binding of estrogen leads to activation of growth pathways, thus promoting growth of tumor cells when over-expressed on breast cancer cells [3]. Progestrone receptor signaling also induces the expression of mutual transcription factors with the ER signaling pathway [6]. Endocrine treatment, which inhibits estrogen signaling, is the primary systemic therapy for hormone receptor positive breast cancer [3]. As an estrogen inhibitor, tamoxifen is effective in pre- and postmenopausal women. However, aromatase inhibitors, which inhibit conversion of androgens to estrogen, are only effective in postmenopausal women [6]. Longer-term studies have shown that a longer 10-year course of treatment, compared to the standard 5-year regimen, with either tamoxifen or aromatase inhibitors provides small improvement in clinical outcome, but increases toxicity and adverse events [7, 8]. Moreover, another trial demonstrated that a 5-year regimen of tamoxifen followed by a 5-year course of aromatase inhibitors reduces the risk of breast cancer recurrance by 40% [9]. In HER2⁺ breast cancer patients, anti-HER2 antibodies and small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors in combination with chemotherapy are the standard systemic treatment regimen.

Compared with other subtypes, TNBC has the most limited treatment options and a higher rate of visceral metastasis, involving the brain and lungs [10]. Chemotherapy is the current standard-of-care for treatment of non-metastatic TNBC patients, with a pathologic complete response (pCR) of about 30% in the neoadjuvant setting [11, 12]. Based on mutations in DNA damage repair mechanisms in some TNBC tumors [13], DNA-crosslinking platinum chemotherapies are currently under investigation in clinical trials in TNBC [14, 15]. Compared to other breast cancer subtypes, TNBC has a higher replase rate in the first 3 to 5 years post-diagnosis [16]. Historic data shows that stage IV (distant metastatic disease) TNBC has a median overall survival of only 1 year, compared to 5 years for stage IV HER2⁺ or HR⁺ breast cancer [17]. Due to the substantial portion of metastatic TNBC patients that fail to respond to chemotherapy there is a critical need to improve and expand treatment regimens for TNBC patients.

1.4 Anti-tumor immunity

During cancer development, the genetic instability of cancer cells leads to expression of neoantigens which are then presented through binding to major histocompatibility complex class I (MHCI) molecules expressed on cancer cells and antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and recognized by T cells in the immune system [18]. Elimination of cancer cells by the immune system requires occurrence of a series of events termed cancer-immunity cycle [19] (Fig. 1.2). In brief, first the neoantigens expressed by cancer cells are taken up by professional APCs such as dendritic cells (DCs) in the presence of proinflammatory signals in the tumor microenvironment (TME). Next, APCs traffic to the draining lymph nodes and present the antigens on MHCI or MHCII molecules to T lymphocytes and activate them by expression of co-stimulatory molecules. Then, effector T cells exit the lymph nodes through efferent lymphatics and traffic to the TME by using the blood vasculature. In the TME, the antigen-specific T cells recognize the cancer cells by binding of their T cell receptors (TCRs) to the MHC-peptide complexes and kill the cell through secretion of cytolytic molecules. However, as the tumor grows and mutates, cancer cells evolve mechanisms to evade or dampen the anti-tumor immunity [20]. Downregulation of MHC molecules, antigen processing machinery, alteration in interferon-y (IFN-y) signaling, disruption of T cell infiltration and up-regulation of inhibitory molecules, such as programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1), are amongst these strategies [20].



Figure 1.2. The different stages of the cancer-immunity cycle. Anti-tumor immunity against cancer cells is generated through propagation of the different stages of cancer-immunity cycle, as depicted here. Adapted from Chen & Mellman [19].

Various immune cells are involved in mediating the recognition and elimination of cancer

cells. Here, I will briefly describe the role of some of these cell types in anti-tumor immunity.

1.4.1 Dendritic cells (DCs)

DCs, as one of the professional APC cell types, are critical in generation of antigen-specific immunity in different pathological conditions, including viral infections and cancer [21]. They present both endogenous and exogenous antigens to CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells by loading them onto MHC class I and II molecules, which depending on the immunomodulatory signals can lead to

immunity or tolerance [22]. These immunomodulatory signals are determined by sensing the environmental cues using various receptors, including cytokine receptors and pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs), which recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damageassociated molecular patterns (DAMPs) [23]. Upon detection of the environmental cues, DCs express co-stimulatory molecules, including CD80 and CD86, and various cytokines, such as IL-12 and IL-10 to dictate T cell phenotypes [24, 25]. DCs are also an important source of chemokines in the TME [21]. Various DC subsets exist in mice and humans with specific roles in anti-tumor immunity [22, 26]. The two major DC subsets in mice are conventional DCs (cDCs) and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) [21]. cDCs are derived from common DC precursors in the bone marrow and differentiate into two major categories of cDC1s, which includes resident CD8 α^+ DCs and migratory CD103⁺ DCs, and CD11b⁺ cDC2s [27]. It has been shown that cDC1s are potent inducers of immunity against intracellular pathogens and cancer cells due to their superior capability in cross-presenting exogenous antigens and priming CD8⁺ T cells [27-29]. They are also the main producers of CXC-chemokine ligand 9 (CXCL9) and CXCL10 in the TME, which recruit effector CD8⁺ T cells [30]. cDC2s on the other hand, have been demonstrated to be critical in priming CD4⁺ T cells for anti-tumor immunity [31].

1.4.2 Macrophages

Tissue-associated macrophages (TAMs) are mostly differentiated from circulating monocytic precursors that are recruited to the TME both in the primary tumor and metastatic site [32, 33]. Ly6C⁺CCR2⁺ inflammatory monocytes have been shown to promote TAM accumulation in the TME [34] and distant organ metastasis in breast cancer [33]. However, a "non-classical" subset of monocytes, which patrol the lung tissue in healthy conditions, were demonstrated to inhibit lung metastases by recruitment and activation of natural killer (NK) cells [35]. Moreover,

recent evidence suggests that a proportion of tissue-resident macrophages in certain tissues are derived from precursors seeded during fetal and embryonic development [36]. TAMs are classically divided into pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages and anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages [37]. M1 macrophages are driven by IFNy and IL-12 signaling, produced during type I immune responses, and mediate tumor cell killing [38]. However, type II associated cytokines, such as IL-4 and IL-13, induce M2 macrophages that are involved in tissue repair and immunity against parasites [39]. M2 macrophages have been shown to suppress T cell responses through different mechanisms, including metabolizing L-arginine through expression of arginase [40], which is essential for T cell anti-tumor activity [41]. Various chemokines and cytokines are involved in the recruitment and differentiation of TAMs. For instance, colony-stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1) attracts monocytes, provides survival signals for CSF1R⁺ macrophages and promotes differentiation of M2 macrophages [42], whereas granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) drives M1 differentiation [39]. Even though TAMs have traditionally been associated with adverse patient prognosis across various malignancies [43], recent evidence suggests that TAMs can play an inhibitory role on tumor growth rate, depending on the TME, disease stage and the involved tissue [38].

1.4.3 Neutrophils

Neutrophils are one of the major circulating leukocytes and among the first cells being recruited to inflammation sites and provide immunity against pathogens through phagocytosis and deposition of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) [44, 45]. In various cancer types, high levels of tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs) have been associated with poor prognosis [46]. For instance, levels of circulating neutrophils and neutrophil-to-leukocyte ratio have been correlated with worse clinical outcome to cancer immunotherapies [47]. Moreover, NETs have been shown

to promote tumor growth and metastasis in colorectal cancer patients [48, 49], and their inhibition with DNase I-coated particles has been demonstrated to reduce metastasis in the 4T1 triplenegative breast cancer model [50]. In support of their possible anti-tumorigenic roles, TANs have been demonstrated to promote CD8⁺ T cell responses and improve survival in colorectal cancer patients [51]. Moreover, in the context of radiotherapy, TANs have been shown to promote the induced anti-tumor immunity [52]. TANs are mostly recruited to the TME through CXC chemokine receptor 2 (CXCR2) signaling by its ligands, namely CXCL1, CXCL2 and CXCL5 [53]. Similarly to macrophages, neutrophils have also been proposed to have two subpopulations, namely the anti-tumorigenic N1 TANs and pro-tumorigenic N2 TANs, despite lack of clear markers to identify them [54]. Transforming growth factor- β , secreted by cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) and macrophages, has been shown to promote recruitment and differentiation of N2 TANs [55].

1.4.4 T cells

T lymphocytes are the main effector cells of the adaptive immunity arm in anti-tumor immune responses. High levels of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) have been correlated with improved survival and better prognosis in various malignancies [56]. The elimination of cancer cells recognized by T cells during tumor progression leads to growth of less immunogenic cancer cells, a processed termed immune-editing [57]. Naïve CD8⁺ T cells are educated by professional APC and the resulting activated cells induce apoptosis in cancer cells once they recognize their cognate antigen presented on MHCI molecules [58]. Apoptosis is induced by ligation of death receptors on cancer cells, through Fas ligand (FasL) or TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL), or through secretion of cytolytic molecules, such as perforin and granzymes [58]. In order to maintain tolerance and prevent unwanted damage to self, effector T cells have evolved to express inhibitory molecules such as CTLA-4, PD-1, TIM3 and LAG-3, activation of which induces exhaustion and anergy [59]. These molecules are over-expressed upon activation of T cells and cancer cells hijack these "checkpoint" mechanisms to evade the anti-tumor immunity [60, 61].

Upon antigen presentation, naïve CD4⁺ T cells differentiate into various subsets, including T helper type I (T_H1) cells, T_H2, T_H9, T_H17, T_{FH} and T_{reg} cells [62]. Higher levels of T_H1 cells correlate with better clinical outcome in colorectal cancer [63] and breast cancer [64]. Notably, T_H1 cells were shown to correlate with responsiveness to anti-PD-1 therapy in melanoma [31].T_H1 cells have been shown to mediate tumor cell killing directly through secretion of IFN γ [31, 65] and improve the CD8⁺ T cell response against cancer cells [66]. T_H2 cells, however, are generally considered pro-tumorigenic and promote tumor growth by production of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 cytokines [67]. The role of T_H17 cells in anti-tumor immunity is ambiguous and current evidence suggests they can have both pro-tumorigenic and anti-tumorigenic effects depending on the TME and cancer type [68, 69]. T_{reg} cells mediate antigen-specific tolerance and can dampen anti-tumor immunity, although recent evidence suggests they play an ambiguous role in tumor progression [70]. Finally, T_H9 cells, as a possible new subset of CD4⁺ T cells [71], have been demonstrated to improve anti-tumor immunity and mediate cytolytic activity against cancer cells through secretion of granzymes.

1.5 Cancer immunotherapies

Cancer immunotherapies seek to eradicate the tumor cells by boosting the anti-tumor immunity or overcoming the immune-suppressive mechanisms in the tumor microenvironment (TME) that inhibit the cancer immunity cycle. Upon treatment, the cytotoxic cells in the body's immune system or adoptively transferred cells, including adoptively transferred T cells, recognize and eliminate the cancer cells [72]. Cancer immunotherapies, either as monotherapy or in combination with other treatment modalities, have revolutionized the clinical practice of cancer treatment for more than a decade [73] (Fig. 1.3). However, most of this success has been in cancer types with more immunogenic tumors, such as melanoma and microsatellite instable cancers [74]. Currently approved immunotherapies have had limited success in non-immunogenic tumors with low T cells infiltrations, such as breast cancer patients [73]. Moreover, even among the immunogenic cancer types, only a subset of patients responds to therapies such as checkpoint inhibitors (CPI) [75], thus emphasizing the importance of identifying new biomarkers to stratify breast cancer patients before treatment. This underscores the need to better understand the interplay between different cell types in the breast tumor microenvironment and the anti-tumor immunity in order to improve responsiveness to immunotherapies. There are various cancer immunotherapies that are FDA approved or currently under clinical development. Here, I describe some of the most important classes of these therapies:



Figure 1.3. Different immunotherapeutic strategies to overcome immune evasion. These immunotherapies include checkpoint blockade inhibition, agents to alter the TME, cancer vaccines and adoptive cell therapies. Adapted from Dougan et al. [76].

1.5.1 Checkpoint inhibitors

T cells have evolved with negative regulators as "checkpoints" to dampen their activity to avoid self-damage due to hyperactivity. The two most potent of these mechanisms are mediated through the cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein-4 (CTLA-4) and programmed cell death-1 (PD-1) molecules [77], which are also critical in establishing central tolerance and preventing autoimmunity in peripheral tissues [78]. CTLA-4 was discovered as a receptor with structural similarity with CD28 and higher avidity for its ligands [79], the co-stimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 [80]. Activation of conventional T cells induces CTLA-4 expression, whereas T_{reg} cells express it constitutively [72]. CTLA-4 regulates T activation through various mechanisms, including directly antagonizing CD80 and CD86 expressed on professional APCs and preventing their binding to CD28 [81]. It was demonstrated in murine tumor models that blocking CTLA-4 with neutralizing antibodies promotes antitumor immunity with a long-term memory response [82]. Following the evidence from clinical trials that treatment with monoclonal anti-CTLA-4 antibody ipilimumab improves survival in melanoma [83], it gained FDA approval for non-resectable late-stage melanoma patients in 2011 [84].

PD-1, identified as a new member of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily in 1992 [85], is expressed on T cells after activation and dampens their activity upon binding to its ligands, PD-L1 and PD-L2, which are expressed on APCs and can be upregulated on other cells types by proinflammatory cytokines [86, 87]. Studies in PD-1 knockout (KO) and CTLA-4 KO mice demonstrated distinct spatial and temporal roles for these two receptors in inducing tolerance and regulating auto-immunity [78]. Once PD-1 engages its ligands, it leads to T cell exhaustion or induction of apoptosis [88]. Cancer cells hijack this mechanism and evade the anti-tumor T cell response by inducing expression of PD-L1 or PD-L2 [89]. Clinically, expression of PD-1 on TILs, or its ligands on tumor cells, has been correlated with poor prognosis in multiple malignancies [90-92]. These studies encouraged the assessment of inhibition of PD-1 pathway for cancer treatment. In preclinical murine cancer models, neutralizing PD-1 using monoclonal antibodies demonstrated enhanced anti-tumor T cells responses [93, 94] and reduction of metastatic burden [95]. In clinical trials, humanized anti-PD-1 antibodies pembrolizumab and nivolumab exhibited marked improvement in anti-tumor immunity and patient survival, which led to their FDA approval in 2014 for refractory and resectable melanoma [96, 97]. Success in further clinical trials has culminated in the FDA approval of both anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies for various other indications, including head-and-neck squamous cell carcinoma [98], advanced non-small-cell lung cancer [99, 100], advanced renal cell carcinoma [101]. Notably, patients treated with anti-PD-1 antibodies experience less sever immune-related adverse events compared to anti-CTLA-4 treated patients [102].

1.5.2 Innate immunity agonists

The prerequisite of a robust innate immunity response for adaptive anti-tumor responses has encouraged the exploration of innate immunity agonists as monotherapies or in combination with other immunotherapies, such as checkpoint inhibitors [103, 104]. DCs, as the main professional APC in the TME, have been targeted using various strategies to boost antigen presentation and subsequent T cell activation and infiltration [104]. One strategy is to induce expression of type I interferons (IFNs) in DCs, which promote cross-presentation of tumorantigens and are required for CD8⁺ T cell responses [105, 106], by activating toll-like receptors (TLRs). Multiple TLR agonists, including TLR9, TLR3 and TLR7/8, are in clinical trials for different cancer types [104]. Activation of the stimulator of interferon genes (STING) pathway, which detects cytosolic DNA, is another approach for induction of type I IFNs. The STING pathway has been shown to be critical in induction of anti-tumor CD8⁺ T cell responses [107], and the anti-tumor efficacy of various human STING agonists is currently being evaluated in clinical trials [108, 109].

1.5.3 Cancer vaccines

Cancer vaccines aim to eliminate cancer cells by mounting an immune response against tumor-specific antigens. Prophylactic vaccines have proved to be successful in preventing hepatocellular and cervical cancers by targeting the oncogenic viruses hepatitis B and human papillomavirus, respectively [110]. On the other hand, therapeutic vaccines for elimination of already proliferating cancer cells are further behind in development due to several challenges. Early studies in pre-clinical melanoma models demonstrated anti-tumor efficacy of autologous tumor cells, when virally infected with Newcastle disease [111, 112], and various other autologous tumor vaccines are currently in late-stage clinical trials [110]. However, this approach faces numerous obstacles, including the challenge of isolating patient-derived tumor cells in multiple cancers [110]. These limitations, in addition to the advent of next-generation sequencing, drove the development of personalized cancer vaccines. In this approach, the patient's tumor DNA is sequenced and algorithms are used to predict tumor neoantigen that would elicit immune responses when presented on the patient's MHC alleles [72]. The use of tumor-derived neoantigens in personalized vaccines compared to tumor-associated antigens, which are expressed at lower levels in normal tissues, reduces the chance of auto-immune related toxicities [72]. Even though personalized cancer vaccines have demonstrated promising results in early clinical trials [113, 114], challenges such as the genomic instability in cancer cells, computational limitations and production timeline remain before their clinical adoption [115].

1.5.4 Adoptive T cell transfer therapies

The first studies assessing the clinical benefit of adoptive transfer therapies for cancer treatment demonstrated that transplantation of patient-derived leukocytes and allogeneic hematopoietic stem cells resulted in tumor regression [116, 117]. These studies led to the investigation of transfer of expanded autologous or allogeneic TILs with IL-2 in melanoma patients, which showed modest response rates [118], with some patients experiencing complete remission of their tumors when undergoing lymphodepletion prior to the treatment [119].

However, expansion of antigen-specific TILs *ex vivo* proved to be challenging and inspired the development of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells [72]. One of the advantages of CAR T cells is that they are not restricted by MHC presentation of tumor antigens, which tumor cells downregulate [120], and bind directly to their target antigens on cancer cells. CAR T cells are generated by genetically engineering autologous or allogeneic T cells isolated from the patient to express a fusion protein made of the antigen-binding domain of the variable regions of an antibody and the signaling domains of the TCR [72]. Due to limited efficacy of this design in clinical trials [121], newer generation of CARs included co-stimulatory domains, such as CD28 or 4-1BB, to enhance T cell activation and proliferation [122, 123]. CARs T cells have demonstrated significant clinical benefit in the treatment of several B cell malignancies [124-126] and were approved by the FDA in 2017. One of the main drawbacks of the current CAR T cells, for instance CD19 in B cell lymphoma, which allows for a greater chance for cancer cells to evade the CARs by mutations in the target antigen [72].

1.6 Hypothesis and objectives

In this thesis, I investigated how tumor lymphangiogenesis affects the anti-tumor immunity when treating mammary tumors with cancer immunotherapies. This can lead to a better understanding of the tumor microenvironment and inform future decisions when selecting breast cancer patients for treatment with immunotherapies. The overall hypothesis of this thesis is that: "Tumor lymphangiogenesis improves responsiveness to immunotherapies in triple-negative breast cancer".

In order to test this hypothesis, my thesis was divided into the following two objectives:

1.6.1 To evaluate if tumor lymphangiogenesis in murine mammary tumors increases responsiveness to immunotherapies

In this section, in order to model tumor lymphangiogenesis *in vivo*, I transduced murine cell lines of triple-negative mammary carcinoma to over-express the pro-lymphangiogeneic vascular endothelial growth factor-C (VEGF-C). I demonstrated that tumor lymphangiogenesis increases recruitment of CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages into the tumor microenvironment of 4T1 triple-negative tumors. Upon treatment with cancer immunotherapies, namely checkpoint inhibitors (CPI) and an agonist of Stimulator of Interferon Genes (STING) pathway, lymphangiogenic E0771 and 4T1 tumors exhibited improved responsiveness to the treatment and mice showed prolonged survival. Furthermore, after treatment with a combination of CPI and STING agonist, the potent systemic anti-tumor immunity in the lymphangiogenic tumors reduced the spontaneous lung metastasis in 4T1 tumor-bearing mice. The beneficial effect of tumor lymphangiogenesis was dependent on CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages, as their depletion abrogated the observed phenotype.

1.6.2 To identify if the expression of VEGF-C correlates with gene signatures of immune cells in human breast cancer

To validate the translational relevance of my findings, using The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) dataset, I showed that in human triple-negative breast cancer expression of VEGF-C positively correlates with CD4 and CD68 gene expression in the tumor. These results reveal that tumor lymphangiogenesis has the potential to improve responsiveness to cancer immunotherapies due to the enrichment of the TME by immune cells such as macrophages and T cells.

1.7 References

- 1. Moore, J.E., Jr. and C.D. Bertram, *Lymphatic System Flows*. Annu Rev Fluid Mech, 2018. **50**: p. 459-482.
- 2. Randolph, G.J., S. Ivanov, B.H. Zinselmeyer, and J.P. Scallan, *The Lymphatic System: Integral Roles in Immunity.* Annu Rev Immunol, 2017. **35**: p. 31-52.
- 3. Waks, A.G. and E.P. Winer, *Breast Cancer Treatment: A Review*. JAMA, 2019. **321**(3): p. 288-300.
- 4. Schnitt, S., *Pathology of invasive breast cancer*. Diseases of the Breast, 2000.
- 5. Foulkes, W.D., I.E. Smith, and J.S. Reis-Filho, *Triple-negative breast cancer*. New England journal of medicine, 2010. **363**(20): p. 1938-1948.
- 6. Joshi, H. and M.F. Press, *Molecular oncology of breast cancer*, in *The Breast*. 2018, Elsevier. p. 282-307. e5.
- 7. Davies, C., H. Pan, J. Godwin, R. Gray, R. Arriagada, V. Raina, M. Abraham, V.H.M. Alencar, A. Badran, and X. Bonfill, *Long-term effects of continuing adjuvant tamoxifen* to 10 years versus stopping at 5 years after diagnosis of oestrogen receptor-positive breast cancer: ATLAS, a randomised trial. The Lancet, 2013. **381**(9869): p. 805-816.
- 8. Goss, P.E., J.N. Ingle, K.I. Pritchard, N.J. Robert, H. Muss, J. Gralow, K. Gelmon, T. Whelan, K. Strasser-Weippl, and S. Rubin, *Extending aromatase-inhibitor adjuvant therapy to 10 years*. N Engl J Med, 2016. **375**: p. 209-219.
- 9. Goss, P.E., J.N. Ingle, S. Martino, N.J. Robert, H.B. Muss, M.J. Piccart, M. Castiglione, D. Tu, L.E. Shepherd, K.I. Pritchard, R.B. Livingston, N.E. Davidson, L. Norton, E.A. Perez, J.S. Abrams, D.A. Cameron, M.J. Palmer, and J.L. Pater, *Randomized trial of letrozole following tamoxifen as extended adjuvant therapy in receptor-positive breast cancer: updated findings from NCIC CTG MA.17.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 2005. **97**(17): p. 1262-71.
- Smid, M., Y. Wang, Y. Zhang, A.M. Sieuwerts, J. Yu, J.G. Klijn, J.A. Foekens, and J.W. Martens, *Subtypes of breast cancer show preferential site of relapse*. Cancer Res, 2008. 68(9): p. 3108-14.
- Rouzier, R., C.M. Perou, W.F. Symmans, N. Ibrahim, M. Cristofanilli, K. Anderson, K.R. Hess, J. Stec, M. Ayers, P. Wagner, P. Morandi, C. Fan, I. Rabiul, J.S. Ross, G.N. Hortobagyi, and L. Pusztai, *Breast cancer molecular subtypes respond differently to preoperative chemotherapy*. Clin Cancer Res, 2005. 11(16): p. 5678-85.
- 12. Garrido-Castro, A.C., N.U. Lin, and K. Polyak, *Insights into Molecular Classifications of Triple-Negative Breast Cancer: Improving Patient Selection for Treatment*. Cancer Discov, 2019. **9**(2): p. 176-198.

- Denkert, C., C. Liedtke, A. Tutt, and G. von Minckwitz, *Molecular alterations in triple-negative breast cancer—the road to new treatment strategies*. The Lancet, 2017. 389(10087): p. 2430-2442.
- 14. Von Minckwitz, G., A. Schneeweiss, C. Salat, M. Rezai, D.M. Zahm, P. Klare, J.U. Blohmer, H. Tesch, F. Khandan, and S. Jud, *A randomized phase II trial investigating the addition of carboplatin to neoadjuvant therapy for triple-negative and HER2-positive early breast cancer (GeparSixto).* 2013, American Society of Clinical Oncology.
- 15. Sikov, W., D. Berry, C. Perou, B. Singh, C. Cirrincione, S. Tolaney, G. Somlo, E. Port, R. Qamar, and K. Sturtz, *Abstract S2-05: Event-free and overall survival following neoadjuvant weekly paclitaxel and dose-dense* AC+/-carboplatin and/or bevacizumab in *triple-negative breast cancer: Outcomes from CALGB 40603 (Alliance).* 2016.
- 16. Foulkes, W.D., I.E. Smith, and J.S. Reis-Filho, *Triple-negative breast cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2010. **363**(20): p. 1938-48.
- 17. Chavez-MacGregor, M., E.A. Mittendorf, C.A. Clarke, D.Y. Lichtensztajn, K.K. Hunt, and S.H. Giordano, *Incorporating tumor characteristics to the American Joint Committee on Cancer breast cancer staging system*. The oncologist, 2017. **22**(11): p. 1292.
- 18. Boon, T., J.C. Cerottini, B. Van den Eynde, P. van der Bruggen, and A. Van Pel, *Tumor antigens recognized by T lymphocytes*. Annu Rev Immunol, 1994. **12**: p. 337-65.
- 19. Chen, D.S. and I. Mellman, *Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle*. Immunity, 2013. **39**(1): p. 1-10.
- 20. Spranger, S. and T.F. Gajewski, *Mechanisms of Tumor Cell–Intrinsic Immune Evasion*. Annual Review of Cancer Biology, 2018. **2**(1): p. 213-228.
- Wculek, S.K., F.J. Cueto, A.M. Mujal, I. Melero, M.F. Krummel, and D. Sancho, *Dendritic cells in cancer immunology and immunotherapy*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2020. 20(1): p. 7-24.
- 22. Merad, M., P. Sathe, J. Helft, J. Miller, and A. Mortha, *The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting.* Annual review of immunology, 2013. **31**: p. 563-604.
- 23. Schlitzer, A., N. McGovern, and F. Ginhoux. *Dendritic cells and monocyte-derived cells: Two complementary and integrated functional systems.* in *Seminars in cell & developmental biology.* 2015. Elsevier.
- 24. Curtsinger, J.M. and M.F. Mescher, *Inflammatory cytokines as a third signal for T cell activation*. Current opinion in immunology, 2010. **22**(3): p. 333-340.
- Rowshanravan, B., N. Halliday, and D.M. Sansom, *CTLA-4: a moving target in immunotherapy*. Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology, 2018. 131(1): p. 58-67.

- 26. Collin, M. and V. Bigley, *Human dendritic cell subsets: an update*. Immunology, 2018. **154**(1): p. 3-20.
- 27. Mildner, A. and S. Jung, *Development and function of dendritic cell subsets*. Immunity, 2014. **40**(5): p. 642-656.
- 28. Segura, E., M. Durand, and S. Amigorena, *Similar antigen cross-presentation capacity and phagocytic functions in all freshly isolated human lymphoid organ–resident dendritic cells.* Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2013. **210**(5): p. 1035-1047.
- Broz, M.L., M. Binnewies, B. Boldajipour, A.E. Nelson, J.L. Pollack, D.J. Erle, A. Barczak, M.D. Rosenblum, A. Daud, D.L. Barber, S. Amigorena, L.J. Van't Veer, A.I. Sperling, D.M. Wolf, and M.F. Krummel, *Dissecting the tumor myeloid compartment reveals rare activating antigen-presenting cells critical for T cell immunity*. Cancer Cell, 2014. 26(5): p. 638-52.
- Spranger, S., D. Dai, B. Horton, and T.F. Gajewski, *Tumor-residing Batf3 dendritic cells are required for effector T cell trafficking and adoptive T cell therapy*. Cancer cell, 2017. 31(5): p. 711-723. e4.
- 31. Binnewies, M., A.M. Mujal, J.L. Pollack, A.J. Combes, E.A. Hardison, K.C. Barry, J. Tsui, M.K. Ruhland, K. Kersten, and M.A. Abushawish, *Unleashing type-2 dendritic cells to drive protective antitumor CD4+ T cell immunity*. Cell, 2019. **177**(3): p. 556-571. e16.
- 32. Biswas, S.K. and A. Mantovani, *Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm.* Nat Immunol, 2010. **11**(10): p. 889-96.
- 33. Qian, B.Z., J. Li, H. Zhang, T. Kitamura, J. Zhang, L.R. Campion, E.A. Kaiser, L.A. Snyder, and J.W. Pollard, *CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis*. Nature, 2011. **475**(7355): p. 222-5.
- Franklin, R.A., W. Liao, A. Sarkar, M.V. Kim, M.R. Bivona, K. Liu, E.G. Pamer, and M.O. Li, *The cellular and molecular origin of tumor-associated macrophages*. Science, 2014. 344(6186): p. 921-5.
- 35. Hanna, R.N., C. Cekic, D. Sag, R. Tacke, G.D. Thomas, H. Nowyhed, E. Herrley, N. Rasquinha, S. McArdle, R. Wu, E. Peluso, D. Metzger, H. Ichinose, I. Shaked, G. Chodaczek, S.K. Biswas, and C.C. Hedrick, *Patrolling monocytes control tumor metastasis to the lung*. Science, 2015. **350**(6263): p. 985-90.
- 36. Ginhoux, F., J.L. Schultze, P.J. Murray, J. Ochando, and S.K. Biswas, *New insights into the multidimensional concept of macrophage ontogeny, activation and function.* Nat Immunol, 2016. **17**(1): p. 34-40.
- 37. DeNardo, D.G. and B. Ruffell, *Macrophages as regulators of tumour immunity and immunotherapy*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2019. **19**(6): p. 369-382.

- 38. Mantovani, A., F. Marchesi, A. Malesci, L. Laghi, and P. Allavena, *Tumour-associated* macrophages as treatment targets in oncology. Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 2017. **14**(7): p. 399-416.
- Murray, P.J., J.E. Allen, S.K. Biswas, E.A. Fisher, D.W. Gilroy, S. Goerdt, S. Gordon, J.A. Hamilton, L.B. Ivashkiv, T. Lawrence, M. Locati, A. Mantovani, F.O. Martinez, J.L. Mege, D.M. Mosser, G. Natoli, J.P. Saeij, J.L. Schultze, K.A. Shirey, A. Sica, J. Suttles, I. Udalova, J.A. van Ginderachter, S.N. Vogel, and T.A. Wynn, *Macrophage activation and polarization: nomenclature and experimental guidelines*. Immunity, 2014. 41(1): p. 14-20.
- 40. Gabrilovich, D.I. and S. Nagaraj, *Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2009. **9**(3): p. 162-74.
- Geiger, R., J.C. Rieckmann, T. Wolf, C. Basso, Y. Feng, T. Fuhrer, M. Kogadeeva, P. Picotti, F. Meissner, M. Mann, N. Zamboni, F. Sallusto, and A. Lanzavecchia, *L-Arginine Modulates T Cell Metabolism and Enhances Survival and Anti-tumor Activity*. Cell, 2016. 167(3): p. 829-842.e13.
- Pyonteck, S.M., L. Akkari, A.J. Schuhmacher, R.L. Bowman, L. Sevenich, D.F. Quail, O.C. Olson, M.L. Quick, J.T. Huse, V. Teijeiro, M. Setty, C.S. Leslie, Y. Oei, A. Pedraza, J. Zhang, C.W. Brennan, J.C. Sutton, E.C. Holland, D. Daniel, and J.A. Joyce, *CSF-1R inhibition alters macrophage polarization and blocks glioma progression*. Nat Med, 2013. **19**(10): p. 1264-72.
- 43. Zhang, Q.-w., L. Liu, C.-y. Gong, H.-s. Shi, Y.-h. Zeng, X.-z. Wang, Y.-w. Zhao, and Y.q. Wei, *Prognostic significance of tumor-associated macrophages in solid tumor: a metaanalysis of the literature.* PloS one, 2012. 7(12): p. e50946.
- 44. Gonzalez, H., C. Hagerling, and Z. Werb, *Roles of the immune system in cancer: from tumor initiation to metastatic progression.* Genes & development, 2018. **32**(19-20): p. 1267-1284.
- 45. Kolaczkowska, E. and P. Kubes, *Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2013. **13**(3): p. 159-75.
- 46. Donskov, F., *Immunomonitoring and prognostic relevance of neutrophils in clinical trials*. Semin Cancer Biol, 2013. **23**(3): p. 200-7.
- 47. Ferrucci, P.F., P.A. Ascierto, J. Pigozzo, M. Del Vecchio, M. Maio, G.A. Cappellini, M. Guidoboni, P. Queirolo, P. Savoia, and M. Mandalà, *Baseline neutrophils and derived neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio: prognostic relevance in metastatic melanoma patients receiving ipilimumab.* Annals of Oncology, 2016. **27**(4): p. 732-738.
- 48. Cools-Lartigue, J., J. Spicer, S. Najmeh, and L. Ferri, *Neutrophil extracellular traps in cancer progression*. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2014. **71**(21): p. 4179-94.
- 49. Tohme, S., H.O. Yazdani, A.B. Al-Khafaji, A.P. Chidi, P. Loughran, K. Mowen, Y. Wang, R.L. Simmons, H. Huang, and A. Tsung, *Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Promote the Development and Progression of Liver Metastases after Surgical Stress.* Cancer Res, 2016. **76**(6): p. 1367-80.
- 50. Park, J., R.W. Wysocki, Z. Amoozgar, L. Maiorino, M.R. Fein, J. Jorns, A.F. Schott, Y. Kinugasa-Katayama, Y. Lee, N.H. Won, E.S. Nakasone, S.A. Hearn, V. Küttner, J. Qiu, A.S. Almeida, N. Perurena, K. Kessenbrock, M.S. Goldberg, and M. Egeblad, *Cancer cells induce metastasis-supporting neutrophil extracellular DNA traps*. Sci Transl Med, 2016. 8(361): p. 361ra138.
- Governa, V., E. Trella, V. Mele, L. Tornillo, F. Amicarella, E. Cremonesi, M.G. Muraro, H. Xu, R. Droeser, S.R. Däster, M. Bolli, R. Rosso, D. Oertli, S. Eppenberger-Castori, L.M. Terracciano, G. Iezzi, and G.C. Spagnoli, *The Interplay Between Neutrophils and CD8(+) T Cells Improves Survival in Human Colorectal Cancer*. Clin Cancer Res, 2017. 23(14): p. 3847-3858.
- 52. Takeshima, T., L.M. Pop, A. Laine, P. Iyengar, E.S. Vitetta, and R. Hannan, *Key role for neutrophils in radiation-induced antitumor immune responses: Potentiation with G-CSF*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2016. **113**(40): p. 11300-11305.
- Jamieson, T., M. Clarke, C.W. Steele, M.S. Samuel, J. Neumann, A. Jung, D. Huels, M.F. Olson, S. Das, R.J. Nibbs, and O.J. Sansom, *Inhibition of CXCR2 profoundly* suppresses inflammation-driven and spontaneous tumorigenesis. J Clin Invest, 2012. 122(9): p. 3127-44.
- 54. Lecot, P., M. Sarabi, M. Pereira Abrantes, J. Mussard, L. Koenderman, C. Caux, N. Bendriss-Vermare, and M.-C. Michallet, *Neutrophil heterogeneity in cancer: From biology to therapies.* Frontiers in immunology, 2019. **10**: p. 2155.
- 55. Fridlender, Z.G., J. Sun, S. Kim, V. Kapoor, G. Cheng, L. Ling, G.S. Worthen, and S.M. Albelda, *Polarization of tumor-associated neutrophil phenotype by TGF-beta: "N1" versus "N2" TAN.* Cancer Cell, 2009. **16**(3): p. 183-94.
- 56. Fridman, W.H., L. Zitvogel, C. Sautès-Fridman, and G. Kroemer, *The immune contexture in cancer prognosis and treatment*. Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 2017. **14**(12): p. 717-734.
- 57. Teng, M.W., J. Galon, W.H. Fridman, and M.J. Smyth, *From mice to humans: developments in cancer immunoediting.* J Clin Invest, 2015. **125**(9): p. 3338-46.
- 58. Labani-Motlagh, A., M. Ashja-Mahdavi, and A. Loskog, *The Tumor Microenvironment: A Milieu Hindering and Obstructing Antitumor Immune Responses*. Frontiers in Immunology, 2020. **11**(940).
- 59. De Sousa Linhares, A., J. Leitner, K. Grabmeier-Pfistershammer, and P. Steinberger, *Not All Immune Checkpoints Are Created Equal.* Frontiers in Immunology, 2018. **9**(1909).

- Vinay, D.S., E.P. Ryan, G. Pawelec, W.H. Talib, J. Stagg, E. Elkord, T. Lichtor, W.K. Decker, R.L. Whelan, H. Kumara, E. Signori, K. Honoki, A.G. Georgakilas, A. Amin, W.G. Helferich, C.S. Boosani, G. Guha, M.R. Ciriolo, S. Chen, S.I. Mohammed, A.S. Azmi, W.N. Keith, A. Bilsland, D. Bhakta, D. Halicka, H. Fujii, K. Aquilano, S.S. Ashraf, S. Nowsheen, X. Yang, et al., *Immune evasion in cancer: Mechanistic basis and therapeutic strategies.* Semin Cancer Biol, 2015. **35 Suppl**: p. S185-s198.
- 61. Chen, D.S. and I. Mellman, *Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point*. Nature, 2017. **541**(7637): p. 321-330.
- 62. Zhu, J., H. Yamane, and W.E. Paul, *Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations* (*). Annu Rev Immunol, 2010. **28**: p. 445-89.
- 63. Tosolini, M., A. Kirilovsky, B. Mlecnik, T. Fredriksen, S. Mauger, G. Bindea, A. Berger, P. Bruneval, W.H. Fridman, F. Pagès, and J. Galon, *Clinical impact of different classes of infiltrating T cytotoxic and helper cells (Th1, th2, treg, th17) in patients with colorectal cancer*. Cancer Res, 2011. **71**(4): p. 1263-71.
- 64. Oldford, S.A., J.D. Robb, D. Codner, V. Gadag, P.H. Watson, and S. Drover, *Tumor cell* expression of HLA-DM associates with a Th1 profile and predicts improved survival in breast carcinoma patients. Int Immunol, 2006. **18**(11): p. 1591-602.
- 65. Braumüller, H., T. Wieder, E. Brenner, S. Aßmann, M. Hahn, M. Alkhaled, K. Schilbach, F. Essmann, M. Kneilling, C. Griessinger, F. Ranta, S. Ullrich, R. Mocikat, K. Braungart, T. Mehra, B. Fehrenbacher, J. Berdel, H. Niessner, F. Meier, M. van den Broek, H.U. Häring, R. Handgretinger, L. Quintanilla-Martinez, F. Fend, M. Pesic, J. Bauer, L. Zender, M. Schaller, K. Schulze-Osthoff, and M. Röcken, *T-helper-1-cell cytokines drive cancer into senescence*. Nature, 2013. **494**(7437): p. 361-5.
- 66. Tay, R.E., E.K. Richardson, and H.C. Toh, *Revisiting the role of CD4 + T cells in cancer immunotherapy—new insights into old paradigms*. Cancer Gene Therapy, 2021. **28**(1): p. 5-17.
- 67. Galli, F., J.V. Aguilera, B. Palermo, S.N. Markovic, P. Nisticò, and A. Signore, *Relevance of immune cell and tumor microenvironment imaging in the new era of immunotherapy*. Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research, 2020. **39**(1): p. 89.
- Muranski, P., A. Boni, P.A. Antony, L. Cassard, K.R. Irvine, A. Kaiser, C.M. Paulos, D.C. Palmer, C.E. Touloukian, K. Ptak, L. Gattinoni, C. Wrzesinski, C.S. Hinrichs, K.W. Kerstann, L. Feigenbaum, C.C. Chan, and N.P. Restifo, *Tumor-specific Th17-polarized cells eradicate large established melanoma*. Blood, 2008. **112**(2): p. 362-73.
- 69. Bailey, S.R., M.H. Nelson, R.A. Himes, Z. Li, S. Mehrotra, and C.M. Paulos, *Th17 cells in cancer: the ultimate identity crisis.* Frontiers in immunology, 2014. **5**: p. 276.
- Zhang, Y., J. Lazarus, N.G. Steele, W. Yan, H.J. Lee, Z.C. Nwosu, C.J. Halbrook, R.E. Menjivar, S.B. Kemp, V.R. Sirihorachai, A. Velez-Delgado, K. Donahue, E.S. Carpenter, K.L. Brown, V. Irizarry-Negron, A.C. Nevison, A. Vinta, M.A. Anderson, H.C.

Crawford, C.A. Lyssiotis, T.L. Frankel, F. Bednar, and M. Pasca di Magliano, *Regulatory T-cell Depletion Alters the Tumor Microenvironment and Accelerates Pancreatic Carcinogenesis.* Cancer Discov, 2020. **10**(3): p. 422-439.

- Micossé, C., L. von Meyenn, O. Steck, E. Kipfer, C. Adam, C. Simillion, S.M.S. Jafari,
 P. Olah, N. Yawlkar, and D. Simon, *Human "TH9" cells are a subpopulation of PPARγ*+ *TH2 cells*. Science immunology, 2019. 4(31).
- 72. Waldman, A.D., J.M. Fritz, and M.J. Lenardo, *A guide to cancer immunotherapy: from T cell basic science to clinical practice*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2020. **20**(11): p. 651-668.
- 73. Nam, J., S. Son, K.S. Park, W. Zou, L.D. Shea, and J.J. Moon, *Cancer nanomedicine for combination cancer immunotherapy*. Nature Reviews Materials, 2019. 4(6): p. 398-414.
- 74. Goldberg, M.S., *Improving cancer immunotherapy through nanotechnology*. Nature Reviews Cancer, 2019. **19**(10): p. 587-602.
- 75. Topalian, S.L., C.G. Drake, and D.M. Pardoll, *Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy*. Cancer Cell, 2015. **27**(4): p. 450-61.
- 76. Dougan, M., G. Dranoff, and S.K. Dougan, *Cancer Immunotherapy: Beyond Checkpoint Blockade*. Annual Review of Cancer Biology, 2019. **3**(1): p. 55-75.
- 77. Buchbinder, E.I. and A. Desai, *CTLA-4 and PD-1 Pathways: Similarities, Differences, and Implications of Their Inhibition.* Am J Clin Oncol, 2016. **39**(1): p. 98-106.
- 78. Fife, B.T. and J.A. Bluestone, *Control of peripheral T-cell tolerance and autoimmunity via the CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways*. Immunol Rev, 2008. **224**: p. 166-82.
- Brunet, J.F., F. Denizot, M.F. Luciani, M. Roux-Dosseto, M. Suzan, M.G. Mattei, and P. Golstein, *A new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily--CTLA-4*. Nature, 1987. 328(6127): p. 267-70.
- 80. Linsley, P.S., J.L. Greene, W. Brady, J. Bajorath, J.A. Ledbetter, and R. Peach, *Human B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) bind with similar avidities but distinct kinetics to CD28 and CTLA-4 receptors*. Immunity, 1994. **1**(9): p. 793-801.
- 81. Krummel, M.F. and J.P. Allison, *CD28 and CTLA-4 have opposing effects on the response of T cells to stimulation*. J Exp Med, 1995. **182**(2): p. 459-65.
- 82. Leach, D.R., M.F. Krummel, and J.P. Allison, *Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade*. Science, 1996. **271**(5256): p. 1734-6.
- 83. Hodi, F.S., M.C. Mihm, R.J. Soiffer, F.G. Haluska, M. Butler, M.V. Seiden, T. Davis, R. Henry-Spires, S. MacRae, A. Willman, R. Padera, M.T. Jaklitsch, S. Shankar, T.C. Chen, A. Korman, J.P. Allison, and G. Dranoff, *Biologic activity of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-*

associated antigen 4 antibody blockade in previously vaccinated metastatic melanoma and ovarian carcinoma patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(8): p. 4712-7.

- 84. Hodi, F.S., S.J. O'Day, D.F. McDermott, R.W. Weber, J.A. Sosman, J.B. Haanen, R. Gonzalez, C. Robert, D. Schadendorf, J.C. Hassel, W. Akerley, A.J. van den Eertwegh, J. Lutzky, P. Lorigan, J.M. Vaubel, G.P. Linette, D. Hogg, C.H. Ottensmeier, C. Lebbé, C. Peschel, I. Quirt, J.I. Clark, J.D. Wolchok, J.S. Weber, J. Tian, M.J. Yellin, G.M. Nichol, A. Hoos, and W.J. Urba, *Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma*. N Engl J Med, 2010. **363**(8): p. 711-23.
- 85. Ishida, Y., Y. Agata, K. Shibahara, and T. Honjo, *Induced expression of PD-1, a novel member of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily, upon programmed cell death.* Embo j, 1992. **11**(11): p. 3887-95.
- 86. Francisco, L.M., P.T. Sage, and A.H. Sharpe, *The PD-1 pathway in tolerance and autoimmunity*. Immunol Rev, 2010. **236**: p. 219-42.
- 87. Freeman, G.J., A.J. Long, Y. Iwai, K. Bourque, T. Chernova, H. Nishimura, L.J. Fitz, N. Malenkovich, T. Okazaki, M.C. Byrne, H.F. Horton, L. Fouser, L. Carter, V. Ling, M.R. Bowman, B.M. Carreno, M. Collins, C.R. Wood, and T. Honjo, *Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation*. J Exp Med, 2000. **192**(7): p. 1027-34.
- 88. Barber, D.L., E.J. Wherry, D. Masopust, B. Zhu, J.P. Allison, A.H. Sharpe, G.J. Freeman, and R. Ahmed, *Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection*. Nature, 2006. **439**(7077): p. 682-7.
- 89. Wherry, E.J. and M. Kurachi, *Molecular and cellular insights into T cell exhaustion*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2015. **15**(8): p. 486-99.
- 90. Hamanishi, J., M. Mandai, M. Iwasaki, T. Okazaki, Y. Tanaka, K. Yamaguchi, T. Higuchi, H. Yagi, K. Takakura, N. Minato, T. Honjo, and S. Fujii, *Programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 and tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes are prognostic factors of human ovarian cancer.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. **104**(9): p. 3360-5.
- 91. Thompson, R.H., S.M. Kuntz, B.C. Leibovich, H. Dong, C.M. Lohse, W.S. Webster, S. Sengupta, I. Frank, A.S. Parker, H. Zincke, M.L. Blute, T.J. Sebo, J.C. Cheville, and E.D. Kwon, *Tumor B7-H1 is associated with poor prognosis in renal cell carcinoma patients with long-term follow-up*. Cancer Res, 2006. **66**(7): p. 3381-5.
- 92. Thompson, R.H., H. Dong, C.M. Lohse, B.C. Leibovich, M.L. Blute, J.C. Cheville, and E.D. Kwon, *PD-1 is expressed by tumor-infiltrating immune cells and is associated with poor outcome for patients with renal cell carcinoma*. Clin Cancer Res, 2007. **13**(6): p. 1757-61.
- 93. Iwai, Y., M. Ishida, Y. Tanaka, T. Okazaki, T. Honjo, and N. Minato, *Involvement of PD-L1 on tumor cells in the escape from host immune system and tumor immunotherapy by PD-L1 blockade*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002. **99**(19): p. 12293-7.

- 94. Hirano, F., K. Kaneko, H. Tamura, H. Dong, S. Wang, M. Ichikawa, C. Rietz, D.B. Flies, J.S. Lau, G. Zhu, K. Tamada, and L. Chen, *Blockade of B7-H1 and PD-1 by monoclonal antibodies potentiates cancer therapeutic immunity*. Cancer Res, 2005. **65**(3): p. 1089-96.
- 95. Iwai, Y., S. Terawaki, and T. Honjo, *PD-1 blockade inhibits hematogenous spread of poorly immunogenic tumor cells by enhanced recruitment of effector T cells.* Int Immunol, 2005. **17**(2): p. 133-44.
- 96. Weber, J., M. Mandala, M. Del Vecchio, H.J. Gogas, A.M. Arance, C.L. Cowey, S. Dalle, M. Schenker, V. Chiarion-Sileni, and I. Marquez-Rodas, *Adjuvant nivolumab versus ipilimumab in resected stage III or IV melanoma*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2017. **377**(19): p. 1824-1835.
- 97. Robert, C., J. Schachter, G.V. Long, A. Arance, J.J. Grob, L. Mortier, A. Daud, M.S. Carlino, C. McNeil, M. Lotem, J. Larkin, P. Lorigan, B. Neyns, C.U. Blank, O. Hamid, C. Mateus, R. Shapira-Frommer, M. Kosh, H. Zhou, N. Ibrahim, S. Ebbinghaus, and A. Ribas, *Pembrolizumab versus Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma*. N Engl J Med, 2015. 372(26): p. 2521-32.
- 98. Cohen, E.E.W., D. Soulières, C. Le Tourneau, J. Dinis, L. Licitra, M.J. Ahn, A. Soria, J.P. Machiels, N. Mach, R. Mehra, B. Burtness, P. Zhang, J. Cheng, R.F. Swaby, and K.J. Harrington, *Pembrolizumab versus methotrexate, docetaxel, or cetuximab for recurrent or metastatic head-and-neck squamous cell carcinoma (KEYNOTE-040): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study.* Lancet, 2019. **393**(10167): p. 156-167.
- 99. Herbst, R.S., P. Baas, D.W. Kim, E. Felip, J.L. Pérez-Gracia, J.Y. Han, J. Molina, J.H. Kim, C.D. Arvis, M.J. Ahn, M. Majem, M.J. Fidler, G. de Castro, Jr., M. Garrido, G.M. Lubiniecki, Y. Shentu, E. Im, M. Dolled-Filhart, and E.B. Garon, *Pembrolizumab versus docetaxel for previously treated*, *PD-L1-positive*, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (KEYNOTE-010): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet, 2016. **387**(10027): p. 1540-1550.
- 100. Antonia, S.J., A. Villegas, D. Daniel, D. Vicente, S. Murakami, R. Hui, T. Yokoi, A. Chiappori, K.H. Lee, M. de Wit, B.C. Cho, M. Bourhaba, X. Quantin, T. Tokito, T. Mekhail, D. Planchard, Y.C. Kim, C.S. Karapetis, S. Hiret, G. Ostoros, K. Kubota, J.E. Gray, L. Paz-Ares, J. de Castro Carpeño, C. Wadsworth, G. Melillo, H. Jiang, Y. Huang, P.A. Dennis, and M. Özgüroğlu, *Durvalumab after Chemoradiotherapy in Stage III Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2017. **377**(20): p. 1919-1929.
- 101. Motzer, R.J., K. Penkov, J. Haanen, B. Rini, L. Albiges, M.T. Campbell, B. Venugopal, C. Kollmannsberger, S. Negrier, M. Uemura, J.L. Lee, A. Vasiliev, W.H. Miller, Jr., H. Gurney, M. Schmidinger, J. Larkin, M.B. Atkins, J. Bedke, B. Alekseev, J. Wang, M. Mariani, P.B. Robbins, A. Chudnovsky, C. Fowst, S. Hariharan, B. Huang, A. di Pietro, and T.K. Choueiri, *Avelumab plus Axitinib versus Sunitinib for Advanced Renal-Cell Carcinoma*. N Engl J Med, 2019. **380**(12): p. 1103-1115.
- 102. Michot, J.M., C. Bigenwald, S. Champiat, M. Collins, F. Carbonnel, S. Postel-Vinay, A. Berdelou, A. Varga, R. Bahleda, A. Hollebecque, C. Massard, A. Fuerea, V. Ribrag, A.

Gazzah, J.P. Armand, N. Amellal, E. Angevin, N. Noel, C. Boutros, C. Mateus, C. Robert, J.C. Soria, A. Marabelle, and O. Lambotte, *Immune-related adverse events with immune checkpoint blockade: a comprehensive review*. Eur J Cancer, 2016. **54**: p. 139-148.

- 103. Iwasaki, A. and R. Medzhitov, *Control of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system*. Nat Immunol, 2015. **16**(4): p. 343-53.
- 104. Rothlin, C.V. and S. Ghosh, *Lifting the innate immune barriers to antitumor immunity*. J Immunother Cancer, 2020. **8**(1).
- 105. Le Bon, A. and D.F. Tough, *Type I interferon as a stimulus for cross-priming*. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev, 2008. **19**(1): p. 33-40.
- 106. Fuertes, M.B., A.K. Kacha, J. Kline, S.R. Woo, D.M. Kranz, K.M. Murphy, and T.F. Gajewski, *Host type I IFN signals are required for antitumor CD8+ T cell responses through CD8{alpha}+ dendritic cells.* J Exp Med, 2011. **208**(10): p. 2005-16.
- 107. Woo, S.R., M.B. Fuertes, L. Corrales, S. Spranger, M.J. Furdyna, M.Y. Leung, R. Duggan, Y. Wang, G.N. Barber, K.A. Fitzgerald, M.L. Alegre, and T.F. Gajewski, STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing mediates innate immune recognition of immunogenic tumors. Immunity, 2014. 41(5): p. 830-42.
- 108. Meric-Bernstam, F., S.K. Sandhu, O. Hamid, A. Spreafico, S. Kasper, R. Dummer, T. Shimizu, N. Steeghs, N. Lewis, and C.C. Talluto, *Phase Ib study of MIW815 (ADU-S100) in combination with spartalizumab (PDR001) in patients (pts) with advanced/metastatic solid tumors or lymphomas.* 2019, American Society of Clinical Oncology.
- 109. Harrington, K., J. Brody, M. Ingham, J. Strauss, S. Cemerski, M. Wang, A. Tse, A. Khilnani, A. Marabelle, and T. Golan, *Preliminary results of the first-in-human (FIH) study of MK-1454, an agonist of stimulator of interferon genes (STING), as monotherapy or in combination with pembrolizumab (pembro) in patients with advanced solid tumors or lymphomas.* Annals of Oncology, 2018. 29: p. viii712.
- 110. Guo, C., M.H. Manjili, J.R. Subjeck, D. Sarkar, P.B. Fisher, and X.Y. Wang, *Therapeutic cancer vaccines: past, present, and future.* Adv Cancer Res, 2013. **119**: p. 421-75.
- 111. von Hoegen, P., R. Heicappell, A. Griesbach, P. Altevogt, and V. Schirrmacher, Prevention of metastatic spread by postoperative immunotherapy with virally modified autologous tumor cells. III. Postoperative activation of tumor-specific CTLP from mice with metastases requires stimulation with the specific antigen plus additional signals. Invasion Metastasis, 1989. 9(2): p. 117-33.
- 112. Plaksin, D., A. Porgador, E. Vadai, M. Feldman, V. Schirrmacher, and L. Eisenbach, Effective anti-metastatic melanoma vaccination with tumor cells transfected with MHC genes and/or infected with Newcastle disease virus (NDV). Int J Cancer, 1994. 59(6): p. 796-801.

- 113. Sahin, U., E. Derhovanessian, M. Miller, B.P. Kloke, P. Simon, M. Löwer, V. Bukur, A.D. Tadmor, U. Luxemburger, B. Schrörs, T. Omokoko, M. Vormehr, C. Albrecht, A. Paruzynski, A.N. Kuhn, J. Buck, S. Heesch, K.H. Schreeb, F. Müller, I. Ortseifer, I. Vogler, E. Godehardt, S. Attig, R. Rae, A. Breitkreuz, C. Tolliver, M. Suchan, G. Martic, A. Hohberger, P. Sorn, et al., *Personalized RNA mutanome vaccines mobilize polyspecific therapeutic immunity against cancer*. Nature, 2017. **547**(7662): p. 222-226.
- 114. Ott, P.A., Z. Hu, D.B. Keskin, S.A. Shukla, J. Sun, D.J. Bozym, W. Zhang, A. Luoma, A. Giobbie-Hurder, L. Peter, C. Chen, O. Olive, T.A. Carter, S. Li, D.J. Lieb, T. Eisenhaure, E. Gjini, J. Stevens, W.J. Lane, I. Javeri, K. Nellaiappan, A.M. Salazar, H. Daley, M. Seaman, E.I. Buchbinder, C.H. Yoon, M. Harden, N. Lennon, S. Gabriel, S.J. Rodig, et al., *An immunogenic personal neoantigen vaccine for patients with melanoma*. Nature, 2017. 547(7662): p. 217-221.
- 115. Sahin, U. and Ö. Türeci, *Personalized vaccines for cancer immunotherapy*. Science, 2018. **359**(6382): p. 1355-1360.
- 116. Weiden, P.L., N. Flournoy, E.D. Thomas, R. Prentice, A. Fefer, C.D. Buckner, and R. Storb, *Antileukemic effect of graft-versus-host disease in human recipients of allogeneic-marrow grafts*. N Engl J Med, 1979. **300**(19): p. 1068-73.
- 117. Southam, C.M., A. Brunschwig, A.G. Levin, and Q.S. Dizon, *Effect of leukocytes on transplantability of human cancer*. Cancer, 1966. **19**(11): p. 1743-53.
- 118. Rosenberg, S.A., J.R. Yannelli, J.C. Yang, S.L. Topalian, D.J. Schwartzentruber, J.S. Weber, D.R. Parkinson, C.A. Seipp, J.H. Einhorn, and D.E. White, *Treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma with autologous tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and interleukin 2*. J Natl Cancer Inst, 1994. **86**(15): p. 1159-66.
- 119. Rosenberg, S.A., J.C. Yang, R.M. Sherry, U.S. Kammula, M.S. Hughes, G.Q. Phan, D.E. Citrin, N.P. Restifo, P.F. Robbins, J.R. Wunderlich, K.E. Morton, C.M. Laurencot, S.M. Steinberg, D.E. White, and M.E. Dudley, *Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy*. Clin Cancer Res, 2011. 17(13): p. 4550-7.
- 120. Garrido, F., N. Aptsiauri, E.M. Doorduijn, A.M. Garcia Lora, and T. van Hall, *The urgent need to recover MHC class I in cancers for effective immunotherapy*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2016. **39**: p. 44-51.
- 121. Brocker, T., *Chimeric Fv-zeta or Fv-epsilon receptors are not sufficient to induce activation or cytokine production in peripheral T cells.* Blood, 2000. **96**(5): p. 1999-2001.
- 122. Maher, J., R.J. Brentjens, G. Gunset, I. Rivière, and M. Sadelain, *Human T-lymphocyte cytotoxicity and proliferation directed by a single chimeric TCRzeta /CD28 receptor*. Nat Biotechnol, 2002. **20**(1): p. 70-5.

- 123. Imai, C., K. Mihara, M. Andreansky, I.C. Nicholson, C.H. Pui, T.L. Geiger, and D. Campana, *Chimeric receptors with 4-1BB signaling capacity provoke potent cytotoxicity against acute lymphoblastic leukemia*. Leukemia, 2004. **18**(4): p. 676-84.
- 124. Porter, D.L., B.L. Levine, M. Kalos, A. Bagg, and C.H. June, *Chimeric antigen receptormodified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia*. N Engl J Med, 2011. **365**(8): p. 725-33.
- 125. Brentjens, R.J., M.L. Davila, I. Riviere, J. Park, X. Wang, L.G. Cowell, S. Bartido, J. Stefanski, C. Taylor, M. Olszewska, O. Borquez-Ojeda, J. Qu, T. Wasielewska, Q. He, Y. Bernal, I.V. Rijo, C. Hedvat, R. Kobos, K. Curran, P. Steinherz, J. Jurcic, T. Rosenblat, P. Maslak, M. Frattini, and M. Sadelain, *CD19-targeted T cells rapidly induce molecular remissions in adults with chemotherapy-refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia*. Sci Transl Med, 2013. 5(177): p. 177ra38.
- 126. Neelapu, S.S., F.L. Locke, N.L. Bartlett, L.J. Lekakis, D.B. Miklos, C.A. Jacobson, I. Braunschweig, O.O. Oluwole, T. Siddiqi, and Y. Lin, *Axicabtagene ciloleucel CAR T-cell therapy in refractory large B-cell lymphoma*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2017. 377(26): p. 2531-2544.

CHAPTER 2: EFFECT OF TUMOR LYMPHANGIOGENESIS ON

CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPIES IN MURINE MAMMARY

TUMORS

2.1 Abstract

Tumor lymphangiogenesis has recently been shown to improve responsiveness to immunotherapies in melanoma and glioblastoma. However, its role in affecting anti-tumor immunity in breast cancer has remained unexplored. Here, I investigated whether induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis modulates the response to cancer immunotherapies in murine triple-negative mammary tumors. First, I demonstrated that in the 4T1 triple-negative model, induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis leads to increased recruitment of CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages into the TME. Second, I showed that upon treatment with CPI and an agonist of Stimulator of the Interferon Genes (STING) the lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors respond more favorably to the treatments. Third, I found that despite the increased distant organ metastasis in the lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumor-bearing mice, treatment with a systemic immunotherapy is able to overcome metastasis to the lung. Finally, I demonstrated that the lymphangiogenic potentiation is dependent on CD4+ T cells and macrophages as their depletion abrogates the benefit. These data exhibit that tumor lymphangiogenesis in murine triple-negative breast cancer improves responsiveness to immunotherapies.

2.2 Introduction

2.2.1 Lymphangiogenesis

In the embryonic phase, the lymphatic system starts developing by sprouting from the blood vasculature and generating the lymph sacs. Next, the peripheral lymphatics are formed from the lymph sacs, which then is followed by maturation of lymphatic capillaries [1]. The lymphatic capillaries lack basement membranes and have "button-like" junctions, as opposed to the continuous junctions in blood vessels, which allows them to transport the leukocytes and macromolecules in the lymph [2, 3]. Once differentiated from blood endothelial cells (BECs), LECs display expression of distinct markers including prospero-related homeodomain transcription factor Prox1, podoplanin (gp38), and lymphatic vessel hyaluronan receptor-1 (LYVE-1) [4].

The proliferation of the LECs lining the lymphatic vessels, termed lymphangiogenesis, is driven by the signaling of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 (VEGFR-3) [5] (**Fig. 2.1**). Lymphangiogenesis is induced upon stimulation of VEGFR-3 on LECs by vascular endothelial growth factors-C and-D (VEGF-C, VEGF-D) [6]. Post-embryonic development, lymphangiogenesis occurs only during pathologic conditions such as tumor growth and wound healing [7]. The cellular sources of VEGF-C in the tumor microenvironment include macrophages and tumor cells [8].



Figure 2.1. Molecular overview of lymphangiogenesis. Activation of VEGFR3 by VEGF-C/D growth factors drives lymphangiogenesis. Adapted from Tammela et al. [5].

2.2.2 Cancer immunotherapies in TNBC

Tumors with a strong pre-existing anti-tumor immunity have high numbers of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), high expression of PD-L1, and are called "T cell-inflamed" or simply "inflamed" [9]. On the other hand, some tumors either lack immune infiltrates or the infiltration is limited to the stroma around the tumor. These tumors are termed "immune-desert" or "immune-excluded", respectively [10]. Amongst breast cancer subtypes, TNBC and HER2⁺ tumors are more inflamed than hormone-sensitive breast cancer [11, 12]. Increased numbers of TILs in TNBC patients is considered a positive prognosis, since it leads to better overall survival (OS), even in the absence of adjuvant therapy [13, 14]. When treated with adjuvant chemotherapy, TIL counts positively correlate with disease-free survival [15]. Moreover, TNBC patients with an "inflamed" signature treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy had higher pathologic complete response (pCR) rates than "non-inflamed" patients [16-18]. Higher TILs also correlate with better clinical outcome in HER2⁺ patients, regardless of systemic adjuvant therapy [19]. The presence of TILs at diagnosis was a positive prognostic factor among 16,000 patients with TNBC and HER2⁺ breast cancers [20]. These studies demonstrate that higher immune infiltration in the TME in breast cancer is a positive prognostic factor in TNBC patients. Furthermore, it has been shown that TNBC tumors have higher levels of nonsynonymous mutations [21], which could give rise to tumorspecific neoantigens and a stronger anti-tumor T cell response [22]. These data, together with the existing correlation between TILs and responsiveness to immunotherapies in other cancer types [23], have driven the evaluation of various immunotherapies in TNBC patients in different clinical trials [24, 25].

In the case of immune checkpoint inhibitor monotherapy regimens, the efficacy of response in TNBC is relatively low. In a phase I trial assessing the safety and efficacy of pembrolizumab (α PD-1), advanced TNBC patients had objective response rates (ORR) of 18.5%, with some patients experiencing durable responses [26]. In a phase II study (KEYNOTE-086) evaluating the efficacy and safety of pembrolizumab, patients receiving the treatment as first-line therapy responded better than the patients who had prior chemotherapy treatment [27, 28]. However, the median OS or progression-free survival (PFS) in TNBC patients undergoing monotherapy of checkpoint inhibitor was not longer than historical data from patients treated with chemotherapy, which suggests defects in the early stages of cancer immunity cycle. These results were confirmed in the following phase III trial (KEYNOTE-119), in which monotherapy of pembrolizumab did not provide any benefit in OS or PFS of pretreated TNBC patients compared to standard chemotherapy [29]. Furthermore, single-agent trials of PD-L1 inhibitors in pretreated metastatic TNBC have also shown limited efficacy [30, 31]. These results encouraged the trial of other treatment modalities, such as chemotherapy, targeted therapy or radiation, in combination with checkpoint inhibitors to boost the immunogenicity in the tumor microenvironment [32].

Due to the enhancement of the immunogenic cell death by several chemotherapeutic agents [33], there are various trials combining chemotherapy with checkpoint inhibitors [24]. The phase III IMpassion130 trial, assessing nab-paclitaxel in combination with atezolizumab (α PD-L1) in untreated metastatic TNBC patients, demonstrated an increase in PFS in the combination arm, compared to the nab-paclitaxel/placebo arm (7.2 months vs. 5.5 months, P=.002) [34]. This study led to the FDA approval of this combination for metastatic TNBC, the first immunotherapy approval in breast cancer. Combination of immunotherapy and chemotherapy has shown promise in early stage TNBC patients. In a phase II trial (I-SPY2) pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy more than doubled the pCR compared to chemotherapy alone in early stage HER2⁻ breast cancer in the neoadjuvant setting [35].

Combination of targeted therapies and immunotherapies is also being explored in TNBC. Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors have been shown to activate the STING pathway and induce intratumoral T cell infiltration in BRCA-deficient murine models of TNBC [36]. The phase II TOPACIO trial found that the combination of PARP inhibitor niraparib with pembrolizumab has an ORR of 47% in advanced or metastatic TNBC with BRCA mutations [37], which is slightly lower than ORRs associated with single-agent PARP inhibitors [38]. Larger randomized trials of PARP inhibitor olaparib with atezolizumab (ETCTN) or durvalumab (DORA) are currently underway. The efficacy of AKT inhibitors is also being investigated in combination with checkpoint inhibitors. As a negative regulator of AKT, loss of tumor suppressor protein PTEN has been associated with anti-PD-1 resistance [39] and AKT inhibition has been shown to promote expansion of tumor-specific memory T cells [40]. A phase I trial of AKT inhibitor ipatasertib in combination with chemotherapy and anti-PD-L1 exhibited an ORR of 73% in a small patient cohort [41]. These results have led to current evaluation of AKT inhibitors in combination with checkpoint inhibitors in larger trials IPATunity130 and BEGONIA. Finally, inhibition of mitogenactivated protein kinase (MEK) in preclinical models has been shown to promote responsiveness to checkpoint inhibitors through upregulation of PD-L1 and MHC expression [42]. Current and future trials will determine if MEK inhibitors can synergize with checkpoint inhibitors to improve the clinical outcome of TNBC patients to immunotherapies.

Novel immunotherapies other than checkpoint inhibitors are also currently in clinical development. The efficacy of toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9) agonist SD-101, shown to induce type I interferon expression in APCs and boost CD8⁺ T cell activation [43], is being evaluated in the I-SPY2 trial in combination with chemotherapy and pembrolizumab in early-stage TNBC patients. Cancer vaccines including vaccines targeting over-expressed antigens in TNBC, such as PVX-410 vaccine targeting XBP1 and CD138 peptides [44], or neoantigen vaccines unique to each patient's tumor by predicting tumor-specific antigens using next-generation sequencing and epitope prediction are being explored in combination with checkpoint inhibitors [45]. Lastly, adoptive cell therapies, using expanded autologous TILs [46] or engineered chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells [47], are also in clinical trials for treatment of TNBC.

2.2.3 Role of tumor-associated lymphatics in anti-tumor immunity

It has been known that during cancer development, lymphatics in the TME proliferate and remodel together with the corresponding angiogenesis of blood vasculature [48]. Even though tumor angiogenesis has been demonstrated to exacerbate the anti-tumor immunity [49], the role of tumor-associated lymphatics is still being investigated. Tumor-associated lymphatics can modulate the anti-tumor immunity and cancer development both actively and passively. Tumor lymphatics connect the TME to the draining LNs, where the anti-tumor immunity is elicited, and thus are vital for mounting the adaptive immune response against tumor cells [50]. On the other hand, cancer cells metastasize to the lymph node by utilizing the tumor-associated lymphatics or inducing tumor lymphangiogenesis [51] (**Fig. 2.2**). In breast cancer patients, tumor lymphangiogensis has been correlated with increased metastasis rate and poor patient prognosis [52, 53].

LECs also actively regulate the anti-tumor immune response through secretion of chemokines and immunomodulatory molecules, which can recruit and modulate the activation status of immune cells [54]. For instance, LECs secrete the chemokine CCL21 which recruits CCR7⁺ cells to the lymph nodes, including leukocytes and some cancer cells [55, 56]. Moreover, tumor lymphatics are associated with immune suppression in the draining lymph nodes and metastasis by providing an escape route for immune-suppressive factors and tumor cells [57, 58].



Figure 2.2. Tumor-associated lymphatics and their involvement in metastasis. Secretion of lymphangiogenic growth factors in the TME leads to tumor lymphangiogenesis or lymphatic enlargement. These changes to the tumor-associated lymphatics promotes metastasis to the tumor-draining lymph nodes and distant organs. Adapted from Stacker et al. [48].

Despite the existing knowledge on the contribution of tumor-associated lymphatics to trafficking of immune cells, mounting of anti-tumor immunity and their involvement in distant organ metastasis, how tumor lymphangiogenesis affects immune responses in the context of cancer immunotherapies was not investigated until recently. It was demonstrated that tumor lymphangiogenesis in murine and human melanoma renders them more responsive to immunotherapies, an effect termed lymphangiogenic potentiation of immunotherapies [59]. This potentiation was not specific to the type of immunotherapy administered, as lymphangiogenic tumors responded more favorably to a cancer vaccine, checkpoint inhibition in combination with adjuvants and adoptive cell therapy. The mechanism was, at least partially, dependent on the recruitment of naïve T cells to the tumor microenvironment through the CCL21-CCR7 chemokine axis and their subsequent in situ education [59]. A recent study in our group also demonstrated that a lymphangiogenic cell-based cancer vaccine is able to promote anti-tumor immunity in murine melanoma models [60]. Lymphangiogenic potentiation has also been observed in glioblastoma, where an increase in VEGF-C signaling led to the recruitment of CD8⁺ T cells, clearance of tumors and a long-lasting anti-tumor immunity [61]. The role of tumor lymphangiogenesis in shaping anti-tumor immune responses upon treatment with immunotherapies in breast cancer, however, remains unexplored.

2.2. Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Mice

Wild-type (WT) C57BL/6 were purchased from The Charles River Laboratories. FVB/NJ and BALB/cJ mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory. Homozygous B6.129S7-Rag^{1tm1Mom/J} mice were obtained from The Jackson Laboratory. The mice were crossed with WT C57BL/6 mice to generate heterozygous offspring and then the line was maintained by crossing homozygous mice with heterozygous ones. The heterozygous littermates were used as control mice for *in vivo* experiments. All the mice used in the experiments were female and 8-12 weeks old at the start of experiments. All animal experimentations were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Chicago protocol #72551.

2.2.2 Genotyping

Tail clips or ear punch biopsies were used for DNA extraction. PCR was performed for WT Rag1 gene using forward primer TCT GGA CTT GCC TCC TCT GT and reverse primer CAT TCC ATC GCA AGA CTC CT.

2.2.3 Cell lines

EMT6, E0771 and 4T1 cell lines were obtained from ATCC and maintained in RPMI Lglutamate (Gibco) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS, Invitrogen). MMTV-PyMT (PyMT) cells were generated from spontaneously developed breast tumors in FVB-Tg (MMTV-PyVT) transgenic mice and cultured in DMEM (Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS. Cell lines were routinely tested for mycoplasma contamination.

2.2.4 Plasmid DNA amplification and purification

The pD2109-mVEGFC vector, which contains the sequence for murine VEGFC cDNA (GeneID 22341), was purchased from DNA2.0 (Newark, California) and the corresponding control

lentiviral vector, designated as pD2109-control, was generated by excision of the VEGF-C sequence from the vector using restriction enzyme digestion. For plasmid amplification, E. coli were transformed at 42°C for 45 seconds and plated on LB-agar plates with 50 µg/ml kanamycin to obtain single colonies. After overnight incubation at 37°C, a few antibiotic-resistant colonies were selected and amplified in 500 ml of LB-kanamycin at 37°C and 225 rpm for 16-20 hours. The plasmids were then isolated using NucleoBond Xtra Plasmid Maxiprep Kit (Machery-Nagel) and the sequence of the plasmids were confirmed using DNA sequencing prior to lentiviral vector production.

2.2.5 Production of lentiviral vectors

Human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293T cells (ATCC) were co-transfected in the presence of 125 mM calcium chloride with 32 µg of either transfer plasmid pD2109-mVEGFC or pD2109control, respectively, as well as 12.5 µg and 6.25 µg packaging plasmids pMDL9/pRRE and pRSV-Rev (gifts of D. Trono, Addgene plasmids #12251 and #12253), and 9 µg envelope plasmid pMD2 (gift of D. Trono, Addgene plasmid #12259) to yield third-generation pseudo-lentiviral particles. To increase the efficiency of lentiviral vector production, 15 µg of pAdvantage vector (Promega) was added during the procedure.

2.2.6 Transduction and selection of murine breast cancer cell lines

To generate VEGF-C overexpressing and control cell lines, cells were transduced using lentiviruses carrying pD2109-EFs_mVEGF-C and pD2109-EFs empty vectors, respectively (ATUM). The transduced cells were then selected based on the expression of puromycin resistance. The expression of VEGF-C by each cell line was assessed *in vitro*. Briefly, 100,000 cells were seeded in a tissue-cultured 12-well flat-bottom plate (Corning) in 2 ml media for 24 hrs and the secreted VEGF-C was measured using ELISA (R&D Systems).

2.2.7 Tumor inoculation and measurements

After culturing, cells were detached using Trypsin (Invitrogen) and resuspended in sterile PBS prior to orthotopic inoculation into the right 4th mammary fat pad (MFP) of the female mice (40 µl/injection). Number of cells injected for each cell line was: 2×10^5 for each of 4T1 and EMT6 cells in BALB/cJ mice, 3×10^5 E0771 cells in C57BL/6 mice and 1×10^6 PyMT cells in FVB/NJ mice. Tumors were measured using a digital caliper and the volume (V) was calculated using the following formula: $V = (\pi/6) \times \text{length} \times \text{height} \times \text{width}$. Mice were euthanized when the tumor volume reached 500 mm³ or based on the humane endpoint criteria.

2.2.8 Immunotherapies

Treatment of mice for each group was started when the average size of tumors in that group was ~100 mm³, unless otherwise stated. For experiments when an endpoint analysis was performed, in order to administer and euthanize the mice on the same day for both tumor types, 4T1-Ctrl tumors (due to their slower tumor growth rate) were inoculated 2 days earlier than 4T1-VC tumors. When treating mice with checkpoint inhibitors, sterile PBS or a combination of 100 μ g α PD-1 (clone 29F.1A12, Bio X Cell) and 100 μ g α CTLA-4 (clone 9H10, Bio X Cell) with PBS were administered intraperitoneally (i.p.) in a volume of 100 μ l according to the schedules described in the figure legends. When treating mice with STING agonist, sterile PBS or 25 ug of ADU-S100 (ChemieTek) with PBS was administered intratumorally (i.t.) in a volume of 15 μ l according to the schedules described in the figure legends.

2.2.9 Depletion and blocking antibodies

For the depletion study, the following anti-mouse antibodies were administered intraperitoneally every 3 days from the day of tumor inoculation for a total of 5 doses: 200 ug α CD4 (clone GK1.5, Bio X Cell) and 300 ug α CSF1R (clone AFS98, Bio X Cell). Mice were then

treated with STING agonist as shown in the corresponding figure. Mice were bled at day 14 post tumor inoculation, and the frequency of the circulating immune cells was assessed by flow cytometry. For blocking of TGF- β , 200 µg of α TGF- β antibody (clone 1D11, Bio X Cell) was administered every other day to tumor-bearing mice.

2.2.10 Production and purification of A3-VEGF-C (A3-VC)

The sequence encoding the fusion of human von Willebrand factor (VWF) A3 domain and mouse VEGF-C (A3-VC) (Table 2.1) was synthesized and subcloned into the mammalian expression vector pcDNA3.1(+) by GenScript. A sequence encoding 6×His was added at the C terminus for further purification of the recombinant protein. Suspension-adapted human embryonic kidney-293F cells were routinely maintained in serum-free FreeStyle 293 Expression Medium (Gibco). On the day of transfection, cells were inoculated into fresh medium at a density of 1×10^6 cells/ml. Plasmid DNA (1 µg/ml), linear 25-kDa polyethylenimine (2 µg/ml; Polysciences), and OptiPRO SFM medium (4% final concentration; Thermo Fisher Scientific) were sequentially added. The culture flask was agitated by orbital shaking at 135 rpm at 37°C in the presence of 5% CO2. Six days after transfection, the cell culture medium was collected by centrifugation and filtered through a 0.22-µm filter. Culture medium was loaded into a HisTrap HP 5 ml column (GE Healthcare), using an ÄKTA pure 25 (GE Healthcare). After washing the column with wash buffer [20 mM imidazole, 20 mM NaH2PO4, and 0.5 M NaCl (pH 7.4)], protein was eluted with a gradient of 500 mM imidazole [in 20 mM NaH2PO4 and 0.5 M NaCl (pH 7.4)]. The eluate was further purified with size exclusion chromatography using a HiLoad Superdex 200 pg column (GE Healthcare). All purification steps were carried out at 4°C. After the purification, SDS-PAGE was carried out on 4-20% gradient gels (Bio-Rad) by loading the gel with proteins in non-reducing conditions. After running electrophoresis, gels were stained with SimplyBlue

SafeStain (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instruction. The ChemiDoc XRS+ system (Bio-Rad) was used to acquire gel images.

2.2.11 Characterization and administration of A3-VC

After purification, the binding affinity of A3-VC to collagen and its bioactivity was assessed as described here. Briefly, medium binding 96-well plates were coated with 10 µg/ml of collagen I or collagen III (EMD Millipore) in PBS at 37°C overnight. Wells were then blocked with 1% BSA in PBS for 2 hrs, washed with PBS with 0.05% Tween 20 (PBS-T), followed by incubation with A3-VC or wildtype VEGF-C (WT-VC) in PBS for 1 hr at room temperature (RT). After washing with PBS-T, wells were incubated with biotinylated antibody against VEGF-C (R&D Systems) at 100 ng/ml for 1 hr at RT. Then, wells were incubated with horseradish peroxide (HRP)-conjugated streptavidin (R&D Systems) for 1 hr at RT, further washed with PBS-T and then bound A3-VC or WT-VC were detected using tetramethylbenzidine substrate by measurement of the absorbance at 450 nm with subtraction of the measurement at 570 nm. The apparent dissociation constant (K_D) values were obtained by nonlinear regression analysis in Prism software (v8, GraphPad Software) assuming one-site specific binding.

To assess the bioactivity of A3-VC, human LECs (hLECs) isolated from foreskin were cultured in dishes coated with 50 µg/ml rat tail collagen and in endothelial cell growth basal medium (EBM; Lonza), supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% penicillin/streptomycin-amphotericin B, 50 µM dibutyryl-cAMP, 1µg/mL hydrocortisone acetate (Sigma Aldrich), and 2 mM L-glutamine. hLECs were then starver in 1% BSA overnight and treated with 200 ng/ml of WT-VC (Abcam), A3-VC or PBS for 20 mins. Cells were then immediately washed, lysed and phosphorylation of VEGFR-3 was assessed by ELISA (R&D Systems). For induction of tumor

lymphangiogenesis *in vivo*, 3 ug of A3-VC per dose was administrated intratumorally in PBS according to the schedules in the figures.

2.2.12 Tissue digestion

At the experimental endpoint mice were euthanized, and different organs were isolated and digested as described here. Briefly, tumors were weighed and cut into small pieces with a scissor and then digested in 750 µl DMEM with 2% FBS, 1 mg/ml Collagenase IV (Worthington Biochemical), 40 µg/ml DNAse I (Worthington Biochemical) and 1.2 mM CaCl₂ for 30 mins at 37°C with magnetic stirring. Then the samples were pipetted 10 times and 750 µl of 3.3 mg/ml Collagenase D (Sigma), 40 µg/ml DNAse I and 1.2 mM CaCl₂ in DMEM with 2% FBS was added to each sample. They were then digested for another 15 mins. The samples were pipetted another 10 times and EDTA was added to a final concentration of 5 mM. Finally, single cell suspensions were prepared by filtering through a 70 µm cell strainer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). For lung analysis, mice were euthanized and perfused with 10 ml PBS through the left ventricle of the heart. The lung lobes were then isolated and cut by a scissor into small pieces. The pieces were then digested in 5 ml DMEM with 5% FBS, 3.3 mg/ml Collagenase D, 1 mg/ml Collagenase IV, 20 µg/ml DNAse I and 1.2 mM CaCl₂ for 1 hour at 37°C on a shaking stand. After using 5mM EDTA to quench the media, single cell suspensions were prepared using a 70 µm cell strainer. Red blood cells were lysed with 1 ml ACK buffer for 90 seconds and neutralized with 10 ml DMEM media with 5% FBS. For analyzing blood, 50 µl of blood was collected from the saphenous vein into EDTA-coated tubes (Eppendorf). Samples were washed with PBS and centrifuged at 300 g for 5 mins and then red blood cells in the samples were lysed using ACK lysis buffer (three 90-second incubations). For splenocyte analysis, single cell suspensions were prepared by mashing the spleens through a 70 µm strainer with a plunger and washing with DMEM with 2% FBS.

2.2.13 Flow cytometry

After preparing single cell suspensions, cells were counted, and 1 to 2 million cells were stained for each panel. The staining was done on ice in 96-well round bottom plates (Corning) and Fc receptor blocking was performed using CD16/32 antibody for 15 mins. The staining for antibodies against surface markers was done in PBS buffer with 2% FBS for 20 mins. For intranuclear/intracellular staining, cells were stained using the an intranuclear kit according to the manufacturer's protocol (00-5523-00, Thermo Fisher Scientific). The following anti-mouse antibodies were used for staining: CCR7 APC (clone 4B12, BioLegend), CD45 APC-Cy7 (clone 30-F11, BioLegend), CD45 BV785 (clone 30-F11, BioLegend), CD3e BUV395 (clone 145-2C11, BD Biosciences), Foxp3 AF488 (clone MF23, BD Biosciences), CD25 APC-Cy7 (clone PC61, BioLegend), CD62L BUV737 (clone MEL-14, BD Biosciences), CD69 PE-Cy7 (clone H1.2F3, BioLegend), CD103 PE (clone 2E7, BioLegend), CD31 BV421 (clone 390, BioLegend), gp38 AF488 (clone 8.1.1, BioLegend), CD8a BV510 (clone 53-6.7, BioLegend), CD4 BV421 (clone RM4-5, BioLegend), CD4 BV785 (clone RM4-5, BioLegend), CD44 PerCP-Cy5.5 (clone IM7, BioLegend), PD-1 BV605 (clone 29F.1A12, BioLegend), Perforin PE (cloneS16009B, BioLegend), KLRG1 APC (clone 2F1, BioLegend), CD86 BUV396 (clone GL-1, BD Biosciences), F4/80 FITC (clone MCA497F, AbD Serotec), CD206 PE (cloneC068C2, BioLegend), CD11c PE-Cy7 (clone N418, BioLegend), CD11b BUV737 (clone M1/70, BD Biosciences), CD80 BUV737 (clone 16-10A1, BD Biosciences), CD19 BUV395 (clone 1D3, BD Biosciences), Ly6G BV510 (clone 1A8, BioLegend), Ly6C BV605 (clone HK1.4, BioLegend), MHCII PerCP-Cy5.5 (clone, M5/114.15.2, BioLegend), IL-2 PE (clone JES6-5H4, BioLegend), GrB APC/Fire 750 (clone QA16A02, BioLegend), IFNy APC (clone XMG1.2, BioLegend), TNFa FITC (clone MP6-XT22, BioLegend). The fixable viability dye eFluor 455UV dye (65-0868-14, eBioscience) was used for determining cell viability. Flow cytometry data was acquired on LSR Fortessa X-20 (BD Biosciences) and analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star).

2.2.14 Intratumoral cytokine-producing T cells

4T1-Ctrl tumor cells were inoculated into WT mice two days prior to 4T1-VC tumor cells. Once tumors were established, mice were treated with two i.p. doses of PBS or CPI every 3 days and the mice were euthanized at day 6 after the start of treatment and their tumors were isolated for analysis. Tumor single cell suspensions were prepared and seeded at 5×10^5 per well in 96well round bottom plates with the addition of AH1 peptide (SPSYVYHQF) at 1 µg/ml and incubated at 37°C for 3 hrs. Then, brefeldin A at 5 µg/ml was added to each well and the samples were incubated at 37°C for an additional 9 hrs. The samples were then washed with PBS and the frequency of intratumoral cytokine-producing T cells was assessed by flow cytometry.

2.2.15 Antigen-specific re-stimulation

4T1-Ctrl tumor cells were inoculated into WT mice two days prior to 4T1-VC tumor cells. Once tumors were established, mice were treated with two doses of PBS (i.p.), CPI (i.p.) or a combination of CPI (i.p.) and STING agonist (i.t.) every 3 days and the mice were euthanized at day 6 after the start of treatment and their spleens were isolated for analysis. Splenocytes were isolated and seeded at 5×10^5 per well in 96-well round bottom plates and cultured at 37° C for 3 hrs in the presence and absence of AH1 peptide (SPSYVYHQF) at 1 µg/ml. Then, brefeldin A at 5 µg/ml was added to each well and the samples were incubated at 37° C for an additional 9 hrs. The samples were then washed with PBS and intracellular cytokine expression by T cells was assessed using flow cytometry.

2.2.16 Immunofluorescence staining

Tissues were fixed in formalin-free zinc fixative (Bd Biosciences) for 2 days and then incubated in 15% and 30% sucrose solutions in Tris-buffered saline (TBS), each for 2 days. The samples were then embedded in Optimum Cutting Temperature compound and frozen on dry ice. A cryostat (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used to obtain 7 µm sections. The sections were then rinsed with TBS and blocked with 0.5% casein in TBS for 30 mins at room temperature. They were then incubated with primary antibodies (1:200 dilution) in blocking solution for 1 hr at room temperature, followed by washing twice with TBS + 0.1% Tween20 (TBS-T) and once with TBS. Next, the sections were stained with secondary antibodies (1:400 dilution) for 1 hr at RT, followed washing twice with TBS-T and once with TBS. The sections were then covered with Prolong Gold Antifade reagent with DAPI (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and sealed with a coverslip. The following primary and secondary antibodies were used for immunostaining: rabbit anti-mouse LYVE-1 (Abcam), rat anti-mouse CD3 (Bio-Rad), Armenian hamster anti-mouse CD11c (Bio-Rad), goat anti-Armenian hamster AF647 (Jackson ImmunoResearch Inc.), donkey anti-rat AF594 (Jackson ImmunoResearch Inc.), goat anti-rabbit AF488 (Jackson ImmunoResearch Inc.). An IX83 microscope (Olympus) was used for imaging with a 10X magnification objective. Image processing was performed using ImageJ software (NIH).

2.2.17 Intratumoral cytokine/chemokine analysis

4T1-Ctrl tumor cells were inoculated into WT mice two days prior to 4T1-VC tumor cells. Once tumors were established, mice were treated with one dose of PBS (i.t.) or STING agonist (i.t.) mice were euthanized 2 days later and their tumors were isolated for analysis. After isolation, tumors were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. Tumors were then resuspended in T-PER Tissue Protein Extraction Reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific) supplemented with Halt Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and cut into smaller pieces with a scissor. Samples were then homogenized, and lysates were spun down at 14,000 g for 10 mins at 4°C. The protein content in the supernatants were then measured by BCA (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Intratumoral cytokines and chemokines were then quantified (as pg per µg of protein in each sample) using ELISA (PBL Assay Science) or LEGENDPlex kits (BioLegend) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

2.2.18 Quantification of metastatic nodules

4T1-Ctrl tumor cells were inoculated into WT mice two days prior to 4T1-VC tumor cells. Once tumors were established, mice were treated with PBS (3 doses, i.t.) or a combination of CPI (5 doses, i.p.) and STING agonist (3 doses, i.t.) every 3 days and the mice were euthanized at day 15 after the start of treatment and their lungs were isolated for analysis. Mice were perfused with 10 ml PBS and the lung lobes were excised and fixed in Bouin's fixative (Sigma-Aldrich) overnight. The samples were then washed, and the metastatic nodules were counted by eye.

2.2.19 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Prism v.8 (GraphPad). Data on tumor growth curves are shown as mean \pm SEM and on bar graphs as mean \pm SD. Unless otherwise specified, the following statistical tests were used: two-tailed Student's t-test with Welch's correction for comparison of 2 groups with parametric data, two-tailed Mann-Whitney U-test for comparison of 2 groups with non-parametric data, one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparison test for analysis of multiple groups with parametric data and Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test for analysis of multiple groups with non-parametric data. Survival curves were analyzed using log-rank (Mantel-Cox) tests. P values were reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Tumor lymphangiogenesis increases immune infiltration into triple-negative mammary tumors

In order to study the role of tumor lymphangiogenesis on modulating the responsiveness to cancer immunotherapies, first I had to model lymphangiogenic tumors in vivo and characterize their tumor microenvironment. Thus, to induce lymphangiogenesis, I transduced the triplenegative 4T1 cell line with a lentiviral VEGF-C or control vector, termed 4T1-VC or 4T1-Ctrl, respectively. I confirmed the increased expression of VEGF-C in 4T1-VC tumor cells in vitro (Fig. 2.3 A). Then, I inoculated the 4T1-Ctrl and 4T1-VC cells orthotopically into mammary fatpads (MFP) of WT BALB/cJ mice. Analysis of the tumors at day 21 showed that over-expression of VEGF-C in 4T1 cells also led to increased VEGF-C levels in vivo and subsequent induction of lymphatic vessels in the tumor, as assed by ELISA and immunostaining for lymphatic marker LYVE-1 (Fig. 2.3 B-C). Next, I quantified the frequency of stromal cells in the tumor microenvironment by flow cytometry. The analysis confirmed an increase in the frequency of LECs, together with an increase in blood endothelial cells (BECs) (Fig. 2.3 D-E). However, there was no difference in the frequency of gp38⁺CD31⁻ cells, which include cancer-associated fibroblasts. These data confirm that over-expression of VEGF-C in the tumor cells results in tumor lymphangiogenesis in vivo.



Figure 2.3. Over-expression of VEGF-C in triple-negative mammary tumors induces tumor lymphangiogenesis. 4T1 tumors cells were virally transduced with a VEGF-C or control vector and orthotopically inoculated into MFP of WT mice. Mice were euthanized for analysis at day 21. (A) Quantification of *in vitro* VEGF-C expression by tumors cells assayed by ELISA. (B) Intratumoral expression of VEGF-C *in vivo* assayed by ELISA. (C) Representative immunostaining images of intratumoral lymphatic vessels. Blue: DAPI, Green: LYVE-1. Scale bar: 200 μ m. (D) Representative distribution of stromal cells in the TME using flow cytometry. (E) Flow cytometry analysis of intratumoral LECs (CD45⁻gp38⁺CD31⁺), BECs (CD45⁻gp38⁺ CD31⁺) and CD45⁻gp38⁺CD31⁻ cells as % of live cells (n=8). Data are mean ± SD (B-D). Flow cytometry analyses were performed twice with similar results. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired two-tailed t-tests with Welch correction for parametric data or two-tailed Mann-Whitney test for nonparametric data. P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

Next, we characterized the immune infiltration into the tumors (Fig. 2S1-2). In the absence of any treatment, 4T1-VC tumors showed higher infiltration of tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) than control tumors, and the ratio of M1 (MHCII⁺CD206⁻) to M2 (CD206⁺) macrophages had decreased upon over-expression of VEGF-C (Fig. 2.4 A). The percentage of CD86⁺MHCII⁺ macrophages was also lower in the lymphangiogenic tumors. A lower M1/M2 ratio has been shown to be a negative prognostic factor and correlate with reduced survival in multiple cancers, including gastric cancer, ovarian cancer, advanced cervical cancer, and multiple myeloma [62-65]. Lymphangiogenic tumors also exhibited higher quantities of the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10 (Fig. 2.4 B). However, both tumor types had similar numbers of dendritic cell (DC) infiltration, monocytic myeloid cells and granulocytic myeloid cells (Fig. 2.4 C). Characterization of T cell infiltration showed that 4T1-VC tumors had higher infiltration of conventional (conv) CD4⁺ T cells and regulatory T (T_{reg}) cells (Fig. 2.4 D). However, both groups exhibited similar levels of CD8⁺ T cell infiltration in the tumor, which led to a higher ratio of effector CD8⁺ T cells, usually considered cytotoxic T cells (CTLs), to T_{reg} cells in the 4T1-Ctrl tumors compared to 4T1-VC tumors (Fig. 2.4 E). These results show that lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors are more enriched in conv CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages. Furthermore, the higher number of T_{reg} cells, a lower M1/M2 ratio, and a higher concentration of IL-10 in the lymphangiogenic tumors suggests a more immunosuppressed TME, which is consistent with previous studies in murine models of melanoma [57, 58].



Figure 2.4. Lymphangiogenic triple-negative mammary tumors are enriched with immunosuppressive macrophages and CD4⁺ T cells. 4T1-Ctrl and 4T1-VC were orthotopically inoculated into MFP of WT mice. Mice were euthanized and tumors were isolated for analysis at day 15. (A) Flow cytometry analysis of macrophages (CD45⁺Ly6G⁻Ly6C⁻CD11b⁺F4/80⁺), frequency of CD86⁺MHCII⁺ macrophages, and ratio of M1 (MHCII⁺CD206⁻) to M2 (CD206⁺) macrophages (n=5). (B) Quantification of intratumoral IL-10 as assayed by ELISA (n=3-5). (C) Flow cytometry analysis of DCs (CD45⁺Ly6G⁻Ly6C⁻CD11c⁺MHCII⁺), monocytic myeloid cells (CD45⁺CD11b⁺Ly6G⁻Ly6C⁺) and granulocytic myeloid cells (CD45⁺CD11b⁺Ly6G⁺) (n=5). (D) Flow cytometry analysis of conv CD4⁺ T cells (CD45⁺CD3⁺CD8⁻CD4⁺Foxp3⁻CD25⁻) and CD8⁺ T cells (CD45⁺CD3⁺CD4⁻) (n=8-10). (E) Flow cytometry analysis of T_{reg} cells (CD45⁺CD3⁺CD8⁻CD4⁺Foxp3⁺CD25⁺) and ratio of effector CD8⁺ T cells (CD44⁺CD62L⁻) to T_{reg} cells (n=8-10). Data are mean \pm SD. Flow cytometry analyses were either performed twice with similar results (A, C), or data were compiled from two independent experiments (D-E). Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired two-tailed t-tests with Welch correction for parametric data or two-tailed Mann-Whitney test for nonparametric data. P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P <0.01, ***P < 0.001.

Further characterization of the T cells showed that lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors have higher percentages of naïve cells than their control counterparts amongst both conv CD4⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ T cells (**Fig 2.5 A-B**). This can be attributed to the recruitment of CCR7⁺ naïve T cells to the TME due to increased expression of chemokine CCL21 by LECs, which was previously observed in murine melanoma models [56, 59].



Figure 2.5. Lymphangiogenic triple-negative mammary tumors have higher percentages of naïve T cells. 4T1-Ctrl and 4T1-VC were orthotopically inoculated into MFP of WT mice. Mice were euthanized for analysis at day 15. (A) Representative distribution of T cell phenotypes in the TME using flow cytometry: naïve (CD62L⁺CD44⁻), effector (CD62L⁻CD44⁺), central memory (CM) (CD62L⁺CD44⁺) and double-negative (DN) (CD62L⁻CD44⁻). (B) Phenotype quantification of conv CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in the TME using flow cytometry (n=8-10). Data are mean \pm SD. Flow cytometry data were compiled from two independent experiments (B). Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired two-tailed t-tests with Welch correction for parametric data or two-tailed Mann-Whitney test for nonparametric data. P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

2.3.2 Lymphangiogenic triple-negative mammary tumors respond more favorably to cancer immunotherapies

Since 4T1-VC tumors had higher infiltration of conv CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages than their control counterparts, we investigated if treating them with immunotherapies would elicit a stronger immune response and improve the efficacy of the treatment. Despite the pro-tumorigenic phenotype of these macrophages in the lymphangiogenic tumors, we hypothesized that treatment with an innate immunity agonist would be able to repolarize those macrophages into a proinflammatory phenotype [66]. We first treated the tumors with ML-RR-S2 CDA (also known as ADU-S100), an agonist of the Stimulator of the Interferon Genes (STING) previously described to induce a strong anti-tumor immunity through expression of interferon- β (IFN- β) by antigenpresenting cells (including macrophages and DCs) that is currently in clinical trials [67, 68]. Treatment of the 4T1-VC tumors with STING agonist resulted in a stronger response demonstrated both by a four-fold reduction in tumor size and longer survival than 4T1-Ctrl tumor-bearing mice (Fig. 2.6 A). We next asked if lymphangiogenesis would improve responsiveness to the clinically used CPI combination of aCTLA-4 and aPD-1. Consistent with previous reports, 4T1 control tumors did not respond to CPI treatment, whereas CPI reduced tumor growth and increased survival in the lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors [69] (Fig. 2.6 B). These results demonstrate that the induction of lymphangiogenesis in the TME of 4T1-VC tumors renders them more responsive to different cancer immunotherapies.



Figure 2.6. Induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis improves responsiveness of triplenegative mammary tumors to CPI and STING agonist treatment. 4T1-Ctrl and 4T1-VC tumor-bearing mice were treated with different immunotherapies or PBS once the tumors in each group reached an average size of 100 mm³. (A) Tumor growth and survival curves of mice treated with STING agonist (n=7-9). (B) Tumor growth and survival curves of mice treated with CPI (n=5-6). Data are mean \pm SEM. Experiments were performed twice with similar results. Statistical analyses were performed using two-tailed Mann-Whitney test (A), Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test (B) and log-rank (Mantel–Cox) test for survival curves (A-B). P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

2.3.3 Tumor lymphangiogenesis increases conv CD4⁺ T cell and cross-presenting dendritic

cell infiltration into the tumor microenvironment after immunotherapy treatment

In order to identify the key changes in the TME after immunotherapy treatment in control vs. lymphangiogenic tumors, we characterized the intratumoral immune infiltrates after treatment with STING agonist by flow cytometry. To ensure that the observed differences were mediated through the STING pathway, we measured the levels of intratumoral IFN-β two days after treatment with STING agonist. The three-fold increase in IFN-β expression in the 4T1-VC tumors indeed demonstrated that the enhanced immunity in these tumors is mediated by the STING signaling pathway (**Fig. 2.7 A**). Over-expression of VEGF-C in 4T1 tumors elicited a stronger immune response demonstrated by pronounced activation of both the innate and adaptive arms of immunity. In contrast to macrophage infiltration in the absence of immunotherapy, VEGF-C over-expressing 4T1 tumors exhibited similar levels of pro-inflammatory CD86⁺MHCII⁺ macrophages and ratio of M1/M2 macrophages as the control tumors (**Fig. 2.7 B**). Importantly, 4T1-VC tumors were infiltrated with more DCs and had higher percentage of cross-presenting CD103⁺ DCs, shown to play a critical role in the priming of CD8⁺ T cells [70] (**Fig. 2.7 C**). 4T1-VC tumors also showed a trend towards fewer monocytic myeloid cells, and an increase towards more granulocytic myeloid cells (**Fig. 2.7 D**).

Analysis of the adaptive immune response showed that 4T1-VC tumors had higher infiltration of T cells, including more conv CD4⁺ T cells and a trend towards more CD8⁺ T cells (**Fig. 2.7 E-F**). With similar levels of T_{reg} cell infiltration, 4T1-VC tumors had higher ratio of effector CD8⁺ T cells to T_{reg} cells (**Fig. 2.7 G**), which has been reported to act as a favorable prognostic factor in breast cancer [71]. Notably, the effector CD8⁺ T cells had lower expression of PD-1 in the 4T1-VC tumors than control tumors (**Fig. 2.7 G**), demonstrating a less exhausted state [72]. These results show that upon treatment with STING agonist, the TME in lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors switches from an immunosuppressed state to an immunogenic environment, which enhances responsiveness to the therapy.



Figure 2.7. Lymphangiogenic tumors have higher tumor infiltration of CD4⁺ T cells and dendritic cells after STING agonist treatment. Lymphangiogenic and control 4T1 tumorbearing mice were treated with either one dose (A; n=5-6) or two doses of STING agonist and euthanized for analysis at day 15 post tumor inoculation (B-G; n=7). (A) Tumor-bearing mice were euthanized 2 days after one does of STING agonist treatment and IFN- β expression was assessed by ELISA.
Figure 2.7, continued. (B) Flow cytometry analysis of macrophages, frequency of CD86⁺MHCII⁺ macrophages and ratio of M1 to M2 macrophages. (C) Flow cytometry analysis of DCs and percentage of cross-presenting DCs (CD103⁺CD11b⁻). (D) Flow cytometry analysis of monocytic and granulocytic myeloid cells. (E) Representative immunostaining images of intratumoral CD3⁺ and CD11c⁺ cells. blue: DAPI, green: LYVE-1, red: CD3, gray: CD11c. Scale bar: 200 μ m. (F) Flow cytometry analysis of conv CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells and T_{reg} cells. (G) Flow cytometry analysis of ratio of effector CD8⁺ T cells to T_{reg} cells and frequency of PD-1⁺ effector CD8⁺ T cells. Data are mean ± SD. Flow cytometry analyses were performed twice with similar results. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired two-tailed t-tests with Welch correction for parametric data or two-tailed Mann-Whitney test for nonparametric data. P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

I also characterized the intratumoral immune infiltrates after treatment of the tumors with CPI. Similarly to the results in the absence of treatment, lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors had more conv CD4⁺ T cells and T_{reg} cells than control tumors, but there was no significant difference in CD8⁺ T cell numbers (**Fig. 2.8A**). However, the percentage of perforin⁺ CD8⁺ T cells was higher in 4T1-VC tumors than in 4T1-Ctrl tumors (**Fig. 2.8B**). Lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors had higher levels of macrophages than control tumors, most of which showing an M2 phenotype (**Fig. 2.8C**). Despite similar numbers of DC infiltration, the percentage of cross-presenting CD103⁺ DCs was higher in 4T1-VC tumors (**Fig. 2.8D**). Finally, there were no significant difference in the numbers of monocytic myeloid cells between the two groups, but lymphangiogenic tumors contained more granulocytic myeloid cells after CPI treatment (**Fig. 2.8E**).



Figure 2.8. Lymphangiogenic tumors have higher tumor infiltration of CD4⁺ T cells and cross-presenting CD103⁺ dendritic cells after CPI treatment. Lymphangiogenic and control 4T1 tumor-bearing mice were treated with two doses of CPI and euthanized for analysis 6 days after the start of treatment. (A) Flow cytometry analysis of conv CD4⁺ T cells, T_{reg} cells and CD8⁺ T cells (n=13-16). (B) Percentage of perforin-expressing CD8⁺ T cells (n=13-16). (C) Flow cytometry analysis of macrophages and ratio of M1 to M2 macrophages (n=7-9). (D) Flow cytometry analysis of DCs and percentage of cross-presenting DCs (CD103⁺CD11b⁻) (n=7-9). (E) Flow cytometry analysis of monocytic and granulocytic myeloid cells (n=7-9). Data are mean \pm SD. Flow cytometry analyses were either pooled from two independent experiments (A) or performed twice with similar results (B-E). Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired two-tailed t-tests with Welch correction for parametric data or two-tailed Mann-Whitney test for nonparametric data. P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

2.3.4 Treatment with immunotherapy repolarizes the TME in lymphangiogenic mammary tumors from an immunosuppressive state into an immunogenic one

In order to further understand the changes in the TME in lymphangiogenic mammary tumors after treatment with immunotherapies, I characterized the intratumoral chemokine profile, which is critical in orchestrating a potent anti-tumor immunity [73, 74]. I treated the 4T1-Ctrl and 4T1-VC tumors with STING agonist and euthanized the mice for analysis of the intratumoral chemokines. Lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors expressed higher levels of CCL2, CCL3 and CCL5, all of which have been shown to be important in recruiting monocytes and macrophages [73, 75, 76], than control tumors after STING treatment (**Fig. 2.9 A**). Notably, after STING treatment 4T1-VC tumors contained more CCL4 than 4T1-Ctrl tumors, a chemokine that plays a major role in recruiting Treg cells [78, 79], was reduced in both tumor types after STING treatment (**Fig. 2.9 C**).

Importantly, expression of CXCL1 was reduced after treatment with STING agonist in lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors and was lower than in control tumors (**Fig. 2.9 D**). Previous studies have demonstrated that CXCL1, mainly produced by TAMs, promotes metastasis in colorectal and breast cancer models [80, 81]. Lymphangiogenic tumors showed higher levels of CXCL5 after therapy, known to recruit myeloid-derived cells to the TME (**Fig. 2.9 E**) [82]. Strikingly, 4T1-VC tumors contained less CXCL10, which is correlated with potent anti-tumor T cell response [83], than control tumors in the absence of treatment, but exhibited a significant increase upon treatment with STING agonist (**Fig. 2.9 F**). Lastly, it has been shown that CXCL13 is over-expressed in breast tumors and positively correlates with metastasis [84]. Interestingly, lymphangiogenic 4T1



tumors exhibited lower levels of CXCL13 after STING treatment compared to nonlymphangiogenic tumors (Fig. 2.9 G).

Figure 2.9. Induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis in triple-negative mammary tumors alters the chemokine expression profile in the tumor microenvironment after immunotherapy. 4T1-Ctrl and 4T1-VC tumor-bearing mice were treated with one dose of STING agonist and euthanized 2 days later for analysis (n=5-7). Intratumoral expression of (A) CCL2, CCL3, CCL4, (B) CCL5, (C) CCL22, (D) CXCL1, (E) CXCL5, (F) CXCL10 and (G) CXCL13 using LegendPlex. Data are mean \pm SD. Experiment was performed once on independent biological samples. Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test for parametric data and Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test for nonparametric data. P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P <0.01, ***P < 0.001.

2.3.5 Treatment with immunotherapy leads to enrichment of IFN γ^+ CD8⁺ T cells in lymphangiogenic mammary tumors

Next, I characterized the cytokine profile in the TME to further delineate the mechanism behind lymphangiogenic potentiation in 4T1 triple-negative tumors. Due to the critical role of interferon- γ (IFN γ) in T cell-mediated cytotoxicity and its correlation with clinical response to CPI treatment [83, 85], I first treated 4T1-VC and 4T1-Ctrl tumor-bearing mice with CPI and analyzed cytokine production by intratumoral T cells. Lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors contained a higher percentage of IFN γ^+ cells in the CD8⁺ T cell compartment than their control counterparts post STING therapy (**Fig 2.10 A-B**). This is of significance due to the positive correlation between recruitment of T cells to the TME and IFN γ with patient survival [86]. I also assessed the production of Interleukin-2 (IL-2) by CD4⁺ T cells. 4T1-VC tumors had significantly higher percentage of IL-2⁺ CD4⁺ T cells than control tumors when treated with PBS and had a trend towards more IL-2⁺ cells after CPI therapy (**Fig. 2.10 C**). This is of significance since T helper type 1 (T_H1) cells secrete IL-2, which in turn activates CD8⁺ T cells [87, 88].

In order to further characterize the cytokine milieu in the TME, I assessed the intratumoral cytokine levels after treatment with STING agonist. Non-lymphangiogenic tumors had higher levels of IL-2 after STING treatment (**Fig. 2.10 D**). 4T1-VC tumors had significantly higher levels of IL-4 than control tumors, undergoing PBS or STING therapy (**Fig. 2.10 E**). There was also a significant increase in IL-6 levels in STING-treated lymphangiogenic tumors than control tumors (**Fig. 2.10 F**). Lastly, there was a strong trend towards more tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF α) and IFN γ , both important in mediating tumor cell cytotoxicity [83, 89], in lymphangiogenic tumors than control tumors after STING therapy (**Fig. 2.10 G**).



Figure 2.10. Lymphangiogenic mammary tumors have higher percentage of IFNγ-expressing CD8⁺ T cells upon treatment with immunotherapy. 4T1-Ctrl and 4T1-VC tumor-bearing mice were treated with either (A-B) two doses of CPI or PBS and euthanized for analysis at day 6 after start of treatment (n=4-7), or (D-G) one dose of STING agonist or PBS and euthanized at day 2 post treatment for analysis (n=5-7). (A) Representative intracellular expression of IFNγ in intratumoral CD8⁺ T cells using flow cytometry. Quantification of (B) IFNγ expression in CD8⁺ T cells and (C) IL-2 expression in CD4⁺ T cells in the tumor as assayed by flow cytometry. Intratumoral expression of (D) IL-2, (E) IL-4, (F) IL-6, and (G) TNFα and IFNγ using LegendPlex. Data are mean ± SD (B-G). Experiments were performed once on independent biological samples. Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test for parametric data and Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test for nonparametric data. P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P <0.01, ***P < 0.001.

2.3.6 Combination therapy synergizes with lymphangiogenic potentiation to induce a systemic antigen-specific response and overcome spontaneous lung metastasis

As previously mentioned, tumor lymphangiogenesis has long been known to positively correlate with increased metastasis in murine and human breast cancer [52, 53, 58]. The spontaneous metastatic nature of the 4T1 tumor model allowed us to assess whether lymphangiogenic potentiation is able to elicit a systemic anti-tumor immunity that would delay morbidity due to lymphangiogenic-associated metastasis. In order to induce an effective systemic immune response I treated the tumors with a combination of STING agonist and CPI, which has been shown to result in a potent systemic response [90]. Lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumor-bearing mice not only had a lower primary tumor burden than the control mice, but they also exhibited longer survival (**Fig. 2.11 A-C**). This increase in median survival, which is more than 50% longer than when treating the tumors with STING agonist only, suggests a reduced metastatic burden in the lungs.

In order to confirm if the metastatic burden was indeed reduced upon combination therapy, I quantified lung metastatic nodules (Mets) in tumor-bearing mice. The analysis showed a reduction in metastatic burden in lymphangiogenic tumor-bearing mice treated with the combination therapy compared to untreated 4T1-VC tumor-bearing mice and the treated control tumor-bearing mice (**Fig. 2.11 D-E**). Strikingly, only 3 out of the 8 mice with 4T1-VC tumors and treated with CPI and STING agonist had detectable Mets, whereas all the mice in the other groups had at least one metastatic nodule in the lungs (**Fig. 2.11 D**).



Figure 2.11. Tumor lymphangiogenesis synergizes with CPI and STING agonist combination therapy, leading to prolonged survival and delayed spontaneous lung metastasis. 4T1-VC and 4T1-Ctrl tumor-bearing mice were treated with PBS or CPI and STING agonist combination and were monitored for tumor growth and survival (A-C) or euthanized at day 24 for analysis (D-E). (A) Overall tumor growth curves, (B) survival curves and (C) individual growth curves of the treated mice (n=4-8). (D) Representative images of metastatic nodules in the lungs of tumor-bearing mice, with the number of mice with nodules in each group in the bottom row. Data are mean \pm SEM (A) and mean \pm SD (E). Experiments were either performed twice (A-C) or done once on distinct biological samples (D-E). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (A, E) and log-rank (Mantel–Cox) test (B). P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

Next, I asked whether the reduction in lung metastatic burden of 4T1-VC tumor-bearing mice treated with combination therapy is due to induction of a systemic anti-tumor immunity. I restimulated splenocytes from tumor-bearing mice ex vivo with the AH1 peptide that has been reported to be over-expressed in different tumor cell lines, including the 4T1 model, but not in normal tissues [91]. When treated with CPI, splenic CD8⁺ T cells in lymphangiogenic tumorbearing mice indeed showed a higher expression of intracellular IFNy, TNFa and granzyme B (GrB) than the ones in control mice, suggesting a more potent systemic antigen-specific immune response (Fig. 2.12 A). Furthermore, flow cytometry characterization of immune infiltrations in the lung of tumor-bearing mice showed increased infiltration of DCs, macrophages and B cells in mice with lymphangiogenic tumors after treatment with the combination immunotherapy (Fig. 2.12 B). Interestingly, there was a trend towards fewer neutrophils in the lungs of treated 4T1-VC tumor-bearing mice, compared to control mice (Fig. 2.12 B). Moreover, these mice exhibited enrichment of CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells and a higher percentage of CD8⁺ T cells expressing KLRG1 in their lungs (Fig. 2.12 C). Further analysis shows that the percentage of T cells infiltrating the lungs negatively correlates with primary tumor size and number of Mets in the lungs (Fig. 2.12 D). Together, these results demonstrate that lymphangiogenesis not only potentiates immunotherapy in the context of primary tumor growth, but also promotes a systemic immune response reducing metastatic burden in distant sites.



Figure 2.12 Treatment of lymphangiogenic mammary tumors with immunotherapy induces a systemic antigen-specific immune response and increases immune infiltrates in the metastatic lesions. 4T1-VC and 4T1-Ctrl tumor-bearing mice were treated with either (A) PBS, two doses of CPI or one dose of STING agonist in combination with two doses of CPI and euthanized at day 6 after start of treatment for analysis of splenocytes or (B-D) with PBS or CPI and STING agonist combination and euthanized at day 24 post inoculation for analysis of lung lobes. (A) Percentage of CD8⁺ T cells expressing intracellular IFN γ , TNF α and GrB after *ex vivo* antigen-specific restimulation of splenocytes with AH1 peptide as assayed by flow cytometry. Lung infiltrate quantification (% of live cells) of (B) DCs, macrophages, B cells and neutrophils, and (C) CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells and KLRG1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells using flow cytometry (n=5-7). (D) Correlations of primary tumor volume and lung Mets with T cell infiltrates in the lung. Data are mean \pm SD (A-C). Experiments were performed once on distinct biological samples. Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (A-C) and nonparametric Spearman correlation analysis (D). P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P <0.01, ***P < 0.001.

2.3.7 The improved efficacy of immunotherapies in lymphangiogenic tumors is mediated by

CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages

The higher infiltration of conv CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages in 4T1-VC tumors compared to control mice in the absence of immunotherapy may explain the lymphangiogenic potentiation of immunotherapies in triple-negative breast cancer. In order to test this hypothesis, I administered depleting antibodies against CD4 and CSF1R starting at day 0 to inhibit the enrichment of CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages in the tumor microenvironment prior to treatment with STING agonist. First, I confirmed the depletion of targeted populations in the blood at day 21 post tumor inoculation (**Appendix Fig. 2S3. A**). CD4⁺ T cells were not detectable in the blood of mice treated with α CD4 and α CSF1R treatment led to the reduction of Ly6C⁻F4/80⁺ cells in the bloodstream.

Notably, antibody depletion of CD4⁺ T cells negatively affected the efficacy of STING treatment and reduced survival in the lymphangiogenic tumor-bearing mice, whereas it improved both in the control mice (**Fig. 2.13 A-B, E**). Analysis of the blood of tumor-bearing mice revealed that CD4 depletion increased the percentage of CD8⁺ T cells in the mice in the control group,

suggesting a mechanism for the observed improved efficacy in the control group (**Appendix Fig. 2S3. B**).

The depletion of macrophages increased the tumor burden and reduced the survival in both tumor types (**Fig. 2.13 C-D**), possibly due to the mechanism of action of the STING agonist [67]. However, the tumor burden increase was more drastic in the 4T1-VC tumor-bearing mice, i.e. five-fold increase in the VC group compared to less than two-fold increase in the Ctrl group (**Fig. 2.13 F**). Moreover, macrophage depletion reduced the percentage of CD8⁺ T cells only in the lymphangiogenic tumor-bearing mice, attesting to their importance in inducing the anti-tumor immunity in the lymphangiogenic tumors (**Appendix Fig. 2S3. B**). These data show that the beneficial effect of tumor lymphangiogenesis in triple-negative mammary tumors, when treated with immunotherapies, is dependent on CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages.



Figure 2.13. Lymphangiogenic potentiation in triple-negative mammary tumors is dependent on CD4 T cells and macrophages. Lymphangiogenic and control 4T1 tumor-bearing mice (n=7-9) were administered depletion antibodies (α CD4 and α CSF1R) from the day of tumor inoculation and were treated with 3 doses of STING agonist once tumors were established. (A) Tumor growth curves and (B) survival curves of mice treated with STING agonist and either PBS or α CD4 antibodies. (C) Tumor growth curves and (D) survival curves of mice treated with STING agonist and either PBS or α CSF1R antibodies. (E-F) Fold-change of tumor volume for each group compared to the non-depleted group of the same tumor type at day 11 after the start of STING agonist treatment. Data are mean \pm SEM (A, C) and mean \pm SD (E-F). The experiment was done once on distinct biological samples. Statistical analyses were performed using log-rank (Mantel–Cox) test (B, D) and one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (A, C, E-F). P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

2.3.8 STING agonist treatment does not synergize with TGF- β blocking in 4T1 triplenegative mammary tumors

It has been shown that LECs secrete multiple immunosuppressive chemokines and molecules, including TGF- β [54]. These inhibitory molecules dampen the anti-tumor immune response and reduce the efficacy of cancer immunotherapies through different mechanisms, such as exclusion of T cells from the TME [92, 93]. Quantification of intratumoral TGF- β levels revealed that there is a trend towards more TGF- β in the lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors after treatment with STING agonist (**Fig. 2.14 A**). To assess if inhibiting TGF- β would improve the efficacy of STING therapy in the 4T1-VC tumor-bearing mice, I treated both tumor types with STING agonist in combination with either PBS or TGF- β blocking antibody. Surprisingly, α TGF- β blocking did not improve the respective response to STING therapy in either tumor type in terms of tumor growth rate or survival (**Fig. 2.14 B-D**). These results show that blocking TGF- β does not synergize with STING agonist therapy in 4T1 triple-negative mammary tumors.



Figure 2.14. Blocking of TGF- β does not improve the responsiveness of 4T1 mammary tumors to STING agonist treatment. 4T1-Ctrl and 4T1-VC tumor-bearing mice were treated with STING agonist in combination with either α TGF- β antibody or PBS after tumors had reached an average size of ~100 mm³. (A) Intratumoral VEGF-C and TGF- β quantification 6 days after STING treatment, as assayed by ELISA. (B) Overall tumor growth curves, (C) survival curves and (D) individual growth curves of the mice (n=7-9). Data are mean ± SEM. Experiment was performed twice with similar results. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired two-tailed t-tests with Welch correction (A), one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (B) and log-rank (Mantel–Cox) test for survival curves (C). P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P <0.01, ***P < 0.001.

2.3.9 Over-expression of VEGF-C does not potentiate responsiveness to immunotherapies in

a HER2⁺ mammary carcinoma model

Next, I asked if the lymphangiogenic potentiation that I observed in the 4T1 triple-negative

mammary carcinoma also occurs in other breast cancer models with a different molecular subtype.

I used the polyoma middle T antigen (PyMT) tumor cell line that we had isolated from MMTV-PyMT transgenic mice, in which the expression of the oncogene is driven by the Mouse Mammary Tumor Virus promoter (MMTV). The PyMT tumors are negative for expression of ER and PR, but express HER2 particularly in the later stages of tumor development [94, 95]. We lentivirally transduced these cells with our Ctrl vector or VEGF-C vector and assessed the VEGF-C expression *in vitro*. There was an ~ 8-fold increase in the expression level of VEGF-C by the PyMT-VC tumor cells compared to PyMT-Ctrl cells (**Fig. 2.15 A**). Next, to assess if over-expression of VEGF-C affected the responsiveness of lymphangiogenic PyMT tumors to immunotherapies, I inoculated FvB/NJ with both tumor cell types and treated them with checkpoint inhibitors. Even though both tumor types responded to the treatment, there was no difference between the lymphangiogenic tumor-bearing mice and control mice, both in terms of tumor growth rate and survival (**Fig. 2.15 B-D**). These data exhibit that lymphangiogenic potentiation does not occur in HER2⁺ PyMT mammary tumors.



Figure 2.15. Tumor Lymphangiogenesis does not improve the responsiveness of PyMT mammary tumors to immunotherapies. Mice were inoculated with PyMT-VC and PyMT-Ctrl tumors and treated with PBS or CPI at day 41, 44, 48 and 51 post tumor inoculation. (A) Quantification of VEGF-C secretion by PyMT-VC and PyMT-Ctrl cells *in vitro* using ELISA. (B) Overall tumor growth curves, (C) survival curves and (D) individual growth curves (n=5-6). Data are mean \pm SEM (B). Experiment was performed once on distinct biological samples. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired two-tailed Mann-Whitney test (B) and log-rank (Mantel–Cox) test for survival curves (C). P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P <0.01, ***P < 0.001.

2.3.10 Tumor lymphangiogenesis renders E0771 triple-negative mammary tumors more immunogenic in the absence of immunotherapies in a leukocyte-dependent manner

Based on the results obtained in the PyMT tumor model, I sought to assess if tumor lymphangiogenesis would improve responsiveness to immunotherapies in a triple-negative mammary tumor model other than 4T1. I transduced triple-negative E0771 tumor cells with VC vectors and compared its VEGF-C secretion in vitro to the parental WT cell line (Fig. 2.16 A). Then, I inoculated C57BL/6 mice with WT tumor cells or a mixture of WT cells and VCtransduced cells (3:1 ratio). When treated with CPI, there was no significant difference between the efficacy of treatment in wild-type tumor-bearing mice and mice bearing tumors containing VC over-expressing cells (Fig. 2.16 B-D). However, I observed that the VC over-expressing cells caused the tumors to grow at a slower rate than the WT tumors (data not shown). In order to assess if this slower growth rate is due to the higher immunogenicity in this tumor model [96] and dependent on T cells, I inoculated B6.129S7-Rag^{1tm1Mom}/J mice (known as Rag1 KO) and their control littermates with E0771-WT or E0771-VC tumor cells. The mice homozygous for the Rag^{1tm1Mom} mutation lack mature B cells and T cells. Notably, there was a trend towards faster tumor growth in the KO mice for both tumor types, but it only reached statistical significance for the E0771-VC tumor-bearing mice (Fig. 2.16 E). More importantly, all the VC tumors in the control littermates regressed after growing slightly and 4/4 mice remained tumor-free at day 50

post tumor inoculation, whereas only 2/4 mice bearing WT tumors survived (**Fig. 2.16 F**). These results demonstrate that over-expression of VEGF-C in the immunogenic E0771 triple-negative mammary tumors leads to their regression in the absence of any treatment; an effect that is dependent on mature T and B cells.



Figure 2.16. The complete remission of lymphangiogenic E0771 triple-negative mammary tumors in the absence of treatment is abrogated in Rag1 KO mice. Wildtype mice (B-D) or B6.129S7-Rag^{1tm1Mom}/J mice and their heterozygous littermates (E-F) were inoculated with WT E0771 cells, E0771-VC cells or a mixture of both and were either treated with PBS or CPI (B-D) or left untreated (E-F). (A) Quantification of VEGF-C secretion by WT E0771 and E0771-VC cells *in vitro* using ELISA. (B) Overall tumor growth curves, (C) survival curves and (D) individual growth curves of tumors in WT mice (n=5-9). (E) Tumor growth and (F) survival curves of tumors in Rag1 KO mice and their control littermates (n=4-6). Data are mean \pm SEM (B, E). Experiment was performed either twice with similar results (B-D) or once on distinct biological samples (E-F). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (B), Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test (C, F). P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

Since the VC over-expressing E0771 cells were driving tumor remission in the absence of any treatment, I aimed to titer down the tumor lymphangiogenesis by using a protein delivery technology, similar to previous studies that used a fibrin-binding VEGF-C variant [97]. I designed and produced a collagen-binding VEGF-C variant. Briefly, the A3 domain of human von Willebrand factor (VWF) protein, which has high binding affinity for collagen [98], was recombinantly fused to the C-terminus of murine VEGF-C, similarly to previously published [99]. The binding affinity of the A3 domain to collagen in the extracellular matrix leads to the retention of the recombinant protein in the TME and induction of local lymphangiogenesis [99]. First, I confirmed the molecular weight and purity of our A3-VC variant using SDS-PAGE (Fig. 2.17 A). Notably, a band was observed at ~70 kDa for A3-VC in non-reducing condition, which confirmed its proper dimerization capability that is required for phosphorylation of VEGFR3 receptor [5]. I also confirmed the binding affinity of A3-VC for collagen I and III using ELISA (Fig. 2.17 B). Next, I assessed the bioactivity of our A3-VC variant by stimulating human LECs (hLECs) and quantifying the phosphorylation of VEGFR3 (p-VEGFR3) receptor. After in vitro stimulation of hLECs for 20 mins, both WT-VC and A3-VC had increased p-VEGFR3 over the unstimulated condition, whereas there was no significant difference between the two VC variants (Fig. 2.17 C-D). Next, I assessed whether induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis using A3-VC would render E0771 more responsive to CPI, without their spontaneous rejection. I intratumorally treated mice with WT E0771 tumors using A3-VC and further treated them with PBS or CPI. Even though both groups responded to CPI treatment, there was no difference in terms of tumor growth rate and survival between A3-VC treated mice and control mice receiving CPI (Fig. 2.17 E-F).



Figure 2.17. Treatment with A3-VC does not render E0771 tumor-bearing mice more responsive to CPI therapy compared to control-treated mice. Wildtype mice were inoculated with WT E0771 cells and were either treated with PBS or A3-VC prior to treatment with CPI or PBS according to the shown schedule (E-F). (A) Purity and molecular weight (M_w) assessment of A3-VC and WT-VC in reducing (2,4) and non-reducing (1,3) conditions using SDS-PAGE. (B) Affinities of VC variants against collagen I and III using ELISA. (C) Experimental schedule of hLECs stimulation assay. (D) Quantification of p-VEGFR3 in hLECs using ELISA. (E) Overall tumor growth curves and (F) survival curves of tumor-bearing mice (n=6-8). Data are mean \pm SD (D) and mean \pm SEM (E). Experiments was performed either twice with similar results (A-D) or once on distinct biological samples (E-F). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (D), unpaired two-tailed t-test with Welch correction (E) and log-rank (Mantel–Cox) test for survival curves (F). P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

In order to assess if the lack of difference in the efficacy of CPI therapy post treatment with A3-VC was due to similar immune landscape in the TME, I performed flow cytometry characterization of tumor immune infiltration after treating E0771 tumor-bearing mice with PBS

or A3-VC. A3-VC treated mice did not show an increase in tumor LECs or BECs, which suggests that the dosing of the treatment needs to be altered (**Fig. 2.18 A**). Characterization of the immune cell subtypes also showed lack of any difference between the two groups, except a trend towards fewer T_{reg} cells in the A3-VC treated tumors compared to control tumors (**Fig. 2.18 A-B**). These results show that inducing tumor lymphangiogenesis using a protein delivery approach requires optimization of dosing schedule, or other approaches such as viral or mRNA delivery need to be pursued [61].



Figure 2.18. A3-VC treatment does not alter the tumor immune infiltrates in E0771 tumorbearing mice. Wildtype mice were inoculated with E0771 tumor cells and were treated with PBS or A3-VC intratumorally at day 7, 10 and 13, and mice were euthanized at day 20 for analysis (n=5-7). (A) Flow cytometry analysis of LECs, BECs, DCs, macrophages and monocytic myeloid cells. (B) Flow cytometry analysis of conv CD4⁺ T cells, T_{reg} cells, CD8⁺ T cells, NK cells (CD45⁺NK1.1⁺) and NK T cells (CD45⁺NK1.1⁺CD3⁺). Data are mean \pm SD. Flow cytometry analyses were performed once on distinct biological samples. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired two-tailed t-tests with Welch correction for parametric data or two-tailed Mann-Whitney test for nonparametric data. P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

2.4 Discussion

In this chapter, I studied the role of tumor lymphangiogenesis in modulating the anti-tumor immunity in mammary tumors upon treatment with different cancer immunotherapies. Although the effects of tumor lymphangiogenesis on responsiveness to immunotherapies has been studied in other cancers [59, 61], its role in breast cancer is unexplored. I used various murine breast cancer models for *in vivo* studies, including the 4T1, PyMT and E0771 tumor cells. I demonstrated that upon over-expression of VEGF-C in 4T1 tumors cells, there is an increased VEGF-C expression in the TME accompanied by an expansion in the number of LECs and also BECs due to the lower affinity of VEGFR2 expressed on BECs for VEGF-C (**Fig. 2.3**) [5].

Flow cytometry characterization of intratumoral myeloid cells revealed an increase in intratumoral macrophages with an immune-suppressive profile (lower M1/M2 ratio) in the 4T1-VC tumors. This increase could be mostly driven by recruitment of VEGFR3⁺ macrophages to the TME [100]. In murine colorectal cancer models, it has been shown that VEGFC signaling promotes M2-associated gene expression in macrophages [101]. Moreover, VEGFR3 signaling in macrophages inhibits TLR4 signaling and reduces production of pro-inflammatory cytokines [102]. This increase of macrophages was also accompanied by an increase in the immune-suppressive cytokine IL-10. Moreover, quantification of intratumoral T cells showed that lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors had higher levels of conv CD4⁺ T cells and T_{reg} cells, but similar numbers of CD8⁺ T cells. This led to a decrease in the ratio of CD8⁺ T cells/T_{reg} cells in the 4T1-VC tumors (**Fig. 2.4**). Given that increased TAM infiltration in breast cancer has been associated with reduced OS and more aggressive disease [103, 104] and increased metastasis [105], these results are consistent with previous studies reporting that tumor lymphangiogenesis promotes immune suppression and is a negative prognostic factor in different cancers types [48, 53, 57].

We hypothesized that upon treatment with cancer immunotherapies, the increased tumor infiltration of macrophages and conv CD4⁺ T cells in the lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors might render them more responsive compared to non-lymphangiogenic tumors. Indeed, 4T1-VC tumorbearing mice showed improved efficacy in response to STING agonist and CPI treatment, both in terms of tumor growth rate and survival (Fig. 2.6). The higher levels of IFN- β in the TME of lymphangiogenic tumors in response to STING agonist could be due to increased type I IFN expression by not only APCs, but also endothelial cells [106]. Characterization of myeloid cells after STING agonist treatment showed a repolarization of macrophages, as the M1/M2 ratio was no longer higher in the 4T1-VC tumors (Fig. 2.7). Suggesting a stronger adaptive immune response, lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors contained higher levels of DCs, particularly crosspresenting CD103⁺ DCs. They also contained more conv CD4⁺ T cells and a trend towards more CD8⁺ T cells. Similar levels of T_{reg} cells in both tumor types led to higher CD8⁺ T cells/T_{reg} cells ratio in the 4T1-VC tumors (Fig. 2.7). These results are of significance since a higher M1/M2 ratio has been correlated with a higher CD8⁺ T cells/T_{reg} cells ratio in the TME and better OS in pediatric Hodgkin lymphoma [74] and CD8⁺ T cells/T_{reg} cells ratio is also a positive prognostic factor in ovarian cancer [107]. Analysis of intratumoral immune infiltrates after CPI treatment revealed that despite similar levels of CD8⁺ T cells, the percentage of perforin⁺ CD8⁺ T cells was higher in the 4T1-VC tumors, which suggests a more potent CD8⁺ T cell response. The lymphangiogenic tumors also had higher levels of cross-presenting CD103⁺ DCs (Fig. 2.8).

Analysis of the chemokine landscape in the TME revealed an increase in expression of CCL2, CCL3 and CCL5, partially by secreted by macrophages (**Fig. 2.9**) [108]. These chemokines recruit macrophages and monocytic myeloid cells into the tumor [73], which can explain our findings here. However, it should be noted that these chemokines have been shown to have

ambiguous roles in affecting tumor growth and survival, through direct and indirect mechanisms. For instance, CCL2 and CCL5 have been reported to cause tumor cell proliferation and survival and promote invasiveness of cancer cells [109, 110]. CCL2 has also been shown to promote metastasis in breast cancer by recruitment of monocytes and macrophages [75, 111]. Moreover, I observed higher levels of CXCL5 in the 4T1-VC tumors (**Fig. 2.9**), which also has been reported to associate with metastasis in breast cancer and gastric cancer [112, 113]. Altogether, these studies suggest that further characterization is needed to delineate the phenotype and functionality of the increased macrophages we observed in our experiments to confirm their anti-tumorigenic activity.

Furthermore, I observed higher levels of CXCL10 in the lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumors than control tumors after STING agonist treatment (**Fig. 2.9**). It has been shown that macrophages and cross-presenting DCs can produce CXCL10 [114, 115], which drives recruitment of CD8⁺ T cells and $T_{\rm H1}$ cells and correlates with improved survival [86, 116]. CXCL10 can also directly inhibit tumor angiogenesis by directly acting on endothelial cells [117]. Interestingly, CXCL13 expression was lower in the 4T1-VC tumors after immunotherapy (**Fig. 2.9**). Previous studies have shown that inhibiting CXCL13 reduces the growth rate of 4T1 tumors [118], which provides another insight into the mechanism of action of lymphangiogenic potentiation.

CD4⁺ T cells play a critical role in the cancer-immunity cycle by inhibiting tumor growth through various ways [119]. It has been shown that T_H1 cytokines can induce cancer cell senescence and mediate direct cytolytic activity against tumor cells by producing IFN γ and TNF α [119-121]. Critically, CD4⁺ T cells provide help for CD8⁺ T cells by engaging DCs in an antigenspecific manner and promote their activation (expression of co-stimulatory molecules and IL-12) [122], resulting in a potent CTL response [123, 124]. Based on the increased levels of conv CD4⁺ T cells in the 4T1-VC tumors, we hypothesized they may play a role in mediating the lymphangiogenic potentiation. Strong trends towards higher levels of IFN γ and TNF α in the 4T1-VC tumors after STING treatment and the elevated levels of IL-4 in these tumors in the absence of therapy suggested a T_H2 to T_H1 shift in CD4⁺ T cell phenotype upon treatment (**Fig. 2.10**). Furthermore, the observed increased IL-6 expression in the lymphangiogenic tumors could drive the differentiation of CD4⁺ T cells into T_H17 cells, which have been shown to mediate direct cytotoxicity in melanoma [125]. However, future work is required to further characterize the transcriptomic landscape in the CD4⁺ T cell compartment and assess their phenotype using functional assays.

Since tumor lymphangiogenesis has been associated with metastasis in breast cancer [48], I investigated if the lymphangiogenic potentiation was able to overcome distant tumor metastasis. Strikingly, upon treatment with a systemic immunotherapy, lymphangiogenic 4T1 tumor-bearing mice showed prolonged survival and had significantly fewer metastatic nodules in their lungs than control-treated mice (**Fig. 2.11**). Notably, there was a strong trend towards fewer neutrophils in the lungs of 4T1-VC tumor-bearing mice treated with STING agonist and CPI than control mice (**Fig. 2.12**). This is consistent with prior studies in murine mammary tumor models that showed bone-marrow derived neutrophils promoted lung metastasis [126, 127].

Depletion of macrophages and CD4⁺ T cells abrogated the benefit of tumor lymphangiogenesis in response to STING agonist (**Fig. 2.13**). Strikingly, in the mice with control tumors, CD4 depletion improved survival and almost significantly reduced tumor growth rate when combined with STING treatment. This could be due to the depletion of T_{reg} cells, although further characterization is required to confirm this hypothesis, possibly by depletion of T_{reg} cells using α CD25 antibodies. It should be noted that macrophage depletion also reduced survival and increased tumor growth in the control tumor-bearing mice, although not to the same extent as mice with the lymphangiogenic tumors. The underlying cause may be the mechanism of action of STING agonist, which is increasing IFN- β expression through activating DCs and macrophages [67].

Despite the benefit of tumor lymphangiogenesis that I observed in the 4T1 triple-negative mammary tumors, this effect was not recapitulated in the HER2⁺ PyMT tumors (**Fig. 2.15**). This may be due to the higher immunogenicity in the triple-negative tumors, compared to the other molecular subtypes [14]. However, in the immunogenic triple-negative E0771 breast tumors, VC over-expression led to the spontaneous eradication of the tumors in the absence of treatment (data not shown). This phenomenon was dependent on mature T and B cells, as the effect was abrogated in Rag1 KO mice (**Fig. 2.16**). Thus, I hypothesize that the role of tumor lymphangiogenesis and VEFG-C signaling in enhancing responsiveness to immunotherapies in breast cancer, by recruitment of macrophages and T cells, is dependent on the condition of TME and its immunogenic/immunosuppressive status prior to treatment.

As an alternative to over-expression of VEGF-C for induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis, I employed protein delivery using a collagen-binding variant of VEGF-C I produced in-house, called A3-VC (**Fig. 2.17**). Despite the bioactivity of A3-VC and its affinity of collagen, *in vivo* delivery failed to induce a detectable increase in the number of LECs in TME, or any significant changes in the intratumoral immune infiltration (**Fig. 2.18**). Other than the possibility of non-optimized dosing schedule, the cause may be the lower efficacy of protein delivery compared to other delivery methods, such as viral or mRNA delivery, in inducing tumor lymphangiogenesis [61].

In summary, tumor lymphangiogenesis can enhance the responsiveness of triple-negative mammary tumors to cancer immunotherapies through the recruitment of macrophages and CD4⁺

85

T cells. Importantly, when treated with a potent immunotherapy, mice with lymphangiogenic tumors had a stronger systemic anti-tumor immunity which prolonged their survival despite increased metastasis associated with tumor lymphangiogenesis.

2.5 Appendix



Figure 2.S1. Representative gating strategy for identifying myeloid cells in the 4T1 tumor microenvironment.



Figure 2.S2. Representative gating strategy for identifying T cells in the 4T1 tumor microenvironment.



Figure 2.S3. Assessment of circulating immune cells in the blood of 4T1 tumor-bearing mice after administration of depleting antibodies. Lymphangiogenic and control 4T1 tumor-bearing mice (n=7-9) were administered depletion antibodies (α CD4 and α CSF1R) from the day of tumor inoculation and were treated with 2 doses of STING agonist once tumors were established. Mice were bled at day 14 after tumor inoculation and percentage of immune cells in the blood was assessed by flow cytometry. Percentage of (A) Ly6C⁻F4/80⁺ cells, (B) conv CD4⁺ T cells, (C) T_{reg} cells and (D) CD8⁺ T cells amongst live cells. Data are mean ± SD. The experiment was done once on distinct biological samples. Statistical analyses were performed using Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test. P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

CSQPLDVILLLDGSSSFPASYFDEMKSFAKAFISKANIGPRLTQV
SVLQYGSITTIDVPWNVVPEKAHLLSLVDVMQREGGPSQIGDA
LGFAVRYLTSEMHGARPGASKAVVILVTDVSVDSVDAAADAA
RSNRVTVFPIGIGDRYDAAQLRILAGPAGDSNVVKLQRIEDLPT
MVTLGNSFLHKLCSGFVRIGGGGSGGGGGSAHYNTEILKSIDNE
WRKTQCMPREVCIDVGKEFGAATNTFFKPPCVSVYRCGGCCNS
EGLQCMNTSTGYLSKTLFEITVPLSQGPKPVTISFANHTSCRCMS
KLDVYRQVHSIIRRHHHHHH

2.6 References

- 1. Oliver, G., *Lymphatic vasculature development*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2004. **4**(1): p. 35-45.
- 2. Alitalo, K., T. Tammela, and T.V. Petrova, *Lymphangiogenesis in development and human disease*. Nature, 2005. **438**(7070): p. 946-53.
- 3. Baluk, P., J. Fuxe, H. Hashizume, T. Romano, E. Lashnits, S. Butz, D. Vestweber, M. Corada, C. Molendini, E. Dejana, and D.M. McDonald, *Functionally specialized junctions between endothelial cells of lymphatic vessels*. J Exp Med, 2007. **204**(10): p. 2349-62.
- 4. Saharinen, P., T. Tammela, M.J. Karkkainen, and K. Alitalo, *Lymphatic vasculature: development, molecular regulation and role in tumor metastasis and inflammation.* Trends Immunol, 2004. **25**(7): p. 387-95.
- 5. Tammela, T. and K. Alitalo, *Lymphangiogenesis: Molecular mechanisms and future promise*. Cell, 2010. **140**(4): p. 460-76.
- 6. Karpanen, T. and K. Alitalo, *Molecular biology and pathology of lymphangiogenesis*. Annu Rev Pathol, 2008. **3**: p. 367-97.
- 7. Zheng, W., A. Aspelund, and K. Alitalo, *Lymphangiogenic factors, mechanisms, and applications*. J Clin Invest, 2014. **124**(3): p. 878-87.
- 8. Sleeman, J., A. Schmid, and W. Thiele, *Tumor lymphatics*. Semin Cancer Biol, 2009. **19**(5): p. 285-97.
- 9. Woo, S.R., L. Corrales, and T.F. Gajewski, *The STING pathway and the T cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment*. Trends Immunol, 2015. **36**(4): p. 250-6.
- 10. Chen, D.S. and I. Mellman, *Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point*. Nature, 2017. **541**(7637): p. 321-330.
- 11. Cimino-Mathews, A., E. Thompson, J.M. Taube, X. Ye, Y. Lu, A. Meeker, H. Xu, R. Sharma, K. Lecksell, T.C. Cornish, N. Cuka, P. Argani, and L.A. Emens, *PD-L1 (B7-H1)* expression and the immune tumor microenvironment in primary and metastatic breast carcinomas. Hum Pathol, 2016. **47**(1): p. 52-63.
- Denkert, C., G. von Minckwitz, S. Darb-Esfahani, B. Lederer, B.I. Heppner, K.E. Weber, J. Budczies, J. Huober, F. Klauschen, J. Furlanetto, W.D. Schmitt, J.U. Blohmer, T. Karn, B.M. Pfitzner, S. Kümmel, K. Engels, A. Schneeweiss, A. Hartmann, A. Noske, P.A. Fasching, C. Jackisch, M. van Mackelenbergh, P. Sinn, C. Schem, C. Hanusch, M. Untch, and S. Loibl, *Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes and prognosis in different subtypes of breast cancer: a pooled analysis of 3771 patients treated with neoadjuvant therapy*. Lancet Oncol, 2018. **19**(1): p. 40-50.

- 13. Rody, A., T. Karn, C. Liedtke, L. Pusztai, E. Ruckhaeberle, L. Hanker, R. Gaetje, C. Solbach, A. Ahr, D. Metzler, M. Schmidt, V. Müller, U. Holtrich, and M. Kaufmann, *A clinically relevant gene signature in triple negative and basal-like breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Research, 2011. **13**(5): p. R97.
- 14. Iwamoto, T., G. Bianchini, D. Booser, Y. Qi, C. Coutant, C.Y. Shiang, L. Santarpia, J. Matsuoka, G.N. Hortobagyi, W.F. Symmans, F.A. Holmes, J. O'Shaughnessy, B. Hellerstedt, J. Pippen, F. Andre, R. Simon, and L. Pusztai, *Gene pathways associated with prognosis and chemotherapy sensitivity in molecular subtypes of breast cancer*. J Natl Cancer Inst, 2011. 103(3): p. 264-72.
- Adams, S., R.J. Gray, S. Demaria, L. Goldstein, E.A. Perez, L.N. Shulman, S. Martino, M. Wang, V.E. Jones, T.J. Saphner, A.C. Wolff, W.C. Wood, N.E. Davidson, G.W. Sledge, J.A. Sparano, and S.S. Badve, *Prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in triple-negative breast cancers from two phase III randomized adjuvant breast cancer trials: ECOG 2197 and ECOG 1199.* J Clin Oncol, 2014. **32**(27): p. 2959-66.
- 16. Denkert, C., S. Loibl, A. Noske, M. Roller, B.M. Müller, M. Komor, J. Budczies, S. Darb-Esfahani, R. Kronenwett, C. Hanusch, C. von Törne, W. Weichert, K. Engels, C. Solbach, I. Schrader, M. Dietel, and G. von Minckwitz, *Tumor-associated lymphocytes as an independent predictor of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer*. J Clin Oncol, 2010. 28(1): p. 105-13.
- Denkert, C., G. von Minckwitz, J.C. Brase, B.V. Sinn, S. Gade, R. Kronenwett, B.M. Pfitzner, C. Salat, S. Loi, W.D. Schmitt, C. Schem, K. Fisch, S. Darb-Esfahani, K. Mehta, C. Sotiriou, S. Wienert, P. Klare, F. André, F. Klauschen, J.U. Blohmer, K. Krappmann, M. Schmidt, H. Tesch, S. Kümmel, P. Sinn, C. Jackisch, M. Dietel, T. Reimer, M. Untch, and S. Loibl, *Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy with or without carboplatin in human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive and triple-negative primary breast cancers.* J Clin Oncol, 2015. 33(9): p. 983-91.
- 18. Ono, M., H. Tsuda, C. Shimizu, S. Yamamoto, T. Shibata, H. Yamamoto, T. Hirata, K. Yonemori, M. Ando, K. Tamura, N. Katsumata, T. Kinoshita, Y. Takiguchi, H. Tanzawa, and Y. Fujiwara, *Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes are correlated with response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in triple-negative breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2012. 132(3): p. 793-805.
- Perez, E.A., E.A. Thompson, K.V. Ballman, S.K. Anderson, Y.W. Asmann, K.R. Kalari, J.E. Eckel-Passow, A.C. Dueck, K.S. Tenner, J. Jen, J.B. Fan, X.J. Geiger, A.E. McCullough, B. Chen, R.B. Jenkins, G.W. Sledge, E.P. Winer, J.R. Gralow, and M.M. Reinholz, *Genomic analysis reveals that immune function genes are strongly linked to clinical outcome in the North Central Cancer Treatment Group n9831 Adjuvant Trastuzumab Trial.* J Clin Oncol, 2015. **33**(7): p. 701-8.
- 20. Savas, P., R. Salgado, C. Denkert, C. Sotiriou, P.K. Darcy, M.J. Smyth, and S. Loi, *Clinical relevance of host immunity in breast cancer: from TILs to the clinic.* Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 2016. **13**(4): p. 228-41.

- 21. Luen, S., B. Virassamy, P. Savas, R. Salgado, and S. Loi, *The genomic landscape of breast cancer and its interaction with host immunity*. Breast, 2016. **29**: p. 241-50.
- 22. Schumacher, T.N. and R.D. Schreiber, *Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy*. Science, 2015. **348**(6230): p. 69-74.
- 23. Fehrenbacher, L., A. Spira, M. Ballinger, M. Kowanetz, J. Vansteenkiste, J. Mazieres, K. Park, D. Smith, A. Artal-Cortes, and C. Lewanski, *Atezolizumab versus docetaxel for patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (POPLAR): a multicentre, open-label, phase 2 randomised controlled trial.* The Lancet, 2016. **387**(10030): p. 1837-1846.
- 24. Adams, S., M.E. Gatti-Mays, K. Kalinsky, L.A. Korde, E. Sharon, L. Amiri-Kordestani, H. Bear, H.L. McArthur, E. Frank, J. Perlmutter, D.B. Page, B. Vincent, J.F. Hayes, J.L. Gulley, J.K. Litton, G.N. Hortobagyi, S. Chia, I. Krop, J. White, J. Sparano, M.L. Disis, and E.A. Mittendorf, *Current Landscape of Immunotherapy in Breast Cancer: A Review*. JAMA Oncol, 2019.
- 25. Keenan, T.E. and S.M. Tolaney, *Role of Immunotherapy in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer*. J Natl Compr Canc Netw, 2020. **18**(4): p. 479-489.
- Nanda, R., L.Q. Chow, E.C. Dees, R. Berger, S. Gupta, R. Geva, L. Pusztai, K. Pathiraja, G. Aktan, J.D. Cheng, V. Karantza, and L. Buisseret, *Pembrolizumab in Patients With Advanced Triple-Negative Breast Cancer: Phase Ib KEYNOTE-012 Study.* J Clin Oncol, 2016. 34(21): p. 2460-7.
- Adams, S., P. Schmid, H.S. Rugo, E.P. Winer, D. Loirat, A. Awada, D.W. Cescon, H. Iwata, M. Campone, R. Nanda, R. Hui, G. Curigliano, D. Toppmeyer, J. O'Shaughnessy, S. Loi, S. Paluch-Shimon, A.R. Tan, D. Card, J. Zhao, V. Karantza, and J. Cortés, *Pembrolizumab monotherapy for previously treated metastatic triple-negative breast cancer: cohort A of the phase II KEYNOTE-086 study*. Ann Oncol, 2019. **30**(3): p. 397-404.
- Adams, S., S. Loi, D. Toppmeyer, D.W. Cescon, M. De Laurentiis, R. Nanda, E.P. Winer, H. Mukai, K. Tamura, A. Armstrong, M.C. Liu, H. Iwata, L. Ryvo, P. Wimberger, H.S. Rugo, A.R. Tan, L. Jia, Y. Ding, V. Karantza, and P. Schmid, *Pembrolizumab* monotherapy for previously untreated, *PD-L1-positive, metastatic triple-negative breast* cancer: cohort B of the phase II KEYNOTE-086 study. Ann Oncol, 2019. **30**(3): p. 405-411.
- 29. Cortés, J., O. Lipatov, S. Im, A. Gonçalves, S. Lee, P. Schmid, K. Tamura, and L. Testa, *KEYNOTE-119: phase 3 study of pembrolizumab (pembro) versus single-agent chemotherapy (chemo) for metastatic triple negative breast cancer (MTNBC).* Ann Oncol, 2019. **30**(suppl_5): p. v851-v934.
- Dirix, L.Y., I. Takacs, G. Jerusalem, P. Nikolinakos, H.T. Arkenau, A. Forero-Torres, R. Boccia, M.E. Lippman, R. Somer, M. Smakal, L.A. Emens, B. Hrinczenko, W. Edenfield, J. Gurtler, A. von Heydebreck, H.J. Grote, K. Chin, and E.P. Hamilton,

Avelumab, an anti-PD-L1 antibody, in patients with locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer: a phase 1b JAVELIN Solid Tumor study. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2018. **167**(3): p. 671-686.

- 31. Emens, L.A., C. Cruz, J.P. Eder, F. Braiteh, C. Chung, S.M. Tolaney, I. Kuter, R. Nanda, P.A. Cassier, J.P. Delord, M.S. Gordon, E. ElGabry, C.W. Chang, I. Sarkar, W. Grossman, C. O'Hear, M. Fassò, L. Molinero, and P. Schmid, *Long-term Clinical Outcomes and Biomarker Analyses of Atezolizumab Therapy for Patients With Metastatic Triple-Negative Breast Cancer: A Phase 1 Study.* JAMA Oncol, 2019. 5(1): p. 74-82.
- 32. Chen, D.S. and I. Mellman, *Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle*. Immunity, 2013. **39**(1): p. 1-10.
- 33. Garg, A.D., S. More, N. Rufo, O. Mece, M.L. Sassano, P. Agostinis, L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer, and L. Galluzzi, *Trial watch: Immunogenic cell death induction by anticancer chemotherapeutics*. Oncoimmunology, 2017. **6**(12): p. e1386829.
- 34. Schmid, P., S. Adams, H.S. Rugo, A. Schneeweiss, C.H. Barrios, H. Iwata, V. Diéras, R. Hegg, S.A. Im, G. Shaw Wright, V. Henschel, L. Molinero, S.Y. Chui, R. Funke, A. Husain, E.P. Winer, S. Loi, and L.A. Emens, *Atezolizumab and Nab-Paclitaxel in Advanced Triple-Negative Breast Cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2018. **379**(22): p. 2108-2121.
- 35. Nanda, R., M.C. Liu, C. Yau, R. Shatsky, L. Pusztai, A. Wallace, A.J. Chien, A. Forero-Torres, E. Ellis, and H. Han, *Effect of pembrolizumab plus neoadjuvant chemotherapy on pathologic complete response in women with early-stage breast cancer: an analysis of the ongoing phase 2 adaptively randomized I-SPY2 trial.* JAMA oncology, 2020. **6**(5): p. 676-684.
- 36. Pantelidou, C., O. Sonzogni, M. De Oliveria Taveira, A.K. Mehta, A. Kothari, D. Wang, T. Visal, M.K. Li, J. Pinto, J.A. Castrillon, E.M. Cheney, P. Bouwman, J. Jonkers, S. Rottenberg, J.L. Guerriero, G.M. Wulf, and G.I. Shapiro, *PARP Inhibitor Efficacy Depends on CD8(+) T-cell Recruitment via Intratumoral STING Pathway Activation in BRCA-Deficient Models of Triple-Negative Breast Cancer*. Cancer Discov, 2019. 9(6): p. 722-737.
- 37. Vinayak, S., S.M. Tolaney, L. Schwartzberg, M. Mita, G. McCann, A.R. Tan, A.E. Wahner-Hendrickson, A. Forero, C. Anders, G.M. Wulf, P. Dillon, F. Lynce, C. Zarwan, J.K. Erban, Y. Zhou, N. Buerstatte, J.R. Graham, S. Arora, B.J. Dezube, and M.L. Telli, *Open-Label Clinical Trial of Niraparib Combined With Pembrolizumab for Treatment of Advanced or Metastatic Triple-Negative Breast Cancer*. JAMA Oncol, 2019. 5(8): p. 1132-40.
- 38. Robson, M.E., N. Tung, P. Conte, S.A. Im, E. Senkus, B. Xu, N. Masuda, S. Delaloge, W. Li, A. Armstrong, W. Wu, C. Goessl, S. Runswick, and S.M. Domchek, *OlympiAD final overall survival and tolerability results: Olaparib versus chemotherapy treatment of physician's choice in patients with a germline BRCA mutation and HER2-negative metastatic breast cancer.* Ann Oncol, 2019. **30**(4): p. 558-566.

- 39. George, S., D. Miao, G.D. Demetri, D. Adeegbe, S.J. Rodig, S. Shukla, M. Lipschitz, A. Amin-Mansour, C.P. Raut, S.L. Carter, P. Hammerman, G.J. Freeman, C.J. Wu, P.A. Ott, K.K. Wong, and E.M. Van Allen, Loss of PTEN Is Associated with Resistance to Anti-PD-1 Checkpoint Blockade Therapy in Metastatic Uterine Leiomyosarcoma. Immunity, 2017. 46(2): p. 197-204.
- 40. Crompton, J.G., M. Sukumar, R. Roychoudhuri, D. Clever, A. Gros, R.L. Eil, E. Tran, K. Hanada, Z. Yu, D.C. Palmer, S.P. Kerkar, R.D. Michalek, T. Upham, A. Leonardi, N. Acquavella, E. Wang, F.M. Marincola, L. Gattinoni, P. Muranski, M.S. Sundrud, C.A. Klebanoff, S.A. Rosenberg, D.T. Fearon, and N.P. Restifo, *Akt inhibition enhances expansion of potent tumor-specific lymphocytes with memory cell characteristics*. Cancer Res, 2015. **75**(2): p. 296-305.
- 41. Schmid, P., S. Kümmel, D. Loirat, P. Savas, E. Espinosa, V. Boni, A. Italiano, S. White, S. Singel, and N. Withana, *Phase 1b study evaluating a triplet combination of ipatasertib* (*IPAT*), atezolizumab (Atezo), and paclitaxel (*PAC*) or nab-PAC as first-line (*1L*) therapy for locally advanced/metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (aTNBC). Geburtshilfe und Frauenheilkunde, 2020. **80**(06): p. 75.
- 42. Loi, S., S. Dushyanthen, P.A. Beavis, R. Salgado, C. Denkert, P. Savas, S. Combs, D.L. Rimm, J.M. Giltnane, M.V. Estrada, V. Sánchez, M.E. Sanders, R.S. Cook, M.A. Pilkinton, S.A. Mallal, K. Wang, V.A. Miller, P.J. Stephens, R. Yelensky, F.D. Doimi, H. Gómez, S.V. Ryzhov, P.K. Darcy, C.L. Arteaga, and J.M. Balko, *RAS/MAPK Activation Is Associated with Reduced Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer: Therapeutic Cooperation Between MEK and PD-1/PD-L1 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors.* Clin Cancer Res, 2016. 22(6): p. 1499-509.
- Ribas, A., T. Medina, S. Kummar, A. Amin, A. Kalbasi, J.J. Drabick, M. Barve, G.A. Daniels, D.J. Wong, E.V. Schmidt, A.F. Candia, R.L. Coffman, A.C.F. Leung, and R.S. Janssen, SD-101 in Combination with Pembrolizumab in Advanced Melanoma: Results of a Phase Ib, Multicenter Study. Cancer Discov, 2018. 8(10): p. 1250-1257.
- 44. Isakoff, S.J., S.M. Tolaney, N.M. Tung, S. Adams, H.H. Soliman, E.F. Brachtel, K.R. Habin, L.J. Bauer, L.W. Ellisen, and M. Severgnini, *A phase 1b study of safety and immune response to PVX-410 vaccine alone and in combination with durvalumab (MEDI4736) in HLA-A2+ patients following adjuvant therapy for stage 2/3 triple negative breast cancer.* 2017, American Society of Clinical Oncology.
- Bocanegra, A., G. Fernandez-Hinojal, M. Zuazo-Ibarra, H. Arasanz, M.J. Garcia-Granda, C. Hernandez, M. Ibañez, B. Hernandez-Marin, M. Martinez-Aguillo, M.J. Lecumberri, A. Fernandez de Lascoiti, L. Teijeira, I. Morilla, R. Vera, D. Escors, and G. Kochan, *PD-L1 Expression in Systemic Immune Cell Populations as a Potential Predictive Biomarker* of Responses to PD-L1/PD-1 Blockade Therapy in Lung Cancer. Int J Mol Sci, 2019. 20(7).
- 46. Zacharakis, N., H. Chinnasamy, M. Black, H. Xu, Y.C. Lu, Z. Zheng, A. Pasetto, M. Langhan, T. Shelton, T. Prickett, J. Gartner, L. Jia, K. Trebska-McGowan, R.P.

Somerville, P.F. Robbins, S.A. Rosenberg, S.L. Goff, and S.A. Feldman, *Immune* recognition of somatic mutations leading to complete durable regression in metastatic breast cancer. Nat Med, 2018. **24**(6): p. 724-730.

- 47. Tchou, J., Y. Zhao, B.L. Levine, P.J. Zhang, M.M. Davis, J.J. Melenhorst, I. Kulikovskaya, A.L. Brennan, X. Liu, S.F. Lacey, A.D. Posey, Jr., A.D. Williams, A. So, J.R. Conejo-Garcia, G. Plesa, R.M. Young, S. McGettigan, J. Campbell, R.H. Pierce, J.M. Matro, A.M. DeMichele, A.S. Clark, L.J. Cooper, L.M. Schuchter, R.H. Vonderheide, and C.H. June, *Safety and Efficacy of Intratumoral Injections of Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T Cells in Metastatic Breast Cancer*. Cancer Immunol Res, 2017. 5(12): p. 1152-1161.
- Stacker, S.A., S.P. Williams, T. Karnezis, R. Shayan, S.B. Fox, and M.G. Achen, Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic vessel remodelling in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer, 2014. 14(3): p. 159-72.
- 49. Rahma, O.E. and F.S. Hodi, *The intersection between tumor angiogenesis and immune suppression*. Clinical Cancer Research, 2019. **25**(18): p. 5449-5457.
- 50. Lund, A.W., M. Wagner, M. Fankhauser, E.S. Steinskog, M.A. Broggi, S. Spranger, T.F. Gajewski, K. Alitalo, H.P. Eikesdal, H. Wiig, and M.A. Swartz, *Lymphatic vessels regulate immune microenvironments in human and murine melanoma.* J Clin Invest, 2016. **126**(9): p. 3389-402.
- 51. Achen, M.G., G.B. Mann, and S.A. Stacker, *Targeting lymphangiogenesis to prevent tumour metastasis*. British Journal of Cancer, 2006. **94**(10): p. 1355-1360.
- 52. Nakamura, Y., H. Yasuoka, M. Tsujimoto, Q. Yang, S. Imabun, M. Nakahara, K. Nakao, M. Nakamura, I. Mori, and K. Kakudo, *Flt-4-positive vessel density correlates with vascular endothelial growth factor-d expression, nodal status, and prognosis in breast cancer.* Clin Cancer Res, 2003. **9**(14): p. 5313-7.
- Nakamura, Y., H. Yasuoka, M. Tsujimoto, S. Imabun, M. Nakahara, K. Nakao, M. Nakamura, I. Mori, and K. Kakudo, *Lymph vessel density correlates with nodal status, VEGF-C expression, and prognosis in breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2005. 91(2): p. 125-32.
- 54. Card, C.M., S.S. Yu, and M.A. Swartz, *Emerging roles of lymphatic endothelium in regulating adaptive immunity*. J Clin Invest, 2014. **124**(3): p. 943-52.
- 55. Issa, A., T.X. Le, A.N. Shoushtari, J.D. Shields, and M.A. Swartz, *Vascular endothelial* growth factor-C and C-C chemokine receptor 7 in tumor cell-lymphatic cross-talk promote invasive phenotype. Cancer Res, 2009. **69**(1): p. 349-57.
- 56. Shields, J.D., M.E. Fleury, C. Yong, A.A. Tomei, G.J. Randolph, and M.A. Swartz, *Autologous chemotaxis as a mechanism of tumor cell homing to lymphatics via interstitial flow and autocrine CCR7 signaling.* Cancer Cell, 2007. **11**(6): p. 526-38.
- 57. Lund, A.W., F.V. Duraes, S. Hirosue, V.R. Raghavan, C. Nembrini, S.N. Thomas, A. Issa, S. Hugues, and M.A. Swartz, VEGF-C promotes immune tolerance in B16 melanomas and cross-presentation of tumor antigen by lymph node lymphatics. Cell Rep, 2012. 1(3): p. 191-9.
- 58. Skobe, M., T. Hawighorst, D.G. Jackson, R. Prevo, L. Janes, P. Velasco, L. Riccardi, K. Alitalo, K. Claffey, and M. Detmar, *Induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis by VEGF-C promotes breast cancer metastasis*. Nat Med, 2001. **7**(2): p. 192-8.
- 59. Fankhauser, M., M.A.S. Broggi, L. Potin, N. Bordry, L. Jeanbart, A.W. Lund, E. Da Costa, S. Hauert, M. Rincon-Restrepo, C. Tremblay, E. Cabello, K. Homicsko, O. Michielin, D. Hanahan, D.E. Speiser, and M.A. Swartz, *Tumor lymphangiogenesis* promotes T cell infiltration and potentiates immunotherapy in melanoma. Sci Transl Med, 2017. 9(407).
- 60. Sasso, M.S., N. Mitrousis, Y. Wang, P.S. Briquez, S. Hauert, J. Ishihara, J.A. Hubbell, and M.A. Swartz, *Lymphangiogenesis-inducing vaccines elicit potent and long-lasting T cell immunity against melanomas*. Science Advances, 2021. 7(13): p. eabe4362.
- 61. Song, E., T. Mao, H. Dong, L.S.B. Boisserand, S. Antila, M. Bosenberg, K. Alitalo, J.L. Thomas, and A. Iwasaki, *VEGF-C-driven lymphatic drainage enables immunosurveillance of brain tumours*. Nature, 2020. **577**(7792): p. 689-694.
- 62. Pantano, F., P. Berti, F.M. Guida, G. Perrone, B. Vincenzi, M.M. Amato, D. Righi, E. Dell'aquila, F. Graziano, V. Catalano, M. Caricato, S. Rizzo, A.O. Muda, A. Russo, G. Tonini, and D. Santini, *The role of macrophages polarization in predicting prognosis of radically resected gastric cancer patients*. J Cell Mol Med, 2013. **17**(11): p. 1415-21.
- 63. Zhang, M., Y. He, X. Sun, Q. Li, W. Wang, A. Zhao, and W. Di, *A high M1/M2 ratio of tumor-associated macrophages is associated with extended survival in ovarian cancer patients.* J Ovarian Res, 2014. 7: p. 19.
- 64. Petrillo, M., G.F. Zannoni, E. Martinelli, L. Pedone Anchora, G. Ferrandina, G. Tropeano, A. Fagotti, and G. Scambia, *Polarisation of Tumor-Associated Macrophages toward M2 Phenotype Correlates with Poor Response to Chemoradiation and Reduced Survival in Patients with Locally Advanced Cervical Cancer*. PLoS One, 2015. **10**(9): p. e0136654.
- Chen, X., J. Chen, W. Zhang, R. Sun, T. Liu, Y. Zheng, and Y. Wu, *Prognostic value of diametrically polarized tumor-associated macrophages in multiple myeloma*. Oncotarget, 2017. 8(68): p. 112685-112696.
- 66. van Dalen, F.J., M. van Stevendaal, F.L. Fennemann, M. Verdoes, and O. Ilina, *Molecular Repolarisation of Tumour-Associated Macrophages*. Molecules, 2018. **24**(1).
- 67. Corrales, L., L.H. Glickman, S.M. McWhirter, D.B. Kanne, K.E. Sivick, G.E. Katibah, S.R. Woo, E. Lemmens, T. Banda, J.J. Leong, K. Metchette, T.W. Dubensky, Jr., and

T.F. Gajewski, Direct Activation of STING in the Tumor Microenvironment Leads to Potent and Systemic Tumor Regression and Immunity. Cell Rep, 2015. **11**(7): p. 1018-30.

- 68. Le Naour, J., L. Zitvogel, L. Galluzzi, E. Vacchelli, and G. Kroemer, *Trial watch: STING agonists in cancer therapy*. Oncoimmunology, 2020. **9**(1): p. 1777624.
- Kim, I.S., Y. Gao, T. Welte, H. Wang, J. Liu, M. Janghorban, K. Sheng, Y. Niu, A. Goldstein, N. Zhao, I. Bado, H.C. Lo, M.J. Toneff, T. Nguyen, W. Bu, W. Jiang, J. Arnold, F. Gu, J. He, D. Jebakumar, K. Walker, Y. Li, Q. Mo, T.F. Westbrook, C. Zong, A. Rao, A. Sreekumar, J.M. Rosen, and X.H. Zhang, *Immuno-subtyping of breast cancer reveals distinct myeloid cell profiles and immunotherapy resistance mechanisms*. Nat Cell Biol, 2019. 21(9): p. 1113-1126.
- 70. Broz, M.L., M. Binnewies, B. Boldajipour, A.E. Nelson, J.L. Pollack, D.J. Erle, A. Barczak, M.D. Rosenblum, A. Daud, D.L. Barber, S. Amigorena, L.J. Van't Veer, A.I. Sperling, D.M. Wolf, and M.F. Krummel, *Dissecting the tumor myeloid compartment reveals rare activating antigen-presenting cells critical for T cell immunity*. Cancer Cell, 2014. 26(5): p. 638-52.
- Peng, G.L., L. Li, Y.W. Guo, P. Yu, X.J. Yin, S. Wang, and C.P. Liu, CD8(+) cytotoxic and FoxP3(+) regulatory T lymphocytes serve as prognostic factors in breast cancer. Am J Transl Res, 2019. 11(8): p. 5039-5053.
- 72. Jiang, Y., Y. Li, and B. Zhu, *T-cell exhaustion in the tumor microenvironment*. Cell Death Dis, 2015. **6**: p. e1792.
- 73. Nagarsheth, N., M.S. Wicha, and W. Zou, *Chemokines in the cancer microenvironment and their relevance in cancer immunotherapy*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2017. **17**(9): p. 559-572.
- 74. Barros, M.H., P. Segges, G. Vera-Lozada, R. Hassan, and G. Niedobitek, *Macrophage* polarization reflects *T* cell composition of tumor microenvironment in pediatric classical Hodgkin lymphoma and has impact on survival. PLoS One, 2015. **10**(5): p. e0124531.
- 75. Qian, B.Z., J. Li, H. Zhang, T. Kitamura, J. Zhang, L.R. Campion, E.A. Kaiser, L.A. Snyder, and J.W. Pollard, *CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis*. Nature, 2011. **475**(7355): p. 222-5.
- Robinson, S.C., K.A. Scott, and F.R. Balkwill, *Chemokine stimulation of monocyte matrix metalloproteinase-9 requires endogenous TNF-alpha*. Eur J Immunol, 2002. 32(2): p. 404-12.
- 77. Spranger, S., R. Bao, and T.F. Gajewski, *Melanoma-intrinsic β-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity*. Nature, 2015. **523**(7559): p. 231-5.
- 78. Curiel, T.J., G. Coukos, L. Zou, X. Alvarez, P. Cheng, P. Mottram, M. Evdemon-Hogan, J.R. Conejo-Garcia, L. Zhang, M. Burow, Y. Zhu, S. Wei, I. Kryczek, B. Daniel, A. Gordon, L. Myers, A. Lackner, M.L. Disis, K.L. Knutson, L. Chen, and W. Zou, *Specific*

recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. Nat Med, 2004. **10**(9): p. 942-9.

- 79. Li, Y.Q., F.F. Liu, X.M. Zhang, X.J. Guo, M.J. Ren, and L. Fu, *Tumor secretion of CCL22 activates intratumoral Treg infiltration and is independent prognostic predictor of breast cancer.* PLoS One, 2013. **8**(10): p. e76379.
- 80. Wang, D., H. Sun, J. Wei, B. Cen, and R.N. DuBois, *CXCL1 Is Critical for Premetastatic Niche Formation and Metastasis in Colorectal Cancer*. Cancer Res, 2017. **77**(13): p. 3655-3665.
- 81. Wang, N., W. Liu, Y. Zheng, S. Wang, B. Yang, M. Li, J. Song, F. Zhang, X. Zhang, Q. Wang, and Z. Wang, *CXCL1 derived from tumor-associated macrophages promotes breast cancer metastasis via activating NF-κB/SOX4 signaling*. Cell Death Dis, 2018. 9(9): p. 880.
- 82. Yang, L., J. Huang, X. Ren, A.E. Gorska, A. Chytil, M. Aakre, D.P. Carbone, L.M. Matrisian, A. Richmond, P.C. Lin, and H.L. Moses, *Abrogation of TGF beta signaling in mammary carcinomas recruits Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells that promote metastasis.* Cancer Cell, 2008. **13**(1): p. 23-35.
- Ayers, M., J. Lunceford, M. Nebozhyn, E. Murphy, A. Loboda, D.R. Kaufman, A. Albright, J.D. Cheng, S.P. Kang, V. Shankaran, S.A. Piha-Paul, J. Yearley, T.Y. Seiwert, A. Ribas, and T.K. McClanahan, *IFN-γ-related mRNA profile predicts clinical response* to PD-1 blockade. J Clin Invest, 2017. **127**(8): p. 2930-2940.
- 84. Panse, J., K. Friedrichs, A. Marx, Y. Hildebrandt, T. Luetkens, K. Barrels, C. Horn, T. Stahl, Y. Cao, K. Milde-Langosch, A. Niendorf, N. Kröger, S. Wenzel, R. Leuwer, C. Bokemeyer, S. Hegewisch-Becker, and D. Atanackovic, *Chemokine CXCL13 is overexpressed in the tumour tissue and in the peripheral blood of breast cancer patients*. Br J Cancer, 2008. **99**(6): p. 930-8.
- 85. Garris, C.S., S.P. Arlauckas, R.H. Kohler, M.P. Trefny, S. Garren, C. Piot, C. Engblom, C. Pfirschke, M. Siwicki, J. Gungabeesoon, G.J. Freeman, S.E. Warren, S. Ong, E. Browning, C.G. Twitty, R.H. Pierce, M.H. Le, A.P. Algazi, A.I. Daud, S.I. Pai, A. Zippelius, R. Weissleder, and M.J. Pittet, *Successful Anti-PD-1 Cancer Immunotherapy Requires T Cell-Dendritic Cell Crosstalk Involving the Cytokines IFN-γ and IL-12.* Immunity, 2018. 49(6): p. 1148-1161.e7.
- 86. Zhang, L., J.R. Conejo-Garcia, D. Katsaros, P.A. Gimotty, M. Massobrio, G. Regnani, A. Makrigiannakis, H. Gray, K. Schlienger, M.N. Liebman, S.C. Rubin, and G. Coukos, *Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2003. **348**(3): p. 203-13.
- 87. Tay, R.E., E.K. Richardson, and H.C. Toh, *Revisiting the role of CD4 + T cells in cancer immunotherapy—new insights into old paradigms*. Cancer Gene Therapy, 2021. **28**(1): p. 5-17.

- 88. Zhu, J., H. Yamane, and W.E. Paul, *Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations* (*). Annu Rev Immunol, 2010. **28**: p. 445-89.
- 89. Josephs, S.F., T.E. Ichim, S.M. Prince, S. Kesari, F.M. Marincola, A.R. Escobedo, and A. Jafri, *Unleashing endogenous TNF-alpha as a cancer immunotherapeutic*. Journal of Translational Medicine, 2018. **16**(1): p. 242.
- 90. Ager, C.R., M.J. Reilley, C. Nicholas, T. Bartkowiak, A.R. Jaiswal, and M.A. Curran, Intratumoral STING Activation with T-cell Checkpoint Modulation Generates Systemic Antitumor Immunity. Cancer Immunol Res, 2017. 5(8): p. 676-684.
- 91. Scrimieri, F., D. Askew, D.J. Corn, S. Eid, I.D. Bobanga, J.A. Bjelac, M.L. Tsao, F. Allen, Y.S. Othman, S.C. Wang, and A.Y. Huang, *Murine leukemia virus envelope gp70 is a shared biomarker for the high-sensitivity quantification of murine tumor burden*. Oncoimmunology, 2013. **2**(11): p. e26889.
- 92. Ganesh, K. and J. Massagué, *TGF-β Inhibition and Immunotherapy: Checkmate*. Immunity, 2018. **48**(4): p. 626-628.
- 93. Mariathasan, S., S.J. Turley, D. Nickles, A. Castiglioni, K. Yuen, Y. Wang, E.E. Kadel, III, H. Koeppen, J.L. Astarita, R. Cubas, S. Jhunjhunwala, R. Banchereau, Y. Yang, Y. Guan, C. Chalouni, J. Ziai, Y. Şenbabaoğlu, S. Santoro, D. Sheinson, J. Hung, J.M. Giltnane, A.A. Pierce, K. Mesh, S. Lianoglou, J. Riegler, R.A.D. Carano, P. Eriksson, M. Höglund, L. Somarriba, D.L. Halligan, et al., *TGFβ attenuates tumour response to PD-L1 blockade by contributing to exclusion of T cells*. Nature, 2018. **554**(7693): p. 544-548.
- 94. Lin, E.Y., J.G. Jones, P. Li, L. Zhu, K.D. Whitney, W.J. Muller, and J.W. Pollard, *Progression to malignancy in the polyoma middle T oncoprotein mouse breast cancer model provides a reliable model for human diseases.* Am J Pathol, 2003. **163**(5): p. 2113-26.
- 95. Fantozzi, A. and G. Christofori, *Mouse models of breast cancer metastasis*. Breast Cancer Res, 2006. **8**(4): p. 212.
- 96. Crosby, E.J., J. Wei, X.Y. Yang, G. Lei, T. Wang, C.X. Liu, P. Agarwal, A.J. Korman, M.A. Morse, K. Gouin, S.R.V. Knott, H.K. Lyerly, and Z.C. Hartman, *Complimentary mechanisms of dual checkpoint blockade expand unique T-cell repertoires and activate adaptive anti-tumor immunity in triple-negative breast tumors*. Oncoimmunology, 2018. 7(5): p. e1421891.
- 97. Güç, E., P.S. Briquez, D. Foretay, M.A. Fankhauser, J.A. Hubbell, W.W. Kilarski, and M.A. Swartz, *Local induction of lymphangiogenesis with engineered fibrin-binding VEGF-C promotes wound healing by increasing immune cell trafficking and matrix remodeling*. Biomaterials, 2017. **131**: p. 160-175.
- 98. Ribba, A.S., I. Loisel, J.M. Lavergne, I. Juhan-Vague, B. Obert, G. Cherel, D. Meyer, and J.P. Girma, *Ser968Thr mutation within the A3 domain of von Willebrand factor*

(*VWF*) in two related patients leads to a defective binding of *VWF* to collagen. Thromb Haemost, 2001. **86**(3): p. 848-54.

- 99. Ishihara, J., A. Ishihara, K. Sasaki, S.S. Lee, J.M. Williford, M. Yasui, H. Abe, L. Potin, P. Hosseinchi, K. Fukunaga, M.M. Raczy, L.T. Gray, A. Mansurov, K. Katsumata, M. Fukayama, S.J. Kron, M.A. Swartz, and J.A. Hubbell, *Targeted antibody and cytokine cancer immunotherapies through collagen affinity*. Sci Transl Med, 2019. **11**(487).
- 100. Alishekevitz, D., S. Gingis-Velitski, O. Kaidar-Person, L. Gutter-Kapon, S.D. Scherer, Z. Raviv, E. Merquiol, Y. Ben-Nun, V. Miller, C. Rachman-Tzemah, M. Timaner, Y. Mumblat, N. Ilan, D. Loven, D. Hershkovitz, R. Satchi-Fainaro, G. Blum, J.P. Sleeman, I. Vlodavsky, and Y. Shaked, *Macrophage-Induced Lymphangiogenesis and Metastasis following Paclitaxel Chemotherapy Is Regulated by VEGFR3*. Cell Rep, 2016. 17(5): p. 1344-1356.
- 101. Tacconi, C., F. Ungaro, C. Correale, V. Arena, L. Massimino, M. Detmar, A. Spinelli, M. Carvello, M. Mazzone, and A.I. Oliveira, *Activation of the VEGFC/VEGFR3 pathway induces tumor immune escape in colorectal cancer*. Cancer research, 2019. **79**(16): p. 4196-4210.
- 102. Zhang, Y., Y. Lu, L. Ma, X. Cao, J. Xiao, J. Chen, S. Jiao, Y. Gao, C. Liu, and Z. Duan, Activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 in macrophages restrains TLR4-NF-κB signaling and protects against endotoxin shock. Immunity, 2014. 40(4): p. 501-514.
- 103. Leek, R.D., C.E. Lewis, R. Whitehouse, M. Greenall, J. Clarke, and A.L. Harris, *Association of macrophage infiltration with angiogenesis and prognosis in invasive breast carcinoma*. Cancer Res, 1996. **56**(20): p. 4625-9.
- 104. Zhao, X., J. Qu, Y. Sun, J. Wang, X. Liu, F. Wang, H. Zhang, W. Wang, X. Ma, X. Gao, and S. Zhang, *Prognostic significance of tumor-associated macrophages in breast cancer: a meta-analysis of the literature.* Oncotarget, 2017. **8**(18): p. 30576-30586.
- 105. Lin, Y., J. Xu, and H. Lan, *Tumor-associated macrophages in tumor metastasis: biological roles and clinical therapeutic applications*. Journal of Hematology & Oncology, 2019. **12**(1): p. 76.
- 106. Demaria, O., A. De Gassart, S. Coso, N. Gestermann, J. Di Domizio, L. Flatz, O. Gaide, O. Michielin, P. Hwu, and T.V. Petrova, *STING activation of tumor endothelial cells initiates spontaneous and therapeutic antitumor immunity*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2015. **112**(50): p. 15408-15413.
- 107. Sato, E., S.H. Olson, J. Ahn, B. Bundy, H. Nishikawa, F. Qian, A.A. Jungbluth, D. Frosina, S. Gnjatic, C. Ambrosone, J. Kepner, T. Odunsi, G. Ritter, S. Lele, Y.T. Chen, H. Ohtani, L.J. Old, and K. Odunsi, *Intraepithelial CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and a high CD8+/regulatory T cell ratio are associated with favorable prognosis in ovarian cancer*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. **102**(51): p. 18538-43.

- 108. Fu, J., D.B. Kanne, M. Leong, L.H. Glickman, S.M. McWhirter, E. Lemmens, K. Mechette, J.J. Leong, P. Lauer, and W. Liu, *STING agonist formulated cancer vaccines can cure established tumors resistant to PD-1 blockade*. Science translational medicine, 2015. 7(283): p. 283ra52-283ra52.
- 109. Fang, W.B., I. Jokar, A. Zou, D. Lambert, P. Dendukuri, and N. Cheng, CCL2/CCR2 chemokine signaling coordinates survival and motility of breast cancer cells through Smad3 protein- and p42/44 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-dependent mechanisms. J Biol Chem, 2012. 287(43): p. 36593-608.
- 110. Long, H., R. Xie, T. Xiang, Z. Zhao, S. Lin, Z. Liang, Z. Chen, and B. Zhu, *Autocrine CCL5 signaling promotes invasion and migration of CD133+ ovarian cancer stem-like cells via NF-κB-mediated MMP-9 upregulation.* Stem Cells, 2012. **30**(10): p. 2309-19.
- 111. Kitamura, T., B.Z. Qian, D. Soong, L. Cassetta, R. Noy, G. Sugano, Y. Kato, J. Li, and J.W. Pollard, *CCL2-induced chemokine cascade promotes breast cancer metastasis by enhancing retention of metastasis-associated macrophages.* J Exp Med, 2015. **212**(7): p. 1043-59.
- 112. Romero-Moreno, R., K.J. Curtis, T.R. Coughlin, M.C. Miranda-Vergara, S. Dutta, A. Natarajan, B.A. Facchine, K.M. Jackson, L. Nystrom, J. Li, W. Kaliney, G.L. Niebur, and L.E. Littlepage, *The CXCL5/CXCR2 axis is sufficient to promote breast cancer colonization during bone metastasis*. Nat Commun, 2019. 10(1): p. 4404.
- 113. Mao, Z., J. Zhang, Y. Shi, W. Li, H. Shi, R. Ji, F. Mao, H. Qian, W. Xu, and X. Zhang, *CXCL5 promotes gastric cancer metastasis by inducing epithelial-mesenchymal transition and activating neutrophils*. Oncogenesis, 2020. **9**(7): p. 63.
- 114. House, I.G., P. Savas, J. Lai, A.X.Y. Chen, A.J. Oliver, Z.L. Teo, K.L. Todd, M.A. Henderson, L. Giuffrida, E.V. Petley, K. Sek, S. Mardiana, T.N. Gide, C. Quek, R.A. Scolyer, G.V. Long, J.S. Wilmott, S. Loi, P.K. Darcy, and P.A. Beavis, *Macrophage-Derived CXCL9 and CXCL10 Are Required for Antitumor Immune Responses Following Immune Checkpoint Blockade*. Clin Cancer Res, 2020. 26(2): p. 487-504.
- Spranger, S., D. Dai, B. Horton, and T.F. Gajewski, *Tumor-residing Batf3 dendritic cells are required for effector T cell trafficking and adoptive T cell therapy*. Cancer cell, 2017. 31(5): p. 711-723. e4.
- 116. Pagès, F., A. Berger, M. Camus, F. Sanchez-Cabo, A. Costes, R. Molidor, B. Mlecnik, A. Kirilovsky, M. Nilsson, D. Damotte, T. Meatchi, P. Bruneval, P.H. Cugnenc, Z. Trajanoski, W.H. Fridman, and J. Galon, *Effector memory T cells, early metastasis, and survival in colorectal cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2005. **353**(25): p. 2654-66.
- 117. Romagnani, P., F. Annunziato, L. Lasagni, E. Lazzeri, C. Beltrame, M. Francalanci, M. Uguccioni, G. Galli, L. Cosmi, L. Maurenzig, M. Baggiolini, E. Maggi, S. Romagnani, and M. Serio, *Cell cycle-dependent expression of CXC chemokine receptor 3 by endothelial cells mediates angiostatic activity.* J Clin Invest, 2001. **107**(1): p. 53-63.

- 118. Xu, L., Z. Liang, S. Li, and J. Ma, *Signaling via the CXCR5/ERK pathway is mediated by CXCL13 in mice with breast cancer*. Oncol Lett, 2018. **15**(6): p. 9293-9298.
- 119. Kennedy, R. and E. Celis, *Multiple roles for CD4+ T cells in anti-tumor immune responses*. Immunol Rev, 2008. **222**: p. 129-44.
- 120. Braumüller, H., T. Wieder, E. Brenner, S. Aßmann, M. Hahn, M. Alkhaled, K. Schilbach, F. Essmann, M. Kneilling, C. Griessinger, F. Ranta, S. Ullrich, R. Mocikat, K. Braungart, T. Mehra, B. Fehrenbacher, J. Berdel, H. Niessner, F. Meier, M. van den Broek, H.U. Häring, R. Handgretinger, L. Quintanilla-Martinez, F. Fend, M. Pesic, J. Bauer, L. Zender, M. Schaller, K. Schulze-Osthoff, and M. Röcken, *T-helper-1-cell cytokines drive cancer into senescence*. Nature, 2013. **494**(7437): p. 361-5.
- 121. Melssen, M. and C.L. Slingluff, Jr., *Vaccines targeting helper T cells for cancer immunotherapy*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2017. **47**: p. 85-92.
- 122. Bevan, M.J., *Helping the CD8(+) T-cell response*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2004. **4**(8): p. 595-602.
- 123. Ahrends, T., A. Spanjaard, B. Pilzecker, N. Bąbała, A. Bovens, Y. Xiao, H. Jacobs, and J. Borst, CD4(+) T Cell Help Confers a Cytotoxic T Cell Effector Program Including Coinhibitory Receptor Downregulation and Increased Tissue Invasiveness. Immunity, 2017. 47(5): p. 848-861.e5.
- Borst, J., T. Ahrends, N. Bąbała, C.J.M. Melief, and W. Kastenmüller, CD4 + T cell help in cancer immunology and immunotherapy. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2018. 18(10): p. 635-647.
- 125. Muranski, P., A. Boni, P.A. Antony, L. Cassard, K.R. Irvine, A. Kaiser, C.M. Paulos, D.C. Palmer, C.E. Touloukian, K. Ptak, L. Gattinoni, C. Wrzesinski, C.S. Hinrichs, K.W. Kerstann, L. Feigenbaum, C.C. Chan, and N.P. Restifo, *Tumor-specific Th17-polarized cells eradicate large established melanoma*. Blood, 2008. **112**(2): p. 362-73.
- 126. Liang, W. and N. Ferrara, *The Complex Role of Neutrophils in Tumor Angiogenesis and Metastasis.* Cancer Immunol Res, 2016. 4(2): p. 83-91.
- 127. El Rayes, T., R. Catena, S. Lee, M. Stawowczyk, N. Joshi, C. Fischbach, C.A. Powell, A.J. Dannenberg, N.K. Altorki, D. Gao, and V. Mittal, *Lung inflammation promotes metastasis through neutrophil protease-mediated degradation of Tsp-1*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2015. **112**(52): p. 16000-5.

CHAPTER 3: THE RELATION BETWEEN TUMOR LYMPHANGIOGENESIS AND IMMUNE GENE SIGNATURES IN HUMAN BREAST CANCER

3.1 Abstract

Tumor-associated lymphatics and lymphangiogenesis have long been correlated with metastasis and poor patient survival in various cancers. Their role in shaping the anti-tumor immunity, particularly in the context of cancer immunotherapies had been underappreciated until recently. Our group has shown that melanoma patients with higher levels of VEGF-C in their serum had improved response to checkpoint inhibitors. In this chapter, I characterized the relation between VEGF-C expression, together with other lymphatic markers, with the expression of various immune cells in human breast cancer patients using The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) database. This analysis was performed for each molecular subtype to reveal the differences between each group. Moreover, I identified the genes whose expression was altered the most in relation with VEGF-C expression in the tumors.

3.2 Introduction

3.2.1 Biomarkers for patient stratification in breast cancer

Similar to other cancer types, identification of biomarkers for stratification of breast cancer patients for various immunotherapies has been an ongoing effort [1]. In the case of checkpoint inhibitors, which target the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway, the expression of PD-L1 on tumor cells or immune cells has been investigated as a prognostic biomarker for responsiveness to checkpoint inhibitors across different cancer types [2]. For instance, atezolizumab (in combination with paclitaxel) has been approved for untreated metastatic TNBC patients with PD-L1 positive status based on the expression on immune cells [3]. However, only 20% of breast cancers express detectable PD-L1, with the expression levels being higher in TNBC and HER2⁺ breast cancer (33% and 11%, respectively) [4]. Moreover, the use of PD-L1 expression as a biomarker for immunotherapy response in breast cancer has been controversial [4]. In a phase III randomized trial of previously-treated metastatic TNBC patients, single-agent pembrolizumab did not improve median overall survival compared to chemotherapy, regardless of PD-L1 status [5]. However, in another randomized phase III trial where the efficacy of pembrolizumab in combination with chemotherapy was evaluated against placebo and chemotherapy in untreated TNBC, in patients with a high PD-L1 score (on tumor cells and immune cells combined) the pembrolizumabchemotherapy combination significantly improved PFS as compared to placebo-chemotherapy [6]. Furthermore, uncertainty over positivity cut-off rates, existence of multiple assays (using different antibodies) for the scoring of PD-L1, its varying expression over time and the response of some PD-L1 negative patients to checkpoint inhibitors has prevented its clinical adoption as a broad predictive biomarker [7].

TILs have been explored to be employed as biomarkers for response to immunotherapies, particularly since they are a major indication of pre-existing adaptive immunity against tumors cells [8]. Overall, higher CD8⁺ T cells are associated with better prognosis in TNBC and HER2⁺ cancer [9]. In a phase I study evaluating the safety of atezolizumab, TILs and CD8⁺ cells at the baseline were associated with higher response rates [10]. Moreover, in a phase II trial, metastatic TNBC patients with higher TILs had improved ORRs to pembrolizumab, with PD-L1 expression correlating with TIL levels [11]. Interestingly, serum lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) was a predictor for worse response to pembrolizumab in this study [11]. Despite these studies demonstrating promising results on the use of TILs as a predictive biomarker, it still has not been FDA approved as a patient stratification tool in breast cancer.

3.2.2 VEGF-C as a biomarker in cancer

Tumor-associated lymphatics and tumor lymphangiogenesis have been associated with metastasis and poor patient prognosis in multiple cancer types [12, 13]. As the main growth factor driving lymphangiogenesis, VEGF-C can be used as a proxy for quantifying tumor-associated lymphatics as it has been shown to correlate with intratumoral lymphatics [14, 15]. Moreover, our group has demonstrated that dermal lymphatics are required for the initiation of anti-tumor immune responses against cancer cells in melanoma [16] and that tumor lymphangiogenesis improves responsiveness to immunotherapies in murine melanoma models [17]. Importantly, in human melanoma, intratumoral VEGF-C expression correlated with T cell gene signatures and pre-treatment serum VEGF-C levels positively correlated with responsiveness to checkpoint inhibitors in a clinical trial [17]. These findings suggest that intratumoral and serum VEGF-C levels can be candidates for predicting responsiveness to immunotherapies.

Given that a considerable portion of breast cancer patients still do not respond to cancer immunotherapies, for instance more than 40% non-responders to combination of chemotherapy and atezolizumab in TNBC patients [3], there is a critical need for identification of a predictive biomarker to select patients who would benefit the most from immunotherapy treatment. In order to assess the potential use of tumor-associated lymphatics as a predictive biomarker, I used the TCGA dataset to characterize the relation between lymphatic markers (including VEGF-C) and immune gene signatures in different molecular subtypes of breast cancer. This analysis is important since the pre-existing anti-tumor immunity and TILs have been shown to associate with responsiveness to immunotherapies in various cancer types [18, 19].

3.3 Materials and methods

Normalized RSEM data generated by mRNA sequencing of human tumor samples by the TCGA Research Network were downloaded from <u>http://firebrowse.org</u>. The data were analyzed using Microsoft Excel and RStudio. After extracting the data from primary tumors only, Pearson's r correlations between VEGF-C/VEGF-D and selected genes were computed using logarithm of RSEM values in base 2. For analysis of macrophages, a breast cancer TAM gene signature was used that employs 37 macrophage-associated genes described previously [20].

Principal component analysis was performed on patients from each molecular subtype using the R function prcomp with zero-centered and unit-scaled RSEM gene variables. In all analyses, the patient quartile with highest VEGF-C expression was defined as VEGF-C^{high}, the patient quartile with lowest VEGF-C expression was defined as VEGF-C^{low}, and the remaining patients were defined as VEGF-C^{mid}. For volcano plots, fold increases in gene expression were defined as the average gene expression in VEGF-C^{high} patients over the average gene expression in VEGF-C^{low} patients. Expression of VEGFC, PDPN and LYVE1 were normalized among the patients (such that the average expression of each gene among the patients is zero and the standard deviation is one) and the lymphatic score was defined as the sum of normalized values for each patient. for P-values were computed using two-tailed, unpaired, equal variance t-tests, unless otherwise stated.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 VEGF-C expression level in human TNBC tumors leads to distinctive gene expression profile among patients

We assessed the relevance of our findings in mice in the previous chapter to humans by analyzing the mRNA sequencing data from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) database to characterize the gene expression in the primary tumors of breast cancer patients. First, we focused on TNBC patients since we had observed the lymphangiogenic potentiation benefit in the triplenegative 4T1 tumors. After confirming the Gaussian distribution of VEGF-C expression in the tumors (Fig. 3.1A), we stratified the patients based on their VEGF-C expression levels into VEGF-Chigh, VEGF-C^{mid} and VEGF-C^{low} subsets (Fig. 3.1B). Next, we looked at the fold-changes of gene expressions comparing the VEGF-Chigh and VEGF-Clow groups. Among the genes most upregulated were lymphatic-associated genes, including CCL21 and fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4) [21, 22] (Fig. 3.1C). Notably, FABP4, which is critical in glucose regulation and lipid hemostasis, has been shown to be a prognostic factor in breast cancer patients [23]. Moreover, complement component 7 (C7), expression of which is associated with better clinical outcome in different cancers [24], was also among the most up-regulated genes in the VEGF-Chigh subset (Fig. **3.1C**). Importantly, CCL14 which in hepatocellular carcinoma has been shown to act a tumor suppressor by inhibition of Wnt/β-catenin signaling [25] and correlate with B cells and T cells infiltration and a positive clinical outcome [26], was also highly expressed in the VEGF-Chigh population (Fig. 3.1C).

Amongst the genes that were most down-regulated in the VEGF-C^{high} group, we observed mitogen-activated protein kinase 4 (MAPK4), an enzyme whose over-expression has been associated with poor patient survival in multiple cancers due to the activation of AKT/mTOR

signaling pathway [27]. Tumor-associated antigen preferentially expressed in melanoma (PRAME) was also down-regulated in VEGF-C^{high} group (**Fig. 3.1C**). It has been demonstrated that PRAME-induced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in triple-negative breast cancer cells and its expression is correlated with reduced survival in TNBC patients [28]. Moreover, microtubule-associated serine/threonine kinase 1 (MAST1) and GDNF family-receptor alpha-3 (GFR α 3) were also among the most down-regulated genes when comparing VEGFC^{high} to VEGFC^{low} patients (**Fig. 3.1C**). MAST1 has been shown to cause cisplatin-resistance in various cancers [29] and GFR α 3 expression has been associated with lymph node metastasis and poor patient outcome in mammary carcinomas [30]. Finally, principal component analysis of the TNBC patients revealed distinct genetic profiles between the patients based on the VEGFC levels in TNBC patients correlate with expression of various genes critical in clinical outcome in breast cancer and lead to a distinct gene signature among the patients.



Figure 3.1. Principal component analysis of human TNBC tumors based on VEGF-C expression reveals a distinct gene signature. Human TNBC tumor mRNA expression data was extracted from TCGA dataset. (A) Distribution of patients based on VEGF-C expression levels (n=116). (B) Volcano plot of gene expression fold-changes based on VEGF-C^{high} over VEGF-C^{low} tumors. (C) VEGF-C expression levels in three patient subsets of VEGF-C^{high}, VEGF-C^{mid} and VEGF-C^{low}. (D) Principal component analysis of the three patient subsets. Genes labeled in blue are up-regulated and genes labeled in red are down-regulated (B). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (C). P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

3.4.2 Expression of CD4 and macrophage-associated genes positively correlate with

lymphatic score in TNBC tumors

Based on my results in murine triple-negative mammary tumors, we looked at the expression of CD4, CD8A and CD68 genes in the TNBC tumors based on VEGF-C expression levels. Consistent with my results in the 4T1 murine studies, there was a significant increase in CD4 and CD68 expression in VEGF-C^{mid} and VEGF-C^{high} tumors, whereas expression of CD8A was not different among the three groups (Fig. 3.2A). Next, we calculated a lymphatic score to better define the relation between gene signatures and intratumoral lymphatics. For this purpose, we normalized and summed the expression levels of three lymphatic associated genes, namely VEGFC, PDPN and LYVE1, as described previously [31]. As we hypothesized, the lymphatic score positively correlated with CD4 and CD68 gene expression, yet there was no correlation with CD8A expression (Fig. 3.2B). Notably, there was also a strong correlation between lymphatic score and macrophage markers MRC1 (CD206), CSF1R and a tumor-associated macrophage (TAM) score composed of 37 genes identified in breast cancer (Fig. 3.2C) [20]. Interestingly, we did not observe any significant correlation between the lymphangiogenic growth factor VEGF-D and CD68 expression and it showed only a mild correlation with CD4 gene expression (p = 0.0423) (Fig. 3.2D). These results demonstrate that similarly to our studies in mice, intratumoral VEGF-C levels in triple-negative mammary tumors correlate with CD4 and macrophage gene expression.



Figure 3.2. Expression of VEGF-C positively correlates with CD4 and macrophage gene expression in human TNBC tumors. (A) Gene expression of CD8A, CD4 and CD68 amongst patient subsets based on VEGF-C expression levels. (B) Correlations of lymphatic score (composed of LYVE1, PDPN, VEGFC expression) with CD8A, CD4 and CD68 gene expression. (C) Correlations of lymphatic score with TAM score (37 genes), MRC1 and CSF1R gene expression. (D) Correlations of VEGF-D expression with CD8A, CD4 and CD68 gene expression. Dot plots are shown with linear regression correlations using Pearson's r test. Statistical analyses were performed using ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test (A). P values are reported as: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

Next, we looked at the expression of lymphangiogenic growth factor VEGF-C amongst breast cancer molecular subtypes other than TNBC. Notably, the intratumoral expression of VEGF-C was lower in triple-negative tumors compared to the other molecular subtypes (data not shown). In the ER/PR⁺HER2⁺ subtype, VEGF-C positively correlated with CD4 and CD68 gene expressions only, similarly to TNBC tumors (**Fig. 3.3A**). Among the ER/PR⁺HER2⁺ tumors, VEGF-C positively correlated with all three genes (**Fig. 3.3B**). However, in the ER/PR⁺HER2⁺ tumors, there was no significant correlation with any of CD4, CD8A or CD68 genes (**Fig. 3.3C**). This could be due to the smaller patient pool in this subtype. Among these three molecular subtypes, only the triple-positive subtype exhibited the same correlations as the TNBC tumors.



Figure 3.3. Correlations of intratumoral VEGF-C expression with the expression of T cell and macrophage genes amongst different breast cancer molecular subtypes. Correlations of intratumoral VEGF-C expression with the expression of CD8A, CD4 and CD68 in (A) ER/PR⁺HER2⁺ (n=125), (B) ER/PR⁺HER2⁻ (n=435) and (C) ER/PR⁻HER2⁺ (n=38) patients. Dot plots are shown with linear regression correlations using Pearson's r test.

3.5 Discussion

There are currently various biomarkers established as predictive factors for responsiveness to immunotherapies in other malignancies that could be of value in breast cancer patients. Gene signatures associated with T cells and IFN γ positively correlated with better outcome in response to checkpoint inhibitors in melanoma and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients [32, 33]. In addition, T cell receptor (TCR) diversity in the peripheral blood of melanoma patients at baseline was associated with improved clinical outcome to ipilimumab (α CTLA-4) therapy. Even though HER2⁺ and TNBC tumors have higher mutational burdens compared to the other molecular subtypes [34], further research and clinical data are required to investigate if these putative biomarkers would be predictive of response to immunotherapy in breast cancer. Moreover, biomarkers such as microsatellite instability and tumor mutational burden are predictive markers in other malignancies [35, 36], but are not feasible candidates for assessing responsiveness to immunotherapies in breast cancer due to their infrequent occurrence [37], except in BRCA-deficient breast tumors [38].

Due to the non-invasive and cost-effective nature of liquid biopsies, such as circulating proteins, exosomes or tumor cells, there has been a significant effort in identifying liquid biopsy biomarkers for responsiveness to immunotherapies [39]. In a small study attempting to assess the use of PD-L1 expression on circulating immune cells as a predictive biomarker, it was shown that in NSCLC patients with PD-L1 negative tumors, the percentage of circulating PD-L1 myeloid cells was predictive of objective response to checkpoint inhibition [40]. The predictive role of PD-L1 expression on circulating immune cells in response to immunotherapies has not been investigated in breast cancer patients though.

Circulating tumor cells (CTCs) have been shown to have prognostic value in breast cancer [41], and are also being explored as predictive biomarkers for responsiveness to immunotherapies [1]. It was demonstrated that CTCs in breast cancer patients express PD-L1 [42] and their frequency is higher in metastatic patients [43]. These results show promise for use of CTCs as a predictive biomarker for immunotherapy response, however the correct challenges with reproducibility of CTC isolation techniques need to be addressed first before any potential clinical adoption. There has also been significant interest in the use of circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA) in predicting response to immunotherapies. A recent study showed that ctDNA was associated with PFS and OS when treating multiple solid tumors with pembrolizumab [44]. The use of ctDNA as an immunotherapy predictive biomarker in breast cancer remains unexplored.

On the promise of employing exosomes as biomarkers, PD-L1 expression on circulating exosomes was predictive of poor clinical outcome to anti-PD-1 therapy in melanoma patients [45]. Moreover, in another group of NSCLC patients treated with anit-PD-1, higher expression of a set of microRNAs was correlated with improved PFS and OS [46]. Despite the evidence that exosomal biomarkers (including microRNAs) could provide prognostic value in breast cancer [47, 48], there have not been large clinical trials assessing their predictive role in the context of predicting responsiveness to immunotherapies. Thus, identification of biomarkers for selection of breast cancer patients who would benefit from cancer immunotherapy is still a critical unmet need.

In this chapter, we showed that in human TNBC tumors expression of VEGF-C and the lymphatic score positively correlate with immune gene signatures of CD4 T cells and macrophages, which were constituent which I observed in the previous chapter using murine triplenegative mammary tumors. Moreover, principal component analysis of the patients based on VEGF-C expression levels showed a distinct genetic signature. These results suggest that tumor lymphangiogenesis correlates with immune infiltrates, which might render the patients more responsive to appropriate cancer immunotherapies. As there is minimal lymphangiogenesis in healthy people [49],

It should be noted though that the TCGA dataset is obtained from patients who were either untreated or had undergone some form of clinical treatment (e.g. radiation). Moreover, it is unclear if the patients with higher VEGF-C expression levels would have indeed responded more favorably to immunotherapies. However, in a neoadjuvant phase III trial (KEYNOTE-522) in patients with early triple-negative breast cancer (stage II/III), who were treated with either a combination of pembrolizumab (aPD-1) plus chemotherapy or chemotherapy alone, the interim results showed that those with a node-positive status responded more favorably to the combination therapy than those with a negative nodal status (20.6% versus 6.3% in difference in pathological complete response) [50]. Although tumor lymphatics (or lymphangiogenesis) is not quantified in this study, the fact that tumor lymphangiogenesis correlates with increased metastasis and a positive nodal status [12, 51] suggests that patients with more tumor lymphangiogenesis could have a higher response rate to the combination therapy than those with less tumor lymphangiogenesis. Further studies are required to assess the relation between tumor lymphangiogenesis and clinical outcome to immunotherapies and investigate if serum VEGF-C levels can be used a predictive biomarker, similarly to melanoma [17].

3.6 References

- 1. Vafaizadeh, V. and Z. Barekati, *Immuno-Oncology Biomarkers for Personalized Immunotherapy in Breast Cancer*. Front Cell Dev Biol, 2020. **8**: p. 162.
- 2. Doroshow, D.B., S. Bhalla, M.B. Beasley, L.M. Sholl, K.M. Kerr, S. Gnjatic, I.I. Wistuba, D.L. Rimm, M.S. Tsao, and F.R. Hirsch, *PD-L1 as a biomarker of response to immune-checkpoint inhibitors*. Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology, 2021.
- Schmid, P., S. Adams, H.S. Rugo, A. Schneeweiss, C.H. Barrios, H. Iwata, V. Diéras, R. Hegg, S.A. Im, G. Shaw Wright, V. Henschel, L. Molinero, S.Y. Chui, R. Funke, A. Husain, E.P. Winer, S. Loi, and L.A. Emens, *Atezolizumab and Nab-Paclitaxel in Advanced Triple-Negative Breast Cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2018. **379**(22): p. 2108-2121.
- 4. Swoboda, A. and R. Nanda, *Immune Checkpoint Blockade for Breast Cancer*. Cancer Treat Res, 2018. **173**: p. 155-165.
- 5. Winer, E.P., O. Lipatov, S.A. Im, A. Goncalves, E. Muñoz-Couselo, K.S. Lee, P. Schmid, K. Tamura, L. Testa, I. Witzel, S. Ohtani, N. Turner, S. Zambelli, N. Harbeck, F. Andre, R. Dent, X. Zhou, V. Karantza, J. Mejia, and J. Cortes, *Pembrolizumab versus investigator-choice chemotherapy for metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (KEYNOTE-119): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial.* Lancet Oncol, 2021.
- 6. Cortes, J., D.W. Cescon, H.S. Rugo, Z. Nowecki, S.-A. Im, M.M. Yusof, C. Gallardo, O. Lipatov, C.H. Barrios, and E. Holgado, *Pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy versus placebo plus chemotherapy for previously untreated locally recurrent inoperable or metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (KEYNOTE-355): a randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind, phase 3 clinical trial. The Lancet, 2020.* **396**(10265): p. 1817-1828.
- Reisenbichler, E.S., G. Han, A. Bellizzi, V. Bossuyt, J. Brock, K. Cole, O. Fadare, O. Hameed, K. Hanley, B.T. Harrison, M.G. Kuba, A. Ly, D. Miller, M. Podoll, A.C. Roden, K. Singh, M.A. Sanders, S. Wei, H. Wen, V. Pelekanou, V. Yaghoobi, F. Ahmed, L. Pusztai, and D.L. Rimm, *Prospective multi-institutional evaluation of pathologist assessment of PD-L1 assays for patient selection in triple negative breast cancer*. Mod Pathol, 2020. 33(9): p. 1746-1752.
- 8. Chen, D.S. and I. Mellman, *Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point*. Nature, 2017. **541**(7637): p. 321-330.
- 9. Ali, H., E. Provenzano, S.-J. Dawson, F. Blows, B. Liu, M. Shah, H. Earl, C. Poole, L. Hiller, and J. Dunn, *Association between CD8+ T-cell infiltration and breast cancer survival in 12 439 patients*. Annals of oncology, 2014. **25**(8): p. 1536-1543.
- 10. Schmid, P., C. Cruz, F.S. Braiteh, J.P. Eder, S. Tolaney, I. Kuter, R. Nanda, C. Chung, P. Cassier, and J.-P. Delord, *Atezolizumab in metastatic TNBC (mTNBC): Long-term clinical outcomes and biomarker analyses.* 2017, AACR.

- 11. Loi, S., S. Adams, P. Schmid, J. Cortés, D. Cescon, E. Winer, D. Toppmeyer, H. Rugo, M. De Laurentiis, and R. Nanda, *Relationship between tumor infiltrating lymphocyte (TIL) levels and response to pembrolizumab (pembro) in metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (mTNBC): results from KEYNOTE-086.* Annals of Oncology, 2017. **28**: p. v608.
- Nakamura, Y., H. Yasuoka, M. Tsujimoto, S. Imabun, M. Nakahara, K. Nakao, M. Nakamura, I. Mori, and K. Kakudo, *Lymph vessel density correlates with nodal status, VEGF-C expression, and prognosis in breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2005. 91(2): p. 125-32.
- 13. Saharinen, P., T. Tammela, M.J. Karkkainen, and K. Alitalo, *Lymphatic vasculature: development, molecular regulation and role in tumor metastasis and inflammation.* Trends Immunol, 2004. **25**(7): p. 387-95.
- 14. Shayan, R., T. Karnezis, R. Murali, J.S. Wilmott, M.W. Ashton, G.I. Taylor, J.F. Thompson, P. Hersey, M.G. Achen, and R.A. Scolyer, *Lymphatic vessel density in primary melanomas predicts sentinel lymph node status and risk of metastasis.* Histopathology, 2012. **61**(4): p. 702-710.
- 15. Shields, J.D., M. Borsetti, H. Rigby, S.J. Harper, P.S. Mortimer, J.R. Levick, A. Orlando, and D.O. Bates, *Lymphatic density and metastatic spread in human malignant melanoma*. Br J Cancer, 2004. **90**(3): p. 693-700.
- Lund, A.W., M. Wagner, M. Fankhauser, E.S. Steinskog, M.A. Broggi, S. Spranger, T.F. Gajewski, K. Alitalo, H.P. Eikesdal, H. Wiig, and M.A. Swartz, *Lymphatic vessels regulate immune microenvironments in human and murine melanoma*. J Clin Invest, 2016. 126(9): p. 3389-402.
- Fankhauser, M., M.A.S. Broggi, L. Potin, N. Bordry, L. Jeanbart, A.W. Lund, E. Da Costa, S. Hauert, M. Rincon-Restrepo, C. Tremblay, E. Cabello, K. Homicsko, O. Michielin, D. Hanahan, D.E. Speiser, and M.A. Swartz, *Tumor lymphangiogenesis* promotes T cell infiltration and potentiates immunotherapy in melanoma. Sci Transl Med, 2017. 9(407).
- Wein, L., S.J. Luen, P. Savas, R. Salgado, and S. Loi, *Checkpoint blockade in the treatment of breast cancer: current status and future directions*. Br J Cancer, 2018. 119(1): p. 4-11.
- Ji, R.R., S.D. Chasalow, L. Wang, O. Hamid, H. Schmidt, J. Cogswell, S. Alaparthy, D. Berman, M. Jure-Kunkel, N.O. Siemers, J.R. Jackson, and V. Shahabi, *An immune-active tumor microenvironment favors clinical response to ipilimumab*. Cancer Immunol Immunother, 2012. 61(7): p. 1019-31.
- Cassetta, L., S. Fragkogianni, A.H. Sims, A. Swierczak, L.M. Forrester, H. Zhang, D.Y.H. Soong, T. Cotechini, P. Anur, E.Y. Lin, A. Fidanza, M. Lopez-Yrigoyen, M.R. Millar, A. Urman, Z. Ai, P.T. Spellman, E.S. Hwang, J.M. Dixon, L. Wiechmann, L.M. Coussens, H.O. Smith, and J.W. Pollard, *Human Tumor-Associated Macrophage and*

Monocyte Transcriptional Landscapes Reveal Cancer-Specific Reprogramming, Biomarkers, and Therapeutic Targets. Cancer Cell, 2019. **35**(4): p. 588-602.e10.

- Elmasri, H., E. Ghelfi, C.-w. Yu, S. Traphagen, M. Cernadas, H. Cao, G.-P. Shi, J. Plutzky, M. Sahin, and G. Hotamisligil, *Endothelial cell-fatty acid binding protein 4 promotes angiogenesis: role of stem cell factor/c-kit pathway*. Angiogenesis, 2012. 15(3): p. 457-468.
- 22. Ferrell, R.E., M.A. Kimak, E.C. Lawrence, and D.N. Finegold, *Candidate gene analysis in primary lymphedema*. Lymphat Res Biol, 2008. **6**(2): p. 69-76.
- 23. Cui, Y., M. Song, and S.Y. Kim, *Prognostic significance of fatty acid binding protein-4 in the invasive ductal carcinoma of the breast.* Pathol Int, 2019. **69**(2): p. 68-75.
- 24. Ying, L., F. Zhang, X. Pan, K. Chen, N. Zhang, J. Jin, J. Wu, J. Feng, H. Yu, H. Jin, and D. Su, *Complement component 7 (C7), a potential tumor suppressor, is correlated with tumor progression and prognosis.* Oncotarget, 2016. **7**(52): p. 86536-86546.
- Zhu, M., W. Xu, C. Wei, J. Huang, J. Xu, Y. Zhang, Y. Zhao, J. Chen, S. Dong, B. Liu, and C. Liang, *CCL14 serves as a novel prognostic factor and tumor suppressor of HCC by modulating cell cycle and promoting apoptosis*. Cell Death & Disease, 2019. 10(11): p. 796.
- 26. Gu, Y., X. Li, Y. Bi, Y. Zheng, J. Wang, X. Li, Z. Huang, L. Chen, Y. Huang, and Y. Huang, *CCL14 is a prognostic biomarker and correlates with immune infiltrates in hepatocellular carcinoma*. Aging (Albany NY), 2020. **12**(1): p. 784-807.
- 27. Wang, W., T. Shen, B. Dong, C.J. Creighton, Y. Meng, W. Zhou, Q. Shi, H. Zhou, Y. Zhang, D.D. Moore, and F. Yang, *MAPK4 overexpression promotes tumor progression via noncanonical activation of AKT/mTOR signaling*. J Clin Invest, 2019. **129**(3): p. 1015-1029.
- 28. Al-Khadairi, G., A. Naik, R. Thomas, B. Al-Sulaiti, S. Rizly, and J. Decock, *PRAME* promotes epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in triple negative breast cancer. J Transl Med, 2019. **17**(1): p. 9.
- 29. Jin, L., J. Chun, C. Pan, D. Li, R. Lin, G.N. Alesi, X. Wang, H.B. Kang, L. Song, D. Wang, G. Zhang, J. Fan, T.J. Boggon, L. Zhou, J. Kowalski, C.K. Qu, C.E. Steuer, G.Z. Chen, N.F. Saba, L.H. Boise, T.K. Owonikoko, F.R. Khuri, K.R. Magliocca, D.M. Shin, S. Lonial, and S. Kang, *MAST1 Drives Cisplatin Resistance in Human Cancers by Rewiring cRaf-Independent MEK Activation*. Cancer Cell, 2018. **34**(2): p. 315-330.e7.
- 30. Wu, Z.S., V. Pandey, W.Y. Wu, S. Ye, T. Zhu, and P.E. Lobie, *Prognostic significance* of the expression of GFRa1, GFRa3 and syndecan-3, proteins binding ARTEMIN, in mammary carcinoma. BMC Cancer, 2013. **13**: p. 34.
- 31. Lund, A.W., M. Wagner, M. Fankhauser, E.S. Steinskog, M.A. Broggi, S. Spranger, T.F. Gajewski, K. Alitalo, H.P. Eikesdal, and H. Wiig, *Lymphatic vessels regulate immune*

microenvironments in human and murine melanoma. The Journal of clinical investigation, 2016. **126**(9): p. 3389-3402.

- 32. Fehrenbacher, L., A. Spira, M. Ballinger, M. Kowanetz, J. Vansteenkiste, J. Mazieres, K. Park, D. Smith, A. Artal-Cortes, and C. Lewanski, *Atezolizumab versus docetaxel for patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (POPLAR): a multicentre, open-label, phase 2 randomised controlled trial.* The Lancet, 2016. **387**(10030): p. 1837-1846.
- 33. Charoentong, P., F. Finotello, M. Angelova, C. Mayer, M. Efremova, D. Rieder, H. Hackl, and Z. Trajanoski, *Pan-cancer immunogenomic analyses reveal genotype-immunophenotype relationships and predictors of response to checkpoint blockade*. Cell reports, 2017. **18**(1): p. 248-262.
- 34. Shah, S.P., A. Roth, R. Goya, A. Oloumi, G. Ha, Y. Zhao, G. Turashvili, J. Ding, K. Tse, and G. Haffari, *The clonal and mutational evolution spectrum of primary triple-negative breast cancers*. Nature, 2012. **486**(7403): p. 395-399.
- 35. Le, D.T., J.N. Durham, K.N. Smith, H. Wang, B.R. Bartlett, L.K. Aulakh, S. Lu, H. Kemberling, C. Wilt, and B.S. Luber, *Mismatch repair deficiency predicts response of solid tumors to PD-1 blockade*. Science, 2017. **357**(6349): p. 409-413.
- 36. Rosenberg, J.E., J. Hoffman-Censits, T. Powles, M.S. Van Der Heijden, A.V. Balar, A. Necchi, N. Dawson, P.H. O'Donnell, A. Balmanoukian, and Y. Loriot, *Atezolizumab in patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma who have progressed following treatment with platinum-based chemotherapy: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial.* The Lancet, 2016. **387**(10031): p. 1909-1920.
- 37. Adams, S., M.E. Gatti-Mays, K. Kalinsky, L.A. Korde, E. Sharon, L. Amiri-Kordestani, H. Bear, H.L. McArthur, E. Frank, J. Perlmutter, D.B. Page, B. Vincent, J.F. Hayes, J.L. Gulley, J.K. Litton, G.N. Hortobagyi, S. Chia, I. Krop, J. White, J. Sparano, M.L. Disis, and E.A. Mittendorf, *Current Landscape of Immunotherapy in Breast Cancer: A Review*. JAMA Oncol, 2019.
- 38. Wen, W.X. and C.O. Leong, *Association of BRCA1- and BRCA2-deficiency with mutation burden, expression of PD-L1/PD-1, immune infiltrates, and T cell-inflamed signature in breast cancer.* PLoS One, 2019. **14**(4): p. e0215381.
- 39. Siravegna, G., S. Marsoni, S. Siena, and A. Bardelli, *Integrating liquid biopsies into the management of cancer*. Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 2017. **14**(9): p. 531-548.
- 40. Bocanegra, A., G. Fernandez-Hinojal, M. Zuazo-Ibarra, H. Arasanz, M.J. Garcia-Granda, C. Hernandez, M. Ibañez, B. Hernandez-Marin, M. Martinez-Aguillo, M.J. Lecumberri, A. Fernandez de Lascoiti, L. Teijeira, I. Morilla, R. Vera, D. Escors, and G. Kochan, *PD-L1 Expression in Systemic Immune Cell Populations as a Potential Predictive Biomarker of Responses to PD-L1/PD-1 Blockade Therapy in Lung Cancer*. Int J Mol Sci, 2019. 20(7).

- Aceto, N., A. Bardia, D.T. Miyamoto, M.C. Donaldson, B.S. Wittner, J.A. Spencer, M. Yu, A. Pely, A. Engstrom, H. Zhu, B.W. Brannigan, R. Kapur, S.L. Stott, T. Shioda, S. Ramaswamy, D.T. Ting, C.P. Lin, M. Toner, D.A. Haber, and S. Maheswaran, *Circulating tumor cell clusters are oligoclonal precursors of breast cancer metastasis*. Cell, 2014. **158**(5): p. 1110-1122.
- 42. Mazel, M., W. Jacot, K. Pantel, K. Bartkowiak, D. Topart, L. Cayrefourcq, D. Rossille, T. Maudelonde, T. Fest, and C. Alix-Panabières, *Frequent expression of PD-L1 on circulating breast cancer cells*. Molecular oncology, 2015. **9**(9): p. 1773-1782.
- 43. Schott, D.S., M. Pizon, U. Pachmann, and K. Pachmann, *Sensitive detection of PD-L1* expression on circulating epithelial tumor cells (CETCs) could be a potential biomarker to select patients for treatment with PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors in early and metastatic solid tumors. Oncotarget, 2017. **8**(42): p. 72755-72772.
- 44. Bratman, S.V., S.Y.C. Yang, M.A.J. Iafolla, Z. Liu, A.R. Hansen, P.L. Bedard, S. Lheureux, A. Spreafico, A.A. Razak, S. Shchegrova, M. Louie, P. Billings, B. Zimmermann, H. Sethi, A. Aleshin, D. Torti, K. Marsh, J. Eagles, I. Cirlan, Y. Hanna, D.L. Clouthier, S.C. Lien, P.S. Ohashi, W. Xu, L.L. Siu, and T.J. Pugh, *Personalized circulating tumor DNA analysis as a predictive biomarker in solid tumor patients treated with pembrolizumab*. Nature Cancer, 2020. 1(9): p. 873-881.
- 45. Chen, G., A.C. Huang, W. Zhang, G. Zhang, M. Wu, W. Xu, Z. Yu, J. Yang, B. Wang, H. Sun, H. Xia, Q. Man, W. Zhong, L.F. Antelo, B. Wu, X. Xiong, X. Liu, L. Guan, T. Li, S. Liu, R. Yang, Y. Lu, L. Dong, S. McGettigan, R. Somasundaram, R. Radhakrishnan, G. Mills, Y. Lu, J. Kim, Y.H. Chen, et al., *Exosomal PD-L1 contributes* to immunosuppression and is associated with anti-PD-1 response. Nature, 2018. 560(7718): p. 382-386.
- 46. Fan, J., Z. Yin, J. Xu, F. Wu, Q. Huang, L. Yang, Y. Jin, and G. Yang, *Circulating microRNAs predict the response to anti-PD-1 therapy in non-small cell lung cancer*. Genomics, 2020. **112**(2): p. 2063-2071.
- 47. Meng, Y., J. Sun, X. Wang, T. Hu, Y. Ma, C. Kong, H. Piao, T. Yu, and G. Zhang, *Exosomes: A Promising Avenue for the Diagnosis of Breast Cancer*. Technol Cancer Res Treat, 2019. **18**: p. 1533033818821421.
- Nygren, M.K., C. Tekle, V.A. Ingebrigtsen, R. Mäkelä, M. Krohn, M.R. Aure, C.E. Nunes-Xavier, M. Perälä, T. Tramm, J. Alsner, J. Overgaard, J.M. Nesland, E. Borgen, A.L. Børresen-Dale, Ø. Fodstad, K.K. Sahlberg, and S.K. Leivonen, *Identifying microRNAs regulating B7-H3 in breast cancer: the clinical impact of microRNA-29c.* Br J Cancer, 2014. 110(8): p. 2072-80.
- 49. Tammela, T. and K. Alitalo, *Lymphangiogenesis: Molecular mechanisms and future promise*. Cell, 2010. **140**(4): p. 460-76.
- 50. Schmid, P., J. Cortes, L. Pusztai, H. McArthur, S. Kummel, J. Bergh, C. Denkert, Y.H. Park, R. Hui, N. Harbeck, M. Takahashi, T. Foukakis, P.A. Fasching, F. Cardoso, M.

Untch, L. Jia, V. Karantza, J. Zhao, G. Aktan, R. Dent, and J. O'Shaughnessy, *Pembrolizumab for Early Triple-Negative Breast Cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2020. **382**(9): p. 810-821.

51. Nakamura, Y., H. Yasuoka, M. Tsujimoto, Q. Yang, S. Imabun, M. Nakahara, K. Nakao, M. Nakamura, I. Mori, and K. Kakudo, *Flt-4-positive vessel density correlates with vascular endothelial growth factor-d expression, nodal status, and prognosis in breast cancer.* Clin Cancer Res, 2003. **9**(14): p. 5313-7.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

4.1 Summary and impact

The role of tumor-associated lymphatics in promoting metastasis and immune-suppression in various cancer types has been known for a long time [1-3]. However, how tumor lymphangiogenesis affects anti-tumor immunity in the context of cancer immunotherapies was not studied until recently. It was demonstrated by our group and others that through promoting recruitment of T cells into the TME, tumor lymphangiogenesis increases responsiveness to immunotherapies, both in melanoma and glioblastoma [4, 5]. How tumor lymphangiogenesis modulates the response to cancer immunotherapies in breast cancer patients though, remained unexplored.

In chapter 2, I showed that induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis in triple-negative mammary tumors leads to increased numbers of immune-suppressive macrophages, together with higher levels of conv CD4⁺ T cells and T_{reg} cells in the TME. However, I demonstrated that upon treatment with different immunotherapies, this immunosuppressive TME is transformed into a more immunogenic state, compared to non-lymphangiogenic tumors, and leads to improved responsiveness to the treatment. This is the first study showing that tumor lymphangiogenesis can be beneficial in promoting the responsiveness of murine TNBC tumors to cancer immunotherapies.

I also unraveled a new mechanism of how increased levels of tumor-associated lymphatics can affect anti-tumor immunity by showing the dependence of lymphangiogenic potentiation in TNBC tumors on CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages. Previous studies had shown the importance of CD8⁺ T cells in mediating lymphangiogenic potentiation [4, 6], but the role of CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages and the underlying cytokine milieu in the TME affecting the M1/M2 and $T_{\rm H}1/T_{\rm H}2$ differentiation was underappreciated. This new mechanism further deepens our understanding of how tumor lymphangiogenesis, depending on the TME and cancer type, alters the immune infiltrates together with the cytokine/chemokine profile and promotes responsiveness to immunotherapies.

Furthermore, I discovered that when lymphangiogenic tumor-bearing mice are treated with a potent immunotherapy, the induced systemic anti-tumor immunity overcomes distant organ metastasis. This finding can have implications in translational application of this study, as tumor lymphangiogenesis has been associated with increased metastasis [7, 8]. Even though lymphangiogenic tumors are more prone to metastasis, my findings suggest that the benefit of lymphangiogenic potentiation and the increased systemic immune response could outweigh increased trafficking of tumor cells to distant organs (**Fig. 4.1**).

The analysis in the third chapter of this thesis demonstrates that in human TNBC tumors expression of VEGF-C and lymphatic-associated genes positively correlate with CD4⁺ T cell and macrophage-associated gene expression. These findings are consistent with my results in murine triple-negative mammary tumors, suggesting that human lymphangiogenic tumors might be more responsive to immunotherapies due to increased intratumoral immune infiltrates.

Despite the recent success of immunotherapies across many cancers, they have had limited efficacy in less immunogenic malignancies, such as breast cancer [9, 10]. Moreover, the majority of these patients do not respond to treatment [11], thus emphasizing the critical need to identify predictive biomarkers to select breast cancer patients mostly likely to benefit from cancer immunotherapies [12]. This study proposes that tumor lymphangiogenesis could be explored as a putative predictive biomarker for responsiveness to immunotherapies in TNBC patients.



Figure 4.1. The effects of lymphangiogenesis on the immune infiltration in the tumor microenvironment and reduction of distant organ metastasis upon immunotherapy treatment. Tumor lymphangiogenesis leads to infiltration of immune-suppressive cells into the TME and increased metastasis. However, upon treatment with immunotherapies, the systemic anti-tumor immunity reduces both the primary tumor growth and the metastatic burden. Created with BioRender.com

4.2 Future directions

Most of the *in vivo* data in this dissertation was generated using the spontaneous metastatic triple-negative 4T1 mammary tumors in an orthotopic setting. Despite the relevance and widespread use of this model for studying TNBC in immuno-competent mice, our results need to be replicated in other murine tumor models. I showed that in other murine TNBC models, depending on the immunogenic state of the TME, the role of tumor lymphangiogenesis could be different than what we observed in our 4T1 studies. Moreover, our mechanistic studies showing the dependence of lymphangiogenic potentiation on CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages can go a step further by investigating the functional roles of these cells using *ex vivo* activation assays with CD8⁺ T cells. Also, future studies can delineate the changes in CD4⁺ T cell differentiation in the TME by characterizing transcription factors in these cells. It should be noted that these mechanistic data are also limited in their scope, as the 4T1 tumors contain a relatively high CD4⁺ T cell to CD8⁺ T cell ratio, potentially skewing the relative importance of the conv CD4⁺ T cell compartment.

It must be noted that our human TNBC analysis was limited to publicly available data from TCGA, which is obtained from samples of patients with various treatment schedules (chemotherapy or radiotherapy) prior to their biopsy. Moreover, our analysis only demonstrated correlations between higher VEGFC expression or lymphatic score and immune gene signature, not a causal relationship. More importantly, we do not know if the patients with higher lymphatic score would have been more responsive to cancer immunotherapies. Despite this, we speculate that the higher immune infiltration in these tumors could render them more responsive to immunotherapies than non-lymphangiogenic tumors; this needs to be verified in future clinical studies.

Liquid biopsies are convenient and efficient alternatives to traditional tumor biopsies and thus hold great promise as future predictive biomarkers in cancer immunotherapy [13]. Serum VEGF-C levels were previously shown to positively correlate with responsiveness to checkpoint inhibition in melanoma patients [4]. We speculate that serum VEGF-C levels in TNBC patients, by itself or used in combination with other markers as a predictive score, could be used as a biomarker for selection of patients for cancer immunotherapies. Future studies are required though to assess if serum VEGF-C levels correlate with tumor lymphangiogenesis and clinical response to immunotherapies in TNBC.

Overall, this study builds upon the current knowledge of how tumor microenvironment affects anti-tumor immunity in the context of cancer immunotherapies. We show that a proper characterization of the tumor microenvironment, including the status of tumor lymphatics [14], is critical prior to making clinical decisions for triple-negative breast cancer patients. In other words, the scientific community needs to take into account the tumor-associated lymphatics as an important component of the cancer-immunity cycle. Our data suggest that patients with more tumor lymphatics/lymphangiogenesis are more likely to benefit from immunotherapies in a neoadjuvant setting, i.e. before undergoing tumor/lymph node resection surgeries. Clinical studies, however, are required to delineate this further by investigating if tumor lymphatics in human primary tumors correlate with objective response to neoadjuvant cancer immunotherapies.

4.3 References

- Nakamura, Y., H. Yasuoka, M. Tsujimoto, S. Imabun, M. Nakahara, K. Nakao, M. Nakamura, I. Mori, and K. Kakudo, *Lymph vessel density correlates with nodal status, VEGF-C expression, and prognosis in breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2005. 91(2): p. 125-32.
- Lund, A.W., F.V. Duraes, S. Hirosue, V.R. Raghavan, C. Nembrini, S.N. Thomas, A. Issa, S. Hugues, and M.A. Swartz, *VEGF-C promotes immune tolerance in B16 melanomas and cross-presentation of tumor antigen by lymph node lymphatics*. Cell Rep, 2012. 1(3): p. 191-9.
- 3. Card, C.M., S.S. Yu, and M.A. Swartz, *Emerging roles of lymphatic endothelium in regulating adaptive immunity*. J Clin Invest, 2014. **124**(3): p. 943-52.
- 4. Fankhauser, M., M.A.S. Broggi, L. Potin, N. Bordry, L. Jeanbart, A.W. Lund, E. Da Costa, S. Hauert, M. Rincon-Restrepo, C. Tremblay, E. Cabello, K. Homicsko, O. Michielin, D. Hanahan, D.E. Speiser, and M.A. Swartz, *Tumor lymphangiogenesis promotes T cell infiltration and potentiates immunotherapy in melanoma*. Sci Transl Med, 2017. 9(407).
- 5. Song, E., T. Mao, H. Dong, L.S.B. Boisserand, S. Antila, M. Bosenberg, K. Alitalo, J.L. Thomas, and A. Iwasaki, *VEGF-C-driven lymphatic drainage enables immunosurveillance of brain tumours*. Nature, 2020. **577**(7792): p. 689-694.
- 6. Sasso, M.S., N. Mitrousis, Y. Wang, P.S. Briquez, S. Hauert, J. Ishihara, J.A. Hubbell, and M.A. Swartz, *Lymphangiogenesis-inducing vaccines elicit potent and long-lasting T cell immunity against melanomas*. Science Advances, 2021. **7**(13): p. eabe4362.
- Stacker, S.A., S.P. Williams, T. Karnezis, R. Shayan, S.B. Fox, and M.G. Achen, Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic vessel remodelling in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer, 2014. 14(3): p. 159-72.
- 8. Skobe, M., T. Hawighorst, D.G. Jackson, R. Prevo, L. Janes, P. Velasco, L. Riccardi, K. Alitalo, K. Claffey, and M. Detmar, *Induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis by VEGF-C promotes breast cancer metastasis*. Nat Med, 2001. **7**(2): p. 192-8.
- 9. Nam, J., S. Son, K.S. Park, W. Zou, L.D. Shea, and J.J. Moon, *Cancer nanomedicine for combination cancer immunotherapy*. Nature Reviews Materials, 2019. **4**(6): p. 398-414.
- Adams, S., M.E. Gatti-Mays, K. Kalinsky, L.A. Korde, E. Sharon, L. Amiri-Kordestani, H. Bear, H.L. McArthur, E. Frank, J. Perlmutter, D.B. Page, B. Vincent, J.F. Hayes, J.L. Gulley, J.K. Litton, G.N. Hortobagyi, S. Chia, I. Krop, J. White, J. Sparano, M.L. Disis, and E.A. Mittendorf, *Current Landscape of Immunotherapy in Breast Cancer: A Review*. JAMA Oncol, 2019.
- 11. Topalian, S.L., C.G. Drake, and D.M. Pardoll, *Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy*. Cancer Cell, 2015. **27**(4): p. 450-61.
- 12. Vafaizadeh, V. and Z. Barekati, *Immuno-Oncology Biomarkers for Personalized Immunotherapy in Breast Cancer*. Front Cell Dev Biol, 2020. **8**: p. 162.
- 13. Siravegna, G., S. Marsoni, S. Siena, and A. Bardelli, *Integrating liquid biopsies into the management of cancer*. Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 2017. **14**(9): p. 531-548.
- Broggi, M.A.S., L. Maillat, C.C. Clement, N. Bordry, P. Corthesy, A. Auger, M. Matter, R. Hamelin, L. Potin, D. Demurtas, E. Romano, A. Harari, D.E. Speiser, L. Santambrogio, and M.A. Swartz, *Tumor-associated factors are enriched in lymphatic exudate compared to plasma in metastatic melanoma patients*. J Exp Med, 2019. 216(5): p. 1091-1107.